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Corporate Information
NAREH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping

Mr. Lam Ka Po

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho

Ms. Chan Sau Chi

Mr. Liu Min

Mr. Zhou Pei Feng

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Lo Ka Leong

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Mr. Leung Tai Chiu

Mr. Mok Yiu Keung, Peter

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (appointed on 4 May 2011)
Mr. Chan Charnwut Bernard (retired on 3 May 2011)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Tsoi Kin Lung

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of America, N.A.

Bank of Communications Co. Ltd.

China Construction Bank Corporation

Citibank, N.A.

DBS Bank Ltd., Hong Kong Branch

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
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Corporate Information A & & %t

LEGAL ADVISORS
Ashurst Hong Kong
King & Wood Mallesons

REGISTERED OFFICE
P.O. Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman

KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE
OF BUSINESS

2nd Floor, Harbour View 1
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Phase 2 Hong Kong Science Park

Shatin

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
Butterfield Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House
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George Town

Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR IN HONG KONG

Tricor Investor Services Limited
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Wanchai, Hong Kong
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Financial Highlights

B EE

Year ended

31 December 2011
BE-—ZT——fF
+-—A=+—HLFE
HKS$ MillionB && T

Year ended

31 December 2010
BE—T-TF
+ZA=+—HIFE
HK$ Million & &7 7T

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

*Excluding:
2011: share-based payments of HK$69.1 million
2010: gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments of HK$156.4

million

B
-

2009: the discount on acquisition of HK$11.2 million and impairment -z
loss on available-for-sale investments of HK$156.4 million
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Revenue =E 13,205.0 13,055.2
EBITDA* KIOBRFE ~ BB ~ 47
ERBHNBR 2,486.2 3,304.5
Profit before tax* R Al LA 1,603.5 2,480.1
Net profit attributable to RAREFE AEGFR
owners of the Company
— Underlying net profit* o 7l 1,394.0 2,124.0
— Reported net profit —BRE AL 1,325.0 2,280.4
Basic earnings per share BREXREF
— Based on underlying net profit*  — AR AR 4B FIEE* HK46.5 centsi{|l HK70.8 centsi&1ll
- Based on reported net profit — ABRE 4T FFT & HK44.2 centsiAl HK76.0 centsi& 1l
Full-year dividend per share BREERE HK15.0 cents7&l HK34.0 cents/&{ll
— Interim dividend per share — GREF AR B HK10.0 centsi& 1l HK16.0 centsi&1ll
— Proposed final dividend per share  — 2% G AR R BIAR & HKS5.0 centsiE 1l HK18.0 centsi 1l
Dividend payout ratio TIREHE=R 34% 45%
Net asset value per share BREEFE HK$3.585& 7T HK$3.29/5 7T
Net gearing FEELE 13% 14%
Revenue Net profit attributable to owners of the
= ] Company
RARFEABEHR
HK$ Million HK$ Million
k= S %
BEEL BEET o
13,500 18,055 13,205 2,400 7@/555’% _
2,124
12,000 2,100
1,813 1,793*
10,500 1,800 -
9,000
1,500 1,394*
7,500 1,177
1,200 ,
6,000 1,037 1,078
900
4,500
3,000 8001 e
1,500 300
0 0

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

BUSINESS REVIEW

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am delighted to report to
our shareholders that Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (“the
Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) delivered resilient
results for the financial year ended 31 December 2011. Revenue
of the Group grew marginally by 1% to HK$13,205.0 million. The
Group faced an extremely tough operating environment during
the year. Impacted by the Japanese earthquake as well as the
severe flooding in Thailand during the year against a backdrop of
the European sovereign debt crisis, global economy was clouded
over with uncertainty. The only bright spot of growth was in the
domestic China market. During the year, the Group enjoyed
remarkable market share gain in China’s domestic market with
sales denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) increasing by around
13% against last year to account for 47% of total revenue.

Turnover Breakdown by Product & %582

ES 0]

RABRRESE  MARSARRDMG - BF
BERERARAA(AT]) RAMBAT (T
EDRBZE-FT——Ft-A=+—BLHE

FENEFBROES  SEEEERA1%E
—HCTBTRAEEL - —T——FEENK
BIRIBIMNE - REZHBAMERFBEAKKL
TR - UAKBERHTE - 2B T AR
% - AMFERPETISRITGHE - SERIEE NP
Bmi5HheE  ARBEEELEF FFH3%hEE
M FERRATY

7%

20%

59% 22%

5%

57%

FY2011 FY2010
—E——FHHFE —E-FTFHRFE
B Glass Epoxy Laminates IREF A ETEREIR
Paper Laminates HRTE R E IR
Upstream Materials* ke
7] Otherst Hhe
* Upstream Materials including copper foil, epoxy resin, glass fabric and YRR ERE - IREENE - BIBEEN REAAREK
bleached kraft paper
# Others comprises drilling services and PVB # HAh B IR LIRS R B LGB T B
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Chairman’s Statement EEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Raw material input costs and other operating expenses
continued to rise during 2011. Furthermore, the Thailand flooding
in the last quarter of 2011 caused serious component shortages
in the electronic supply chain. Hence, both shipment volume
and capacity utilization of our laminate production facilities were
seriously affected in FY11 Q4 as our customers adjusted their
inventory. This translated into weaker margins for the Group
in the second half of 2011. Despite this downturn in market
demand, the Group continued to maintain a robust balance sheet
and delivered profitable results with net profit (excluding non-
recurring item) decreasing 34% to HK$1,394.0 million.

The Board proposes a final dividend of HK5 cents per share
subject to shareholders’ approval. Together with the interim
dividend of HK10 cents per share paid in September 2011, this
will constitute a total dividend of HK15 cents per share for the full
year, representing a payout ratio of 34%.
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Chairman’s Statement EEHRE

PERFORMANCE

Laminates shipment volume in the third quarter of 2011 (“FY11
Q3”) improved against that of the previous quarter as the
impact of the Japanese earthquake began to subside at the
start of FY11 Q8. However, the European sovereign debt crisis
showed signs of deterioration towards the end of September.
Commodity prices fell sharply as global markets anticipated a
dampening effect on global economic growth. In addition, the
severe flooding in Thailand in FY11 Q4 also caused significant
disruption of component supply along the electronic supply
chain which resulted in aggressive inventory adjustment by
electronic products producers. This in turn translated into weaker
demand for laminate products in the last quarter of 2011. Hence,
shipment volume, capacity utilization and average selling prices
of laminates fell in FY11 Q4 and resulted in weaker margins for
the Group. Consolidated revenue of the Group was HK$13,205.0
million. Volume sales decreased by around 9% against the
previous year with average monthly shipment of 7.88 million
square meters. Despite a net increase in the average selling
price of laminates against the previous year, continuous raw
material and operating costs increase in 2011 as well as lower
capacity utilization in FY11 Q4 impacted our margin, gross profit
declined to 17% from 24% in 2011. Earnings before interest,
tax, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) (excluding non-
recurring item) decreased by 25% to HK$2,486.2 million.

Although shipment volume decreased, distribution costs
increased marginally by 1% against last year owing to increases
in fuel costs and other operating expenses. Administrative costs
were HK$414.1 million, down 7% against previous year as a
result of operational efficiency improvement as well as strict cost
control. Finance costs increased by 44% as a result of higher
outstanding bank borrowings during the year. Effective tax rate
increased to 11.5% from 10.2% last year as PRC tax holiday for
certain subsidiaries of the Group expired in the current year.

EBRE
EW\_%——E%:?S © AU B B 52 BE R
FERHEERE_FERMLI - AN
)EJTﬁ Fﬁuﬂ Tﬂlﬁﬂiﬁﬁ%ﬁft&fiﬂiﬂﬁ%@m
EMESE - A1 BRI S| BEF TSR -
HEBOMRE - BEET  BEERERFRT
- SEEMTEE  REERXLFHEERSE
MG EM T - HERNBEXES - fREZ&
EREEERA-T_ETLBEBET - HEE
REFTR% §AFHEEERLtAENTN\E
FHAK —E-——FERFARTFHEEREF L
Tt BERRMEREERAFRFE LR - MLESE
FEFERREERETERE  EEEEIZE
REEHE R ARIEI - KEEFN KA EFN24%
THRERFNI7% - RORHAE - BE - HER
BiEmM 2 BN (TEEFEEEERRE) THK25%E
ZHHENTFREZTEET

BEREBEARFNHEEREFAMTH®  FARK
HERSEREERA LT - S #ERADEM L
1% - TBRRARAE-TOE—+&8ET &
EETRT% » RS ERRA PToE MBS
FRAEIKR - BEKA E7H44% - EE2HNIRTT
BE LT - SREANBOHALFRBARBEENRF
Mk AEBRREAEFMN102% T EAFR
11.5% °

Annual Report 2011 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited 07

T——FFR BERERERERDA



(\«

Chairman’s Statement EEHRE

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Our consolidated financial and liquidity position remained robust
with strong operating cash inflow. As at 31 December 2011, net

current assets and current ratio of the Group were approximately
HK$7,280.4 million (31 December 2010 — HK$5,243.4 million)
and 3.61 (31 December 2010 — 2.24) respectively.

The net working capital cycle shortened to 100 days as at 31
December 2011 from 140 days as at 31 December 2010 on the
following key metrics:

08

Inventories, in terms of stock turnover days, decreased
to 46 days. Total inventory amount decreased by 39%
against last year as the Group tightened control over
inventory and reclassified HK$712.7 million of copper
foil inventory to other non-current assets in line with
the licensing arrangement with an independent third
party as announced in the announcement released by
our subsidiary Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited
(“KBCF”) on 3 August 2011 (31 December 2010 — 84
days).

Trade receivables including amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries, in terms of debtors turnover days, increased
marginally to 94 days (31 December 2010 — 93 days).

Trade and bills payables including amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries, in terms of creditors turnover days, increased
to 40 days (31 December 2010 — 37 days).
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Chairman’s Statement EEHRE

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (continued)
The Group’s net gearing ratio (ratio of interest bearing borrowings
net of cash and cash equivalents to total equity) decreased to
13% (81 December 2010 — 14%). In 2011, the Group invested
HK$435.2 million in new production capacities. The ratio of
bank borrowings between short term and long term stood at
16%:84% (31 December 2010: 61%:39%). About 10% of the
bank borrowings was denominated in RMB and the rest in Hong
Kong or US dollars.

The Group continued to adopt a prudent financial management
policy including the use of interest rate swap contracts to
minimise its exposure to fluctuation in interest rates. All
outstanding contracts were closed during the year. Other than
derivative financial instruments in connection with our daily
operations as mentioned above, the Group had not entered into
any other type of derivative financial instruments throughout the
year of 2011. There was no material foreign exchange exposure
for the Group during the year under review. The Group’s revenue,
mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, RMB and US dollars,
was fairly matched with the currency requirement of operating
expenses.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had a workforce of
approximately 8,700 (31 December 2010: 8,800). In addition
to offering competitive salary packages, the Group grants
share options and discretionary bonuses to eligible employees
based on its overall financial achievement and their individual
performance.
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Chairman’s Statement EEHRE

PROSPECTS

Customer orders showed signs of improvement after the
Chinese Lunar New Year holidays in 2012. Laminates prices
also showed an uptrend as commodity prices recovered against
the end of last year. Hence, shipment volume and laminates
production utilization improved in February 2012. Export demand
for electronic products is expected to be soft for the short term
against a back drop of sluggish global economic recovery.
Management is confident of the future growth prospects of the
China domestic market. With the gradual loosening of the tight
monetary policies in China, we expect to see improvement in the
operating environment as we progress further into 2012. On the
back of China’s policy push to encourage domestic consumption
and continuous improvement of living standards for Chinese
citizens, demand for electronic products, especially smart phones
and computer related products, are expected to maintain robust
growth as disposable income for Chinese consumers continues
to increase. This would definitely be a positive driver for laminate
demand. The Group will allocate more resources into product
mix enhancement and business development in the domestic
China market in order to further advance our market share.

The Group continues to invest and expand our production
capacities and has successfully penetrated the thin laminates
market in eastern China. Monthly production capacity at our
Jiangyin laminates plant, Jiangsu province is currently about
1.68 million square meters per month. Construction work for the
new Jiangmen laminate plant, Guangdong province is almost
complete. The Group plans to expand the high-performance
laminates production capacity of both the Jiangyin and Jiangmen
laminates plants further within the current year in order to capture
business opportunities for thin and high-performance laminates.
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Chairman’s Statement EEHRE

PROSPECTS (continued)

The plan to build a new glass fabric plant and a glass yarn plant
in Changzhou, Jiangsu province has been postponed due to
softer than expected laminate demand last year. Management
will monitor the market situation closely before rescheduling the
project time-table. Against the headwinds of a volatile market,
management is considering certain acquisition opportunities in
the industry. We are confident that leveraging on our successful
vertically integrated business model, the Group will be able
to achieve further market share gain through these potential
expansion opportunities.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers,
banks, the management and employees for their unreserved
support to the Group in the past financial year.

Cheung Kwok Wa
Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 March 2012
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

EENEREBAEZERF

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Wa, aged 48, is an executive Director and
the Chairman of the Company. He is a brother of Mr. Cheung
Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, both being executive
Directors and an uncle of Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, an executive
Director. Mr. Cheung joined Kingboard Chemical Holdings
Limited (“KCHL”) in 1988 and has over 23 years’ experience
in the marketing of a wide range of industrial products. He is
responsible for the overall strategic planning of the Group and
sets the general direction and goals for the Group. Mr. Cheung
was appointed as an executive Director in July 2006.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Keung, aged 59, is an executive Director
and the Managing Director of the Company. He is a brother
of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, both
being executive Directors, and an uncle of Mr. Cheung Ka Ho,
an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KCHL in 1991 and
has over 20 years’ experience in the laminate industry. He is
responsible for the overall implementation of the strategic plans
and goals of the Group. Mr. Cheung was appointed as an
executive Director in July 2006.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ping, aged 51, is an executive Director. He is
a brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa and Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung,
both being executive Directors, and an uncle of Mr. Cheung Ka
Ho, an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KCHL in 1988
and has over 23 years’ experience in marketing. He is mainly
responsible for the Group’s marketing operations and is also the
general manager of the paper laminate factories in Fogang and
Shaoguan, the PRC. Mr. Cheung is also an executive director
of KBCF, a 64.57%-owned subsidiary of the Company as at
the end of reporting period and whose shares are listed on the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX”). Mr
Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in May 2006.

Mr. LAM Ka Po, aged 55, is an executive Director. Mr. Lam is a
co-founder of KCHL and has over 23 years’ experience in the
sales and distribution of laminates. Mr. Lam is also an executive
director of KBCF. He was appointed as an executive Director in
November 2006.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies EE N SR EEAE 2 EF

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Ho, aged 28, is an executive Director. Mr.
Cheung is the nephew of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung
Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, all being executive
Directors. Mr. Cheung joined KCHL in 2004 and is involved in the
laminate marketing operations for the southern region of China.
He was appointed as an executive Director in July 2006.

Ms. CHAN Sau Chi, aged 37, is an executive Director. Ms. Chan
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Statistics from Carleton University,
Canada. Prior to joining KCHL in 1999, she was an executive in a
financial public relations firm. She was appointed as an executive
Director in May 20086.

Mr. LIU Min, aged 43, is an executive Director. He joined KCHL in
1998. Mr. Liu graduated from Harbin University with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Chemical Engineering. Prior to joining KCHL, he had
over 7 years’ experience in the copper foil industry. He was
appointed as an executive Director in November 2006.

Mr. ZHOU Pei Feng, aged 43, is an executive Director. He joined
KCHL in 1999 and is the general manager of four glass epoxy
laminate facilities in Shenzhen, Fogang, Jiangmen and Jiangyin,
the PRC. Mr. Zhou holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Mechanical
Engineering from the Chongqging University and a Master’s
Degree in Material Processing Engineering from Jilin Industrial
University (now known as Jilin University). He was appointed as
an executive Director in November 2006.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LO Ka Leong, aged 38, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Lo
is also a member of the audit committee of the Company. He
holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Professional Accountancy from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong and is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lo
joined KCHL in May 1999 and is in charge of KCHL’s company
secretarial work. Prior to joining KCHL, he was an accountant at
an international accounting firm. Mr. Lo was appointed as a non-
executive Director in July 2006.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies EE N SR EEAE 2 EF

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN Yue Kwong, Michael, aged 60, joined as an
independent non-executive Director in November 2006. Mr.
Chan is also the chairman of the nomination committee of
the Company, and a member of the audit committee and
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Chan is the
chairman of Cafe de Coral Holdings Limited, a company listed on
the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). Mr. Chan is a non-executive director of Tao
Heung Holdings Limited since 2007, as well as an independent
non-executive director of Starlite Holdings Limited since 1993,
Pacific Textiles Holdings Limited since 2007, and Tse Sui Luen
Jewellery (International) Limited since 2010, all of which are listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan formerly
was a professional city planner with government bodies in Hong
Kong and Canada. He obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Arts
and a Master’s degree in City Planning from the University of
Manitoba, Canada, an Honorary Doctorate Degree in Business
Administration, a court member of the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology, and is bestowed as Honorary Fellow
from Lingnam University. He is also a member of the Political
Consultative Committee of Nanshan District, Shenzhen in the
People’s Republic of China. Mr. Chan acts as the Honorary
Chairman of the Hong Kong Institute of Marketing and serves on
the executive committee of the Hong Kong Retail Management
Association, the general committee of the Employers’ Federation
of Hong Kong, the Adviser of the Quality Tourism Service
Association, and the Chairman of the Business Enterprise
Management Centre of the Hong Kong Management Association.
Mr. Chan is also a board member of the Hong Kong Tourism
Board and a member of the Business Facilitation Advisory
Committee appointed by the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region.

Mr. LEUNG Tai Chiu, aged 65, joined as an independent non-
executive Director in November 2006. Mr. Leung is also the
chairman of the audit committee of the Company, and a member
of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company. Mr. Leung graduated from the Hong Kong University in
1969. He is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. He has broad experience in accounting
and auditing matters, having worked in the auditing profession
for over 30 years, 20 years of which he served as a partner. Mr.
Leung retired from PricewaterhouseCoopers in 2005. Mr. Leung
was the President of Lions Club of Victoria in 1986 and 1998 and
a director of Yan Oi Tong from 1995 to 1997. He is a member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He is also an independent
non-executive director of the companies listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange, namely Eva Precision Industrial Holdings
Limited and G-Vision International (Holdings) Limited.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. MOK Yiu Keung, Peter, aged 60, joined as an independent
non-executive Director in November 2006. Mr. Mok is also a
member of the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Mok is the chairman
of Biu Chun Watch Hands & Parts Manufacturers Limited and has
over 31 years of experience in the manufacturing industry. Mr.
Mok pursued a Master’s degree at Yanshan University in 2003.
He served as the Vice Chairman of the Watch Parts & Equipment
Exhibition in 1997 and the Chairman in 1998 and 1999. He
was the Vice President and later the Executive Vice President
of the Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries
from 1999 to 2001 and from 2001 to 2003, respectively. Mr.
Mok joined the Hong Kong St. John Ambulance in 1998 as the
Command President of Dental Command. Mr. Mok is currently
the vice chairman of the China Horologe Association, the
Honorary vice President of Shenzhen Watch & Clock Association
and the President of the Hong Kong Rangers Football Club.

Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP, aged 60, joined as an
independent non-executive Director in May 2011. Mr. lp is also
the chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company,
and a member of the audit committee and nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. Ip graduated from the University of Hong
Kong with a degree in Social Sciences. Mr. Ip joined the Hong
Kong Government in November 1973 and was promoted to
the rank of Director of Bureau in April 1997. He worked in the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government (“HKSAR
Government”) as a Principal Official from July 1997 to June 2007.
Senior positions held by Mr. Ip in the past include Commissioner
of Insurance, Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for Economic
Services and Secretary for Financial Services. Mr. Ip took up the
position of Secretary for Economic Development and Labour on
1 July 2002. His portfolio in respect of economic development
covered air and sea transport, logistics development, tourism,
energy, postal services, meteorological services, competition
and consumer protection. He was also responsible for labour
policies including matters relating to employment services, labour
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

relations and employees’ rights. Mr. Ip retired from the HKSAR
Government in July 2007. Mr. Ip received the Gold Bauhinia Star
award from the HKSAR Government in 2001, and is an unofficial
Justice of the Peace. Mr. Ip is an independent non-executive
director of Yangtze China Investment Limited, a company listed
in the United Kingdom. Mr. Ip served as an independent non-
executive director on the board of PICC Property and Casualty
Company Limited, a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, from 17 January 2011 to 1 November 2011.
Mr. Ip also serves as independent non-executive director on the
boards of several companies on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, namely China Resources Cement Holdings Limited,
Synergis Holdings Limited, Lai Sun Development Company
Limited, Viva China Holdings Limited, Goldpoly New Energy
Holdings Limited, Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited and
Milan Station Holdings Limited.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHANG Guo Qiang, age 44, joined KCHL in 2002 and is
the general manager of the glass fabric factories in Shenzhen
and Lianzhou, the PRC. Mr. Chang graduated from Hunan
Chang Sha University with a Bachelor’s Degree in Textiles. Prior
to joining KCHL, he had over 14 years’ experience in the glass
fabric industry.

Mr. HU Guo Liang, age 55, joined KCHL in 2000 and is the
general manager of the glass yarn factory in Panyu Nansha,
the PRC. Mr. Hu graduated from the East China University of
Science and Technology with a Bachelor’s Degree in Material
Science Engineering. Prior to joining KCHL, he had over 19
years’ experience in the glass yarn industry.

Mr. TSOI Kin Lung, aged 36, joined KCHL in November 2003.
Prior to that, he was an accountant at an international accounting
firm. Mr. Tsoi is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. He holds a Bachelor’'s Degree
in Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He is in charge of the company secretarial work and
financial management of the Group.
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Directors’ Report
EEEHRE

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are pleased to present
their report and the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 47 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011
are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 54.

An interim dividend of HK10 cents per share was paid to the
shareholders of the Company during the year. The Directors
now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK5 cents
per share to the shareholders on the register of members of the
Company on 5 June 2012, and the retention of the remaining
profit in the Company.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the year in the issued share
capital of the Company are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year, there was no purchase, sale or redemption by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries of the Company’s listed
securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).
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RESERVES

Details of the movements during the year in the reserves of the
Group are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 58.

In addition to the accumulated profits of the Company, the share
premium and special reserve of the Company are also available
for distribution to shareholders provided that the Company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business immediately following the date on which any such
distribution is proposed to be paid.

At 31 December 2011, the sum of the accumulated profits,
the share premium and the special reserve of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$7,657,189,000.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued as at
31 December 2011, resulting in an increase in fair value of
approximately HK$9,300,000 which has been credited directly to
the consolidated income statement.

PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Expenditure of approximately HK$435,208,000 was incurred
during the year primarily to expand the production capacity of the
Group. Details of all the changes during the year are set out in
note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2011 are set out in note 47 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DONATIONS
During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
totalling approximately HK$2,900,000.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE

CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report

were:

Executive Directors:

Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr

. Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

. Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
. Cheung Kwok Ping

. Lam Ka Po

. Cheung Ka Ho

Ms. Chan Sau Chi

Mr
Mr

. Liu Min
. Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive Director:

Mr

. Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr

. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

. Leung Tai Chiu

. Mok Yiu Keung, Peter

. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (appointed on 4 May 2011)
. Chan Charnwut Bernard (retired on 3 May 2011)
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS (continued)

In accordance with Article 130 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, Ms. Chan Sau Chi, Mr. Liu Min,
Mr, Zhou Pei Feng, being executive Directors, and Mr. Chan
Yue Kwong, being an independent non-executive Director, will
retire from directorship by rotation and will offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen, being an independent
non-executive Director, appointed by the Board, will offer himself
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

Each of the executive Directors had entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from 5 November 2006. Each service contract will
continue thereafter until terminated by not less than one month’s
notice in writing served by either party on the other.

The non-executive Director and each of the independent non-
executive Directors (except Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen, who
was appointed by the Board as an independent non-executive
Director on 4 May 2011) had been appointed for an initial term
of two years commencing in November 2006. In addition, the
appointment of Mr. Lo Ka Leong as a non-executive Director
will continue after the initial term unless terminated by three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other. The
appointment of the independent non-executive Directors will
continue after the initial term unless otherwise agreed between
the parties. All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association and the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”).

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in
the section headed “Directors’ and Senior Management’s
Biographies” on pages 12 to 16.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company has a service contract which is
not terminable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2011, the interests of the Directors (including
the Managing Director of the Company) and their associates in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”)), as recorded
in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

EEzROER
RIZB——F+-A=+—8 EFH(BELLQA
ME QKR RIS 2B AR R R R E AR
EE(EERBF B GRD([E5RRAEE )
EXVER) 2Bty - HEARMHESFF - HEARF
RIRFE 7 R A E G PIE35216F B v & s M Prac ik
ZHEs - FRE EMBITAESETESFRSNE
BTG ARRR R PT 2 EmmT

Long position EE
(@)  Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company (a) ZAAFSKREE0.10EBT2EER(K
(“Shares”) %)
Approximate
percentage of
the issued
share capital
Number of of the Company
issued shares NN
Name of Director Capacity held BRITRA
EEpR EEME e BT ROHBE ZBHNBEDL
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 472,500 0.016
REIEE S BEmBEAA
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner 89,000 0.003
RRRFTE BEnEBEA
Ms. Chan Sau Chi Beneficial owner 60,000 0.002
PRF5£/MA EmBEAA
Mr. Mok Yiu Keung, Peter! Beneficial owner 200,000 0.007
Ly Lo b otas BEmBEAA
Note: B e

1. 200,000 KLHL’s shares were held by his spouse.

1 200,000/ 2B & @R A ALBHFA ©
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued)

Long position (continued)

(b) Share options of the Company (“Share Options”)

ESCROERSE)

b=

RRE(#
(b)

=)

/

FARELABRE(ELBRE]D

Interest in underlying shares

Name of Director Capacity pursuant to share options
EEHE EEME BB RAEE T AHRER DR
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 12,500,000
SRENZE S A E=mEA A
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 11,500,000
SR EH 58 5 A E=mEA A
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner 10,000,000
oREF A E=mEA A
Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 10,000,000
MRE R4 E=aA
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner 10,000,000
REFILE E=aA
Ms. Chan Sau Chi Beneficial owner 10,000,000
PR £/ MA E=aA

(c) Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each of
Kingboard Laminates Limited, a wholly-owned

subsidiary of the Company

(c)

FATRNEEREZHBLTARBERER
BRARAEBREEIEBTZERFEBIEL
Vi)

Number of non-voting
deferred shares held

Name of Director Capacity i ERERIEL

EEnS BEME RAEE
(Note)
(BfE)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 1,058,000

SREIZE £ A4 BmlEA A

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 529,000

SREI5R e A4 BmlEA A

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner 952,200

SREYF S BmlEA A

Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 581,900

MERELLE BmlEA A

Note:  None of the non-voting deferred shares of Kingboard Laminates
Limited are held by the Group. Such deferred shares carry no
rights to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general
meeting of Kingboard Laminates Limited and have practically no
rights to dividends or to participate in any distribution on winding

up.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued)
Long position (continued)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of KCHL, the

(d)

EECROER A
RE##)

(d) FAABRKERIAVZFCISREE

ultimate holding company of the Company 0.108 T 2 EER

Approximate

percentage of

Number the issued

of issued share capital

ordinary of KCHL

shares held HEELT

Name of Director Capacity e 1T BRITRA

EEpA EEME HBERROEE ZHHBED

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 2,677,000 0.313
SREIEESE A4 BEnEBEA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 1,767,352 0.207
SREI5R e A4 EmBEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping! Beneficial owner 2,918,653 0.341
SREY T S BEmBEAA

Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 2,431,634 0.285
MRBERE BEnEBEA

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner 290,000 0.034
RRFEE EmBEAA

Ms. Chan Sau Chi2 Beneficial owner 2,940,000 0.344
PR £/\E2 BEmBEAA

Mr. Liu Min3 Beneficial owner 11,500 0.001
el e BEnEAA

Mr. Mok Yiu Keung* Beneficial owner 15,000 0.002
SRSt A EmBEAA

Note: FitsE -

A oeo =

30,000 KCHL’s shares were held by his spouse.
2,830,000 KCHL's shares were held by her spouse.
11,500 KCHL's shares were held by his spouse.
15,000 KCHL's shares were held by his spouse.

FNERE R R

30,0004 E (L TR R EL BB A -
2,830,0000% 728t TR0 R L BCBI5 A ©
11,5000 2 E (L TR R L BLBHA ©
15,0008 228t TAR () R H AL B3 A -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued) BEEoROERE)
Long position (continued) RE(#E)
(e)  Share options of KCHL () BEELIZELBRE
Interest in
underlying shares
of KCHL
pursuant to
share options
Name of Director Capacity BEABREET
EEpA HEmtE 21 TR MRS
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 2,440,000
SR ENOR e E=maA
Ms. Chan Sau Chi Beneficial owner 2,600,000
BRFS£ /N A EmBEAA
Note: e -

1 2,600,000 share options of KCHL were held by her spouse.

(f) Warrants of KCHL

! 2,600,00013
B

B TR EBRERHEER

f BEEIZRREE

Interest in

underlying shares

of KCHL

pursuant to warrants

(Note 1)

Name of Director Capacity RREFRET

Espag RERtE #ZE{C T HERARGER

(Ff7E1)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 124,700
SREIZE S EmfEBA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 215,985
SR Bl 58 5L A EmEA A

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner 246,865
SR B SE A EmaA

Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 159,973
MRBE L4 EmfEBA

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner 5,000
REFILE EmEA A

Ms. Chan Sau Chi?2 Beneficial owner 182,000
PR £/ B2 EmaA

Mr. Liu Min3 Beneficial owner 9,000
BB Ao BB A

Note: P 5E -

1 The interests are by virtue of warrants which entitled the warrant 1 RIAEE A N R
holders to subscribe for KCHL shares at an exercise price of R T A MRS A
HK$40.00 per share during the period from 5 May 2010 and up ANEF R —ZFRAREE-ZT—=F
to 31 October 2012 (both days inclusive). TRA=Z+—H(BREEEMR) R - RITHE

BRI 40.00/8 7T - REREL IR, ©

2 181,000 warrants were held by her spouse. 2 181,00017 R IR E R E R BIHA -

3 9,000 warrants were held by his spouse. 3 9,00017 FRPIEHEE R EILBIFE ©
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued)

Long position (continued)

() Ordinary shares (“EEIC Shares”) in Elec & Eltek (9)
International Company Limited (“EEIC”), a fellow
subsidiary of the Company

EEcRERE)

RR(#E)
AAFREMBLAAEKNZEEELER
AT(TEEIC]) 2 EBER (TEEICHR 7 )

Approximate
percentage
of the issued

Number of share capital

issued EEIC of EEIC

Shares held {LEEIC

Name of Director Capacity Fridc &1 EETRA

EEpR EEME EEICK 38 B ZBHNBEDL

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 706,200 0.378
REIEE S BEmBEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner 500,000 0.267
SR B SE A EmfaA

Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 486,600 0.260
MERELE EmBEAA

Ms. Chan Sau Chit Beneficial owner 1,120,200 0.600
BRI L/ MA! EmBEAA

Note: B & -

1. 1,120,200 shares were held by her spouse. 1 1,120,2000% B (7 A EL B (B45 A -
g EEN  RZT——F+ZA
=t—B BEER(BRARRIZESRA
BN RERBZMEALTRARAISE
EREEOEE (F & R E SRR GHIEXV
&) Z By BRI ESTER T
fJ#EmsER -

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors
(including the Managing Director of the Company) nor
their respective associate, had any interests or short
position in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December
2011,
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR HBERMAOIEF2&H
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year was & ESC#RERSN - ANAT] ~ HIEA% A Tk E (] B
the Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries /A &3¢ R Z i B A S5 E A E Al B R &2 B ET <7
or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable  {F{a]ZHE - B & = A] £ ARNAQ B S F ] Efh)x
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of A B 7 D sESMES ©

shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body

corporate.

SHARE OPTIONS BrBERE

Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company (including — Z&ARQA R Z BT 22 S5 (BIETEE - 17
the exercise price, exercise period and vesting period) are set out  {FHI N BRBED) H 4R 4 B iSRRI :137 -

in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, 100,000,000 share #HE - ——F+ - A=+ B I FE -
options were granted pursuant to the scheme. 100,000,0001H 18 Jc BB AR M IR 32 A T 2R ) -

The following table discloses movements in the share options Rk iFFRE 5L EARENE R &
during the year:

Outstanding Outstanding
as at asat
1.1.2011 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31.12.2011
R=Z—-% during during during H=-Z—-%F
—HA-H the year the year theyear +=A=+-A

MATHE ~ RERRE  RERTE  RERKX HAATHE

Category 1: Directors FEEF
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa REELAE - 12,500,000 - - 12,500,000
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Bkt - 11,500,000 - - 11,500,000
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping RETLE - 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000
Mr. Lam Ka Po WREEE - 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho RRRELE - 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000
Ms. Chan Sau Chi BAZMA - 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000
- 64,000,000 - - 64,000,000
Category 2: Employees Ee | - 36,000,000 - - 36,000,000
Total all categories FrESERIA s - 100,000,000 - - 100,000,000
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance, to which the Company, its holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2011, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO shows that, other than the interests disclosed above in
respect of certain Directors (including the Managing Director
of the Company), the following shareholders had notified the
Company of their relevant interests in the issued share capital of
the Company.

Long position

BEECEREGHNER

ARE] - BEEAT - RRMEAESMERFR
AT S EAATR F E AR A S I BE D A A2
EFERIMRBEEARGEZERNAN

FERR

RZE—F+_A=+—H  BEARARIEES
MHAE 4GP 33616 BFE 2 E BB ELMAT
B BRENIIRBEAETES(REARAIZESHE
IR 2RI THIRREMEAREHERA
NAIB BT Z FERgER -

RE

Shares

R4

Approximate
percentage
of the issued

Number of share capital
issued shares of the Company
held R NG|
Name of shareholder Notes  Nature of interest e 1T BRITRAZ
REREHE Mgk fREEME REOE BB
Hallgain Management Limited (a) Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.05
(‘Hallgain”) BEnEBA
(b) Interest of controlled 1,993,871,000 66.46
corporations
RIEHEEE R
KCHL Beneficial owner 78,681,000 2.62
BET E=aA
(c) Interest of controlled 1,915,190,000 63.84
corporations
RIEHEEE R
Jamplan (BVI) Limited (“Jamplan”) Beneficial owner 1,790,000,000 59.67
E=aA
(d) Interest of controlled 125,190,000 417
corporation
RIEHEEE R
Capital Research and Management Investment manager 177,205,851 5.91

Company

B KIE
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)
Long position (continued)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company (“Shares”)

(continued)
Notes:
(@) At 31 December 2011, (i) no shareholder of Hallgain was entitled to

exercise, or control the exercise of, directly or indirectly, one-third or
more of the voting power at general meetings of Hallgain, and Hallgain
and its directors were not accustomed to act in accordance with any
shareholder’s direction; and (i) Messrs. Cheung Kwok Wa, Cheung Kwok
Ping and Lam Ka Po, being Directors, were also directors of Hallgain.

(b) The interests are held by KCHL directly and indirectly. KCHL is owned as
to approximately 32.19% of the entire issued capital of KCHL by Hallgain as
at 31 December 2011.

() The interests are held by Jamplan directly and indirectly. Jamplan is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of KCHL. Mr. Lam Ka Po, being a Director, is
also a director of Jamplan.

(d) The interests are indirectly held by Jamplan through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Kingboard Investments Limited (“KIL”). Messrs. Cheung Kwok
Wa and Cheung Kwok Ping, being Directors, are also directors of KIL.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been
notified of any other relevant interests or short positions which fall
to be disclosed to the Company under Section 336 of the SFO
in the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December
2011,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied
with the applicable code provisions of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December
2011, save for the deviation that the non-executive Director
and independent non-executive Directors were not appointed
for specific terms pursuant to paragraph A.4.1 of the Code.
Notwithstanding the aforesaid deviation, all the Directors
(including the non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Directors) are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the Company’s annual general meeting in
compliance with the Company’s Articles of Association. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken
to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices
are no less exacting than those in the Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Director’s securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the required standards set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code”). Following a specific enquiry, each
Director has confirmed that he or she has complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code and the code of
conduct regarding Director’s securities transactions adopted by
the Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2011.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent for the purposes of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the Group’s largest customer was KCHL and
its subsidiaries other than the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“KCHL Group”), and the percentage of sales attributable to the
KCHL Group was 15%. The Group’s second largest customer
was Hallgain and its subsidiaries (the “Hallgain Group”), and
the percentage of sales attributable to the Hallgain Group was
6%. The percentage of sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers combined was less than 30% of the Group’s
total revenue. During the year, the percentage of purchases
attributable to the Group’s largest supplier and the five largest
suppliers combined were 14% and 47 %, respectively. The
percentage of purchase attributable to KCHL, one of the Group’s
five largest supplier, was 8%.

At 31 December 2011, each of KCHL, a shareholder holding
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital and Hallgain, a
controlling shareholder of KCHL, had beneficial interests in one
of the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers. Save as
disclosed above, none of the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the
major customers or suppliers noted above.

rEESR®E)

AR ERMIFKTRRR L AR AT 82107
RERE(BRET D Z2ERERETERRRHLZ
Brrhl - REEEWR  SEFHER  BREE
—E—HFt-A=t—BLFERF-HETE
HETRIFTER ERER AR R RAE BERETT
EHRS2FTTA -

ARREEERBIIFNTESRE LMRAS
BABEKMELBAEBY 50 2 FEMR - AAFR
% BETRAESASMEME - 2EBIIFNTE
EHRBIAL -

FEEFRMEER

FR - AEEEAEFARBCIRERE AR
(TREARRREMBAR) ((BECIEE])
BB TEEMEEEE Dt A15% - AEEE =
K& BHallgain & ZHM B2 8 ([Hallgain®& [ ) -
Hallgain&E B TR SHE B Dt A6% - NEBHEER
FABEFZBCHEIORAEBBEETE230%  F
A AEERRAEEERAARER EEES
DD RN E14% RAT% - NEEAEBCTER
(AAREEEZ ) ZBEBE B DA%

RZB——F+ZA=+—H @EtIE—%F
BEARRRIAS% A L Z IR - fHallgain 2EE{b
THERRE - BT RHallgaina R AE®E R
AREPREEEER 2, — A EmER o BR X0
WEEN BF BEZHBANBESAES
RABIRAE% A L2 ERRRBER 2R
PR A R o
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In 2011, the Group had the following non-exempt continuing
connected transactions (which are also related party transactions)
within the meaning of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(a)

30

Former Supply Framework Agreement and
Supply Framework Agreement

On 22 December 2009, the Company and Hallgain
entered into a supply framework agreement (the “Former
Supply Framework Agreement”) pursuant to which the
Group agreed to supply copper to the Hallgain Group
from 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2012. On 1
April 2011, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
supply framework agreement (the “Supply Framework
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Group agreed to
supply copper and laminates to the Hallgain Group from
1 April 2011 to 31 December 2013. Under the Former
Supply Framework Agreement and the Supply Framework
Agreement, the amount of copper and laminates to be
supplied is not fixed but is to be determined and agreed
between the parties from time to time. The actual quantity,
specification and price (with reference to the prevailing
market price) under the Former Supply Framework
Agreement and the Supply Framework Agreement will
be subject to the individual orders placed by the Hallgain
Group with the Group.

The transactions contemplated under the Former Supply
Framework Agreement and the Supply Framework
Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules on the basis that Hallgain, through its interests in
KCHL, is a substantial shareholder of the Company, and
hence a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of
the transactions contemplated under the Former Supply
Framework Agreement and the Supply Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2011 are
set out in the table below. Details of the Former Supply
Framework Agreement and the Supply Framework
Agreement were disclosed in the announcement and
circular of the Company dated 22 December 2009 and
26 April 2011, respectively.

The Former Supply Framework Agreement was
superseded by the Supply Framework Agreement with
effect from 1 April 2011.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

Purchase Framework Agreement

On 1 April 2011, the Company and Hallgain entered
into a purchase framework agreement (the “Purchase
Framework Agreement”) pursuant to which the Group
agreed to purchase materials for production of laminates
such as drill bits and machineries from the Hallgain
Group from 1 April 2011 to 31 December 2013. Under
the Purchase Framework Agreement, the amount to
be purchased is not fixed but is to be determined and
agreed between the parties from time to time. The actual
quantity, specification and price (with reference to the
prevailing market price) under the Purchase Framework
Agreement will be subject to the individual orders placed
by the Group with the Hallgain Group.

The transactions contemplated under the Purchase
Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected
transactions for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules on the basis that Hallgain, through
its interests in KCHL, is a substantial shareholder of
the Company, and hence a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of
the transactions contemplated under the Purchase
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31 December
2011 are set out in the table below. Details of the
Purchase Framework Agreement were disclosed in the
circular of the Company dated 26 April 2011.

BEXZ (#)

(b)

BEERGZR

RZZT——FMA—AH - KA FHHallgain
AIVEEERMZ(BEERRR]) @ &
it AEERER-_ZE——FMA—HZE
—E—=F+ZA=+—HMAHallgainkE
EEEE MRS EEERNERNSE TM
Bo REBEBEERGZ  HEBEZHEY
FEEE - MEBFTNTIRHEERRAE -
BEERGRET 2 EREE - AR RE
B(2ERITHE) KR T AEE M Hallgain
SEEL ZERIFTEmE °

m R Hallgain GEBE R B TrMER)
RARRZ EEBRIL F I ARE £ AR R
BARB) 2 BEAT - HURE ETTRRIE
14AE @ BEERBHEE T ZRXZHEHA
REIZFBRERS »
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

32

Machinery Agreement and Drill Bits Agreement

On 22 December 2009, the Company and Hallgain
entered into a machinery agreement (the “Machinery
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Group agreed to
purchase machineries from the Hallgain Group from 1
January 2010 to 31 December 2012. On 1 May 2010, the
Company and Hallgain entered into a drill bits agreement
(the “Drill Bits Agreement”) pursuant to which the Group
agreed to purchase drill bits from the Hallgain Group from
1 May 2010 to 31 December 2012. Under the Machinery
Agreement and the Drill Bits Agreement, the amount
of machinery and drill bits to be purchased is not fixed
but is to be determined and agreed between the parties
from time to time. The actual quantity, specification and
price of the machinery and drill bits under the Machinery
Agreement and the Drill Bits Agreement will be subject
to the individual orders placed by the Group with the
Hallgain Group.

The transactions contemplated under the Machinery
Agreement and the Drill Bits Agreement constituted
continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the
basis that Hallgain, through its interests in KCHL, is a
substantial shareholder of the Company, and hence a
connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of
the transactions contemplated under the Machinery
Agreement and the Drill Bits Agreement for the year
ended 31 December 2011 are set out in the table below.
Details of the Machinery Agreement and the Drill Bits
Agreement were disclosed in the announcement and
circular of the Company dated 22 December 2009 and
27 May 2010, respectively.

The Machinery Agreement and the Drill Bits Agreement
were superseded by the Purchase Framework Agreement
with effect from 1 April 2011.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d)

Material Purchase Agreement

On 13 December 2008, the Company and KCHL
entered into a material purchase agreement (the “Material
Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to which the Group
agreed to purchase chemicals including methanol,
formalin, phenol, acetone, phenol resin and caustic soda
and drill bits from the KCHL Group from 1 January 2009
to 31 December 2011. Under the Material Purchase
Agreement, the amount of chemicals and drill bits to
be purchased by the Group are not fixed but are to be
determined and agreed between the parties from time to
time. The pricing under the Material Purchase Agreement
is determined in accordance with the then prevailing
market prices.

The transactions contemplated under the Material
Purchase Agreement constituted continuing connected
transactions for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules on the basis that KCHL is the ultimate
holding company of the Company and KCHL and
members of the KCHL Group are accordingly connected
persons of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the
transactions contemplated under the Material Purchase
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2011 are set
out in the table below. Details of the Material Purchase
Agreement were disclosed in the circular of the Company
dated 13 January 2009.

BEXZ(#)

(d)
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(e)

34

Material Supply and Service Agreement and
Copper Foil Supply Agreement

On 13 December 2008, the Company and KCHL
entered into a material supply and service agreement
(the “Material Supply and Service Agreement”) pursuant
to which the Group agreed to supply laminate products
and related upstream component materials (other than
copper foil) and to provide drilling services to the KCHL
Group from 1 January 2009 to 31 December 2011. On
the same day, KBCF and KCHL entered into a copper fail
supply agreement (the “Copper Foil Supply Agreement”)
pursuant to which KBCF and its subsidiaries (the “KBCF
Group”) agreed to supply copper foil to the KCHL and its
subsidiaries (other than the KBCF Group) for the same
period. Under the Material Supply, Service Agreement
and the Copper Foil Supply Agreement, the amount to
be sold and the drilling services to be provided by the
Group are not fixed but are to be determined and agreed
between the parties from time to time. The pricing under
the Material Supply, Service Agreement and the Copper
Foil Supply Agreement is determined in accordance with
the then prevailing market prices.

The transactions contemplated under the Material
Supply, Service Agreement and the Copper Foil Supply
Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules on the basis that KCHL is the ultimate holding
company of the Company and KCHL and members of the
KCHL Group are accordingly connected persons of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount
of the transactions contemplated under the Material
Supply, Service Agreement and the Copper Foil Supply
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2011
are set out in the table below. Details of the Material
Supply, Service Agreement and the Copper Foil Supply
Agreement were disclosed in the circular of the Company
dated 13 January 2009.
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Directors’ Report 2%
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued) BEXS#E)
Amounts Annual caps
kx| FE LR
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
The Group sold laminates and related upstream REBRERZEC IEEHEE
component materials and provide driling services B ER R AR EHE &
to the KCHL Group under RSB TLARTS
(i) the Material Supply and Service Agreement; () MEMERE R RS - K
and 1,638,072 3,050,000
(i) Copper Foil Supply Agreement (i) RSB IE R 388,622 784,000
The Group purchased chemicals from REBREMHEBERZR
the KCHL Group under the Material Purchase BB ISERELT
Agreement Ef 728,941 768,320
The Group sold laminates and copper to AEERER
the Hallgain Group under Hallgain & (B35 & 78 £ it K% £
(i) the Former Supply Framework Agreement; () RELEERRZ
and 49,001 49,500*
(i) the Supply Framework Agreement (i) fLIEIEZ sk 789,255 901,000
The Group purchased drill bits and machineries A& ERERHalganEE
from the Hallgain Group under iR R
(i) the Machinery Agreement; () HE 2,008 2,100*
(i) the Drill Bits Agreement; and (i) $EOB 5% R 5,338 7,0238"
(iithe Purchase Framework Agreement (i) B B AE LR 55 163,446 168,000
* Based on the three months from 1 January 2011 to 31 March 2011. AR T ——F—F—HE=A=t—HB=@AL -

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
an unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed
by the Group in page 35 in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of
the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and the
unqualified letter from the auditor and have confirmed that the
aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been entered
into by the Group in the ordinary course of its business, on
normal commercial terms, and in accordance with the terms
of the agreements governing such transactions that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

ARRZHENC B RIER B G AGHEMNNE
Bz TYEAERI 30005k [ EZ R BHE LW EE
FHASMO 1278 TR | R 2 IR E BB 7405k AR
A7 LT AR Al B 4% A BRSE X2 5 RO A BB BR 1 | 5
EREENFEFER S - REEERE EHRA
F14A3BEEHERE SRR - MZRHA
RSB A EE S ERENTFEMERL
HAVEL LW o BUIFMTEFEERN LA
BB 5 Rz BE 2 BRE B R M - BERIER
LRFHERER Z AR ER B EERBBETRIE
BEERERL UNAEERER I ZmH G
R ABERAFERE  AFEARDRRR 2 BE

Ak o
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Directors’ Report 2%

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
Remuneration Committee having regard to the relevant Director’s
experience, responsibility and the time devoted to the business
of the Group.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees. Details of the
scheme is set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association although there are no
restrictions against such rights under company laws in the
Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2011.

AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as auditor of the Company will be proposed for approval by
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Kwok Wa
CHAIRMAN

29 March 2012

36 Annual Report 2011 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
T —FFH BEBEERERERAR

FENBUCR
FHEARREAREER YRS AERTIFLE
HIE BT 2 HBEE -

FHZEenEMESE K% BERRAEEE
BN R EEE ZF]

ARREERWNELRBBIET S FRUEENAE
RIEBZRE - SHEIF RN G E P BHRME
37 -

B
ARRZ ARIEBERADRNL EERELIEZR
T BERSEBARALEHZSENELE
Al PRl

EEARFERE
BE-T——F+-ASt—ALFE  ARA-
EUHRRATRRE -

B BUED

EEEY « BERS G AR A TREE R
RRENADAEERFBFAR HIRR AR
ISR AL -

7¥(§$ n
B
REELE

i
3

—E——HF=ZA-+NH



Corporate Governance Report
TEERWRSE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Kingboard Laminates
Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”) recognises the importance of corporate governance
practice of a listed company. It is in the interest of the
stakeholders and shareholders for a listed company to operate
in a transparent manner with the adoptions of various self-
regulatory policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms and
a clear definition of accountability of directors and management.

During the year under review, the Board has complied with the
applicable provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules except with a deviation from paragraph A.4.1 of the Code.
Under paragraph A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
Currently, the non-executive director and the independent non-
executive directors of the Company are not appointed for specific
terms but are subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible for
re-election. In addition to the Code, which is mandatory in nature,
the Board also observes certain recommended best practices
(“Recommended Best Practices”) contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules and has adopted certain Recommended Best
Practices which are suitable to the Company’s current situation.
The Board will continuously enhance the corporate governance
standard of the Company by reference to the Recommended
Best Practices whenever suitable and appropriate.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
director’s securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the required standards set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code”). Following a specific enquiry, each
director has confirmed that he or she has complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code and the code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions adopted by
the Company.

EEEERERER AR ([ ARR ] REME QR
([ AEED)EEe((EF22 AR LT QA
TEEAFHRZEEE - THRARZEELFEHR
B RARRATREBRERFIAREEES -
WERARTERREREERE - DHTARAFAA
RBERZ Mz o

REBEFE  EF€ B8 T EMRAME14PT
HobEEaRRTA(TFRID ZEREX - 1HER
BEST AR A4 ERBRON © ARIRSTRANESCEA4.1
B IFTEENZEREREEMEN  YARRE
FRE o ARREBIFTERRELFNITES
ZEREWEIEETY - EABFRERNEERE
BB - BREBRBIEEZ TR EFENSEL
mARAERI4PTE 2 B TEAKERR([EER
EER)  URWES AR RRTERZETES
REFR EFERNAEIEERAT2EER
REFR - M TERA AR B2 BEERKT -

ARRERMIFKTRRR L AR BT8R 10T
RERE(BRETH D 2EHERETERRZHLZ
Byl - REEEWR  SEFCER B—E
BT RETAIMERERERARBARANERE
SHETEFR G 2BTTH
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DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Group and is entrusted with the responsibility
to supervise the management of the business and the
affairs of the Group. The Group has adopted internal
guidelines which set forth matters that require the Board’s
approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the
Board approves the Group’s strategic plan, annual
budget, key operational initiatives, major investments and
funding decisions. It also reviews the Group’s financial
performance, identifies principal risks of the Group’s
business and ensures implementation of appropriate
systems to manage these risks. Daily business operations
and administrative functions of the Group are delegated
to the management.

The Board meets regularly and as warranted by particular
circumstances. Notices and agendas are prepared by
the Company Secretary as delegated by the Chairman
of the Board and distributed to the Board members
within reasonable time before the meetings. Relevant
meeting papers are also sent to directors well before
the meetings, informing them of the background and
giving explanation on matters to be brought before the
Board. All directors are given the opportunity to include
matters in the agendas for Board meetings. To ensure the
directors make decisions objectively and in the interests
of the Company, the Company’s articles of association
provide that any director shall abstain from voting on any
resolutions in which he/she or his/her associates is/are
materially interested nor be counted in the quorum of the
meeting. Draft and final versions of the minutes of Board
meetings are sent to all directors for their comment and
records respectively within a reasonable time after the
board meeting and are kept by the Company Secretary.
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DIRECTORS (continued) A EEXp)
The Board (continued) BEE2p)
During the year under review, the Board had held 4 REBEFERN  EFTQRITITNAGE
meetings and the directors’ attendance at Board meetings EENEFgeEEELEee a2 d
and Board committees’ meetings were as follows: JERLEEAAT ¢
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Ezg ENZEE REZEE FMzZeg
= a3 g3 g3
Number of Meeting g1 E 4 3 1 1
Executive directors HiTEZE
Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman) REUE (L) 4 - - -
Cheung Kwok Keung (Vianaging Director) SR Bl (& Z 1647 7) 4 - - -
Cheung Kwok Ping KEF 4 - - -
Lam Ka Po NXE 4 - - -
Cheung Ka Ho RXR 4 - - -
Chan Sau Chi BREE 4 - - -
Liu Min 28 4 - - -
Zhou Pei Feng EEE 4 - - -
Non-executive director FHTEE
Lo Ka Leong BR= 4 3 1 1
Independent non-executive directors BUHHTEE
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael RS 4 3 1 1
Leung Tai Chiu Ly 4 3 1 1
Mok Yiu Keung, Peter K2 4 3 1 1
Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen EaR(h=—%——%
(appointed on 4 May 2011) TRAMAEZAE) 3 2 0 0
Chan Chamwut Bernard BER(RZ2—F
(retired on 3 May 2011) TA=HEM) 1 1 1 1

The directors have observed the importance of directing EEARF AR THBEENEE AN A
EHEEN - BHATRESR S
eVStERFET R ETEET
g DFBRTTNOREREE -

and supervising the Company’s affair at a more regular
interval. After consulting all directors, Board meetings
have been preliminarily scheduled to be held at quarterly
interval and no less than 4 times in the coming year.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Division and responsibilities

The Board is headed by the Chairman whose role differs
from that of the Managing Director of the Company.
The roles of the Chairman and Managing Director are
segregated and are not exercised by the same individual.

The duties of the Chairman include (but not limited to) the
following:

o schedule meetings that enable the Board to
perform its duties and responsibilities and
to ensure all key and appropriate issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely manner without
interfering the Company’s operations;

o prepare meeting agenda after consultation with
the Managing Director;

o exercise control over quality, quantity and
timeliness of the flow of information between
management and the Board and to ensure
decisions are made on a fully informed basis by
the directors; and

o assist in ensuring compliance with the Listing
Rules and the Company’s guidelines on corporate
governance.

The Managing Director is mainly responsible for the
overall strategic planning and day-to-day management of
the Group.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Division and responsibilities (continued)

The Board currently comprises 13 members, four of
whom are independent non-executive directors who
are expressly identified in all corporate communications
that disclose the names of directors of the Company.
At least one of the independent non-executive directors
possesses appropriate professional qualifications (or
accounting or related financial management expertise)
as required by the Listing Rules. The composition of the
Board is as follows:

Executive directors

Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Cheung Kwok Ping

Lam Ka Po

Cheung Ka Ho

Chan Sau Chi

Liu Min

Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive director
Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive directors

Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Leung Tai Chiu

Mok Yiu Keung, Peter

Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (appointed on 4 May 2011)
Chan Charnwut Bernard (retired on 3 May 2011)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr.
Cheung Kwok Ping are brothers and are uncles of Mr.
Cheung Ka Ho.

The non-executive director and each of the independent
non-executive directors (except Mr. Ip Shu Kwan,
Stephen, who was appointed by the Board as an
independent non-executive director on 4 May 2011) was
appointed for an initial term of two years commencing in
November 2006. The appointment of Mr. Lo Ka Leong
as a non-executive director will continue after the initial
term unless terminated by three months’ notice in writing
served by either party to the other. The appointment of
the independent non-executive directors will continue
after the initial term unless otherwise agreed between
the parties. Currently, the non-executive director and the
independent non-executive directors were not appointed
for specific terms but are subject to retirement by rotation
and are eligible for re-election. The Board considers that
although such arrangement deviates from paragraph
A.4.1 of the Code, sufficient measures have been taken
to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance
practices are no less exacting than those in the Code.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Division and responsibilities (continued)

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive directors an annual confirmation of his
independence as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

The Board comprises directors who collectively provide
core competencies, sales and marketing experience
and technical knowledge in laminates and its upstream
materials, administration and management experience in
the PRC factories, financial and accounting skill, as well
as in-house advice to comply with international laws and
regulations. The current Board size of thirteen directors
with a balance of skills and experience is appropriate for
effective decision making, taking into account the nature
and scope of the operations of the Company.

Appointment, re-election and removal

The Company’s articles of association set out a
formal, considered and transparent procedure for the
appointment of new directors to the Board. Any director
appointed by the Board either to fill a casual vacancy or
as addition to the Board shall retire and be eligible for
re-appointment at the next following general meeting
after appointment. At every annual general meeting,
one-third of the directors, including the Chairman, shall
be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by
shareholders. The directors appointed by the Board who
are subject to retirement and re-election as mentioned
above shall be taken into account in calculating the total
number of directors for the time being but shall not be
taken into account in calculating the number of directors
who are to retire by rotation. All directors eligible for
re-election shall have their biographical details made
available to the shareholders to enable them to make an
informed decision on their re-election. Any appointment,
resignation, removal or re-designation of director shall be
timely disclosed to the shareholders by announcement
and shall include in such announcement, the reasons
given by the director for his resignation.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Responsibilities of Directors

The Company and the Board require each director to
keep abreast of his responsibilities as a director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company. Every director is required
to devote sufficient time and involvement in the affairs
of the Board and the material matters of the Company
and to serve the Board with such degree of care and
due diligence given his own expertise, qualification and
professionalism.

Every newly appointed director shall receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the
first occasion of his appointment. All directors shall
be updated and briefed on continuing professional
development as is necessary to ensure that they have a
proper understanding of the operations and the business
of the Company and that they are fully aware of their
responsibilities under the applicable laws and regulations.
The Board has a procedure for directors, either individually
or as a group, in the furtherance of their duties, to take
independent professional advice, if necessary, at the
Company’s expenses to enable and facilitate the directors
to make well considered decisions. Appropriate insurance
coverage for directors’ and officers’ liability has been
arranged against possibility of legal action to be taken
against the directors and the management.

Supply of and access to information

The management of the Company has an obligation
to furnish the Board with complete, adequate and
appropriate information in such form and such quality in a
timely manner so as to enable them to make an informed
decision and to discharge their duties and responsibilities
as directors of the Company. All the directors are given
separate and independent access to the Company’s
senior management.

All the directors are given separate and independent
access to the Company Secretary, whose role includes
ensuring that Board procedures are observed and
followed, and that applicable rules and regulations are
complied with. The Company Secretary attends all the
meetings of the Board and Board committees and is
responsible for drafting minutes and keeping minutes
records which can be accessed by any director for
inspection.

EE0m)
ESEE
ARRNEEGERGRERTBREIER
ARPMEEZBE  URTBARAZE
BN EBERBNER - BREFHE
BARHEREEREEEFTEEHLA
NABEEEH  URBREAZHEMME -
BENBERE  WEBRBEZRERAE
SR -

BRNZAEEREREZERISRRE
—PEEFREASEMROEABERM -
PREFNAZTERHL2EFESELR
T8 UHERREBRETRAQRZEE
RE®  BRIABRESNERERER
ETZEE - EFERUMERF  EF
REFTBIER  EARENBER T A ES
FHARABABLEERRER - UEHFE
MERKRE - BEBERBARQRBEE -
RAREREEREBEASEEY 2
BUTHMAEEREEBEAETHHEEEE
RE

BERRERER

KRR EREEREERBRAESGIRMHT
E RAEREERANEENER  UE
EEgFHABRAERBEITERARRARE
EZRIS - 2B YA ER KRB IEE
AARBREEAE -

2REFHAERN BB RARMWE -
REAMEZBERRRREMERESS
B RSETERBRRERN - REMW
EHREARREFEREFZEGMAS
7 AERRSREFEEERE - UHEW
Ex8H -

Annual Report 2011 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited 43

TR —FF ERRERERERAE



Corporate Governance Report {t3¥E 78R &

44

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The level and make-up of remuneration and
disclosure

The Board has set up a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) which comprises four
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr.
Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (Chairman), Mr. Chan Yue
Kwong, Michael, Mr. Leung Tai Chiu and Mr. Mok Yiu
Keung, Peter, to formulate policies and procedures for
determining the remuneration of directors and senior
management and other remuneration related matters. The
Remuneration Committee is set up with written terms of
reference which set out clearly its duties and authorities
delegated by the Board, including the following duties:

o formulate the framework or Board policy for
determining the remuneration of the Company’s
Board and senior management. The objective
of such policy should ensure that members of
the senior management of the Company are
provided with appropriate incentives to encourage
enhanced performance and are, in a fair and
reasonable manner, rewarded for their individual
contributions to the success of the Company;

° recommend to the Board specific remuneration
packages including, where appropriate,
allowances, bonuses, benefits in kind, incentive
payments, and share options, if any, for each
executive director and the Managing Director and
such other members of senior management as it is
designated to consider;

o recommend targets for any performance-linked
pay schemes operated by the Company, taking
into account remuneration and employment
conditions within the industry and in comparable
companies; and

o recommend to the Board the remuneration of non-
executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) taking into account factors
such as effort, time spent and responsibilities.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

The level and make-up of remuneration and
disclosure (continued)

When recommending the remuneration package for each
individual director, the Remuneration Committee will
consider his qualification and experience, specific duties
and responsibilities assigned to him by the Board and the
prevailing market packages available for similar position.
The emoluments of the directors on a named basis for
the year under review is set out on pages 124 to 125 in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements. Review
and comparison in terms of directors’ emoluments
package and net profits of the Group are made from
time to time with comparable listed industrial companies
with similar capitalisation to the Group. Considering all
such factors, the Remuneration Committee would make
recommendation on the remuneration package for each
director after consultation with the Chairman.

During the year under review, the Remuneration
Committee had convened one meeting to consider the
remuneration packages for all directors.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparing the Company’s account which gives a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Company. The
Company deploys appropriate and sufficient resources to
prepare unaudited half-yearly account and audited yearly
account. Senior management is required to present and
explain the financial reporting and matters that materially
affect or may have material impact on the financial
performance and operations of the Company to the Audit
Committee and the Board and respond to the queries
and concerns raised by the Audit Committee and the
Board to their satisfaction. The statement of the auditor
of the Company about their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements is set out in
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 52 to 53 of this
annual report.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)
Internal controls

The Group has in place a system of internal controls, the
key elements of which are as follows:

o formal policies and procedures are in place,
including the documentation of key processes,
procedures and rules relating to the delegation of
authorities. These allow the monitoring of controls
and restrict the unauthorised use of the Group’s
assets;

o experienced and suitably qualified staff take
responsibility for important business functions.
Annual appraisal procedures have been established
to maintain standards of performance;

o monthly business and financial reports are
prepared, providing relevant, timely, reliable and
up-to-date financial and other information; budget
variances are investigated as appropriate; and

o an internal audit function, which reports directly
to the Audit Committee, is in place to determine
whether the above procedures are properly carried
out.

The Board has conducted a review on the effectiveness of
the above internal control system of the Group including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management and will conduct such review at least once
a year, so as to ensure the shareholders’ investment and
the Company’s assets are properly safeguarded. The
Board is satisfied that, based on the information supplied,
coupled with its own observations and with the assistance
of the Audit Committee, the present internal controls and
risk management processes are satisfactory for the nature
and size of the Group’s operations and business.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)
Internal controls (continued)

In addition to the internal control system, the Board has
established an internal audit team that reports directly
to the Audit Committee. The internal audit team will
independently audit various functions, operations and
systems existed in the Company according to their
weight of significance to the Company as well as the
priority list recommended by the Audit Committee. The
internal audit team will prepare an internal audit report
highlighting the deficiencies and weaknesses in existing
audit functions, operations and systems for discussion by
the Audit Committee and the Board, and based on these
findings the Board will instruct senior management to take
appropriate corrective and improvement actions.

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee with
specific written terms of reference setting out duties,
responsibilities and authorities delegated to them by the
Board. The major duties and responsibilities of the Audit
Committee include the followings:

o review with the external auditor, the audit plan;

° review with the external auditor, their evaluation of
the system of internal accounting controls;

o review the scope and results of the internal audit
procedures;
o review the statement of financial position and

income statement of the Company and the
consolidated statement of financial position and
income statement of the Group and submit them
to the Board;

o nominate persons as auditor;

° review with the internal and external auditors their
findings on their evaluation of the Company’s
system of internal controls for the purpose of
assisting the Board in developing policies that
would enhance the controls and operating
systems of the Company; and

o review connected transactions and examine the
adequacy of internal controls of the Group as part
of the standard procedures.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness
and the independence and objectivity of the Company’s
auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. The Audit Committee
will review the independence of the Company’s auditor,
the resources and adequacy of the internal audit function,
at least once a year. Where the auditor also supplies non-
audit services to the Company, the Audit Committee
will keep the nature and extent of such services under
review, seeking to balance between the maintenance of
objectivity and value for money. During the year under
review, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor
in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the
Company’s auditor to the Group were as follows:
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Amount (HK$)
SFEGBT)
Nature of services REME
Audit services ZH RS 3,000,000
Non-audit services IERZ ERTS
@) Tax services (i) B 7% R 75 200,000
(i) Other services (i) HAth AR 75 250,000

The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all the
non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor
and concluded that in their opinion such services did
not affect the independence of the auditor. The Board
has appointed an accountant to be responsible for the
accounting and financial matters of the Group and the
Audit Committee has free access to the accountant and
senior management of the Group and to any financial
and relevant information which enable them to discharge
their audit committee function effectively and efficiently.
Besides internal assistance being available, the Audit
Committee may request for assistance and advice from
external auditors as and when they think necessary at
the expenses of the Company. The Audit Committee
shall meet with external auditor without the presence
of executive directors to discuss the Group’s financial
reporting and any major and financial matters arising
during the year under review at least once a year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)
In addition, the Audit Committee is authorised:

° to investigate any matter within its written terms of
reference;

° to have full access to and co-operation by the
management;

° to have full discretion to invite any director or

executive officer to attend its meetings; and

o to have reasonable resources to enable it to
discharge its functions properly.

The Board will ensure that the members of the Audit
Committee are appropriately qualified to discharge their
responsibilities and at least one member has accounting
and related financial management expertise or experience.
The Audit Committee comprises four independent non-
executive directors and one non-executive director,
namely Mr. Leung Tai Chiu (Chairman), Mr. Chan Yue
Kwong, Michael, Mr. Mok Yiu Keung, Peter, Mr. Ip Shu
Kwan, Stephen and Mr. Lo Ka Leong.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management
the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and discussed auditing, internal control and
financial reporting matters, including a review of the
unaudited interim financial statements of the Group for the
six months ended 30 June 2011 and the audited annual
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2011.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had
convened three meetings.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Management function

The Company’s articles of association set out matters
which are specifically reserved to the Board for its
decision. Executive directors normally meet on an
informal basis every two weeks and participate in senior
management meetings on a regular basis to keep abreast
of the latest operations and performance of the Group
and to monitor and ensure the management carry out
the directions and strategies set by the Board correctly
and appropriately. Clear instructions are given to the
management as to the matters which should bring to the
attention and be determined by the Board on behalf of
the Company.

Board committees

The Board has set up three Board committees,
namely Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee, each chaired by different
independent non-executive director, to assist the Board
in discharging functions specific to each committee. Each
Board committee has its own written terms of reference
setting out the principles, procedures and arrangements
which are substantially the same as those for the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises four members
who are independent non-executive directors, namely
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman), Mr. Leung Tai
Chiu, Mr. Mok Yiu Keung, Peter, and Mr. Ip Shu Kwan,
Stephen. According to the written terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee, the major responsibilities of
the Nomination Committee include:

° regularly review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board with regard to any adjustments that are
deemed necessary;

° review whether or not an independent non-
executive director is independent for the purpose
of the Listing Rules on annual basis;

o be responsible for identifying and nominating for
the approval of the Board, candidates to fill board
vacancies as and when they arise; and
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (continued)

Board committees (continued)

° be responsible for re-nomination having regard
to the director’s contribution and performance,
including, if applicable, as an independent director.

During the year under review and up to the date of the
report, the Nomination Committee had convened one
meeting for the nomination of directors for re-election in
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
The Nomination Committee had resolved that Mr.
Cheung Ka Ho, Ms. Chan Sau Chi, Mr. Liu Min, Mr.
Zhou Pei Feng, Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael and Mr.
Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen, shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. All the above-named directors were nominated
by the Nomination Committee to stand for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue
with shareholders. All directors are encouraged to attend
the general meetings to have personal communication
with shareholders. In annual general meeting, Chairman
of the Board and the chairman of each committee
are required to attend and answer questions from
shareholders in respect of the matters that they are
responsible and accountable for. The external auditor
is also required to be present to assist the directors in
addressing any relevant queries by shareholders. The
Company has also set up a public relations website
which enables the shareholders and public to post their
questions, comments and opinions in relation to the
Group to the Board.

The Company’s annual general meeting (“AGM”) and
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) provide good
opportunities for shareholders to air their views and
ask directors and management questions regarding
the Company. All shareholders of the Company receive
the annual report, circulars and notices of AGM and
EGM and other corporate communications in a form
chosen by each shareholder of the Company. The
notices are also published on the Company’s website at
www.kblaminates.com. Separate resolutions are required
at general meetings on each distinct issue. A shareholder
is permitted to appoint any number of proxies to attend
and vote in his stead.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BEN RS

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KINGBOARD LAMINATES
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 54 to 175, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2011, and the consolidated
income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as
to whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
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Independent Auditor’s Report 38§ 37 #% 2Bl R &

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31
December 2011 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 March 2012
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Consolidated Income Statement

= A (b 3L
%VT\ (= LI&J’JI\L%:Z
For the year ended 31 December 2011 & —E——4%#+ = H=+—H I EZF

2011 2010
—E2——F —T—FF
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000
BisE FHET FET
Revenue e 7 13,204,979 13,055,205
Cost of sales THE A (10,944,725) (9,875,039)
Gross profit ES| 2,260,254 3,180,166
Other income E Uz A 9 134,119 68,717
Distribution costs 73 SR AR (275,727) (274,128)
Administrative costs TR AN (414,058) (446,506)
Share-based payments LABAD FE A 3R 37 (69,052) -
Share of result of an associate  fE{5 —RIEE & A T2 245 26 (4,668) -
(Loss) gain on disposal HEMHLEREY
of available-for-sale (E518) U ek
investments (503) 173,463
Impairment loss on available- Al HERE ZR{EE B
for-sale investments 10 (1,919) -
Finance costs BhE AR 11 (93,958) (65,245)
Profit before taxation B FL BT A 1,534,488 2,636,467
Income tax expense FriSif sz 12 (176,650) (269,783)
Profit for the year AN E R F 13 1,357,838 2,366,684
Profit for the year attributable to: 2N & % | E(E 1D 58
Owners of the Company RATRFEBA 1,324,958 2,280,380
Non-controlling interests FEIERR RS 32,880 86,304
1,357,838 2,366,684
Earnings per share ShAF 16
Basic HAR HK$0.442;# 5T HK$0.760#% 7T
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
e ElaAR

For the year ended 31 December 2011 2 —FE——F+ - A =+—HIFFZ

2011 2010
B —E-ZF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Profit for the year AF[E i K 1,357,838 2,366,684
Other comprehensive income: Em 2wk
Gain (loss) on cash flow hedging W& R h T AW
instruments (E548) 9,838 6,517)
Reclassification adjustments relating to IR ML R TAE M
transfer of cash flow hedges E 2 EFHRAR - 29,650
Fair value gain on properties transferred ¥ BREEIREME
to investment properties NS ELE - 7,268
Fair value (loss) gain on available-for- AHEERE 2 ATE
sale investments (B8 ) e (123,390) 178,337
Release upon disposal of available-for- HERfBERER
sale investments (o] 503 (173,463)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale A SR EREREE
investments 1,919 -
Exchange differences arising on ATEE=2HREEM
translation to presentation currency EACIENZRE 470,659 270,625
Share of other comprehensive loss of JEMR—REEE AR 2 EA
an associate 2HEEE (6) -
Other comprehensive income for the year  ZN4E[Z H fh 2 Uz 359,523 305,900
Total comprehensive income for the year — ZAN4E 8 2 NS 4258 1,717,361 2,672,584
Total comprehensive income attributable to: 2T Uz 48 ZEFE(E (D 58
Owners of the Company VN/NEIESYEDN 1,645,944 2,560,648
Non-controlling interests FEFERR RS 71,417 111,936
1,717,361 2,672,584
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

W

e B R

At 31 December 2011 R-ZE——F+-H=+—H

2011 2010
—E2——F —F-TF
NOTES HK$°000 HK$’000
BaE FHET T
Non-current assets JEMENEE
Investment properties B 17 87,650 75,624
Properties, plant and equipment W - WENEE 18 5,212,256 5,425,825
Prepaid lease payments B EEDE 19 396,987 386,701
Available-for-sale investments HEER é 20 1,060,507 730,751
Held-to-maturity investments Hﬁ BIERIEE 21 271,434 -
Properties held for development FERME 22 - 244,985
Non-current deposits éEiﬁiﬁETﬁ 23 162,139 110,176
Other non-current assets HiIEmREEE 24 712,707 -
Deferred tax assets IR TBE B 25 6,565 7,671
Interest in an associate R—EBE R E 2w 26 82,314 -
Goodwill EES 27 238 238
7,992,797 6,981,971
Current assets MEEE
Inventories T8 28 1,390,738 2,286,037
Trade and other receivables é’%&ﬁﬁﬂ}*uﬁzﬁ; N3
and prepayments AR 29 3,838,121 3,592,366
Bills receivables m&(;%}g; 29 1,592,009 1,126,077
Properties held for development FEEME 22 248,486 -
Prepaid lease payments JENERIE 19 7,758 7,481
Amounts due from fellow - AEE NG E e
subsidiaries 30 381,817 456,259
Taxation recoverable GBI 7,063 7,063
Bank balances and cash IRITEBR RS 31 2,602,674 1,982,571
10,068,666 9,457,854
Current liabilities mEAE
Trade and other payables B 5 NEMEREER 32 1,596,272 1,243,969
Bills payables FERE 32 207,168 403,417
Amounts due to fellow FERTR M B A B5kIE
subsidiaries 30 31,061 28,012
Derivative financial instruments PTESBTA 33 - 43,331
Taxation payable FESFRIA 288,511 348,243
Bank borrowings - amount due RITEE ——F A2
within one year A 34 665,261 2,147,486
2,788,273 4,214,458
Net current assets MEEEFE 7,280,393 5,243,396
Total assets less current liabilites EBEALERLTHEE 15,273,190 12,225,367
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 4r& B & AR 0 3=
At 31 December 2011 R=ZF——F+=-H=+—H

2011 2010
—E——F = —TF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
BaE FHET FATT
Non-current liabilities FERBALE
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFLIBE E 25 3,366 2,566
Bank borrowings - amount due RITEE ——F1&2IH
after one year 2RI 34 3,479,172 1,369,414
3,482,538 1,371,980
11,790,652 10,853,387
Capital and reserves J&AS e (&
Share capital &N 35 300,000 300,000
Reserves & 10,444,986 9,569,990
Equity attributable to owners of ZN/NGIESY SN LLE
the Company 10,744,986 9,869,990
Non-controlling interests eI 2 1,045,666 983,397
Total equity e 11,790,652 10,853,387
The consolidated financial statements on pages 54 to 175 were E%£@WN -ZT— —F=F -+ N BCHERIFET
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on  ZHE54BEFE1758 2R A T KHRE - YHTHE
29 March 2012 and are signed on its behalf by: EREEF
Cheung Kwok Wa Cheung Kwok Keung
RENEE R BT
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
3 o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ll‘/T $F><%;%EJJ$

For the year ended 31 December 2011 #Z —&E——F+ _-A=+—HIFFZF
Attributable to owners of the Company
AR ARE
Property  Investment Share Acc- Non-
Share Share Translation revaluation revaluation  Hedging options Special  Statutory Other  umulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests  equity
NEEfE  REER .5 ]

BE  ROEE EXER (i B WNRE  BEEE  GORE  RERE  RMBRE 2 & FOREE &xEE
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKBO00  HKS000  HKS000  HK§000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000
A FEL iz Fin Fir AT TEL AL TAL AL AT TEL Tir TR
(note 36) (note g (note b)
(itse)  (Wta) (M)

Balance at 1 January 2010 R=F-T5-A-A
i3 300000 1,097,104 838,266 - 350 @297 - 757689 18,034 - 5349287 8327700 884819 9212528

Proft for the year - - - - - - - - - - 2280380 2,280,380 86,304 2,366,684
Loss on cash flow hedging instruments 4 TAER - - - - - 6,517) - - - - - (6517) - 51
Bxchange differences arising on translation R 2% 2 HE%

o presentation currency Ef Z& EE - - 24499 - - - - - - - - 4499 25632 210625
Fair value gain on properties transferred to ﬁ#% RENEIL
investment properties FEkE - - - 7,268 - - - - - - - 7,268 - 7268
Transfer toproftorloss oncashflow R bt rEHnmER
hedges i) - - - - - 29650 - - - - - 29,650 - 29650
Fair value gain on avalable-for-sale EHEREIATE
investments iz - - - - 178,337 - - - - - - 178,337 - 178337
Release upon disposal of available-for-sale w'éww'é&‘ﬁﬂ%
investments - - - - (173463 - - - - - (173463 - (173463
Total comprehensive income for the year - A% E 2EHEE - - 244,993 7,268 4874 23,133 - - - - 2280380 2,560,648 11936 2,672,584
Acquisition of adaitional interest in a Lﬂlﬂﬁ BB AREN
subsidiary - - - - - - - - - 1,633 - 1,633 8238 (1,609
Dividend paid to non-controling interests iﬁ%ikfﬂ%&ﬂﬂﬁ@ - - - - - - - - - - - - (101200 (10,120)
Fna\ dvidend paid for the yearended  EREHZE-TTNE
31 December 2009 TASH-AE
EERERE - - - - - - - - - (6400000 (540,000) - (540000
Interim dividend paic for the yearended  EFEZ-Z-%%
31 December 2010 A= B
FRRHRE - - - - - - - - - - (480,000  (480,000) - (480000)
Transfer to resenve SEHE - - - - - - - - 13,698 - (13,698) - - -

- - - - - - - - 13,698 1638 (1,003,698 (1018367)  (13.356) (1,081,725)

Balance at 31 December 2010 RIE-FE+2A
“t-AzEk 300000 1,007,104 1,083,269 7,268 5224 (9838 - 767,689 31,732 1633 6595919 9,869,990 983,397 10,853,387
Proft for the year AEEET - - - - - - - - - - 134958 132498 32880 1857838
Gain on cash fow hedghnginstuments ~ FEEBEAT Ak - - - - - 9838 - - - - - 9,838 - 983
Exchange differences arsing on transiaion 478 2 2 &M%
to presentation currency Ei7EREE - - 2 - - - - - - - 4R 38537 470659
Fair value loss on avalable-for-sale EHEREIATE
investments BB - - - - (123390 - - - - - - (123390) - (1233%)
Share of other comprehensive loss of an (5 —FBEAFZ
associate LhRESE - - ) - - - - - - - - (6) - (6)
Release upon disposal of avalable-for-sale 1 E XL E R &8
investments 2m - - - - 503 - - - - - - 503 - 503
Impaiment loss on avallable-for-sdles  WEHEREHESE
investments - - - - 1919 - - - - - - 1919 - 1919
Total comprehensive income for the year - AEE 2 ENELE - - 4216 - (12098 9,838 - - - - 1324058 1645944 AT 1,717,361
Recogniion of equity-settled share-based  EEZMRARA 15
payments - - - - - - 69,062 - - - - 69,062 - 69052
Dividend paid to non-controling inferests 3773k Méﬁlz&xﬁ - - - - - - - - - - - - 9148 (9,148
Final dividend paid for the year ended Eﬁﬁ
31 December 2010 EU:
f#ﬁxﬁﬁﬂxﬁ - - - - - - - - - - (0000 (340000 - 000
Interim dividend paid for the year ended EHEJF T*fﬁ
31 December 2011 I
f?ﬁmﬂﬁx% - - - - - - - - - - (300,000 (300000) - (300000)
Transfer to resenve SHER - - - - - - - 12,604 - (12,604 - - -
- - - - - - 69,062 - 12,604 - (852604 (770948 (9,148 (780,0)
Balance at 31 December 2011 AZT——E+2f
=t-Rzik 300000 1,097,104 1515375 7208 (115,744) - 69,062 767,689 44336 1633 7088273 10744986 1,045,666 11,790,652

Notes: Bt & -

(@) Statutory fund, which is non-distributable, is appropriated from the profit  (a) TANRZEEFBDREFEARKNBE(TEESR
after taxation of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the People’s ) ([ B 2 ERERREBRIRAR R NP RN
Republic of China (other than Hong Kong) (“PRC”) under the applicable I AR 2 BB & EFIFHR ©
laws and regulations in the PRC.

(b) The other reserve represents the difference between the consideration (o) HEEEN 2 — S FWEHE A R FEIMES T
paid for acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries during 2010 and (BRI AR R R 2 R 258 -

the adjustment to the non-controlling interest.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AN L=
%/T\ = Iﬁﬁﬂlbi%
For the year ended 31 December 2011 & —E——4%#+ = H=+—H I EZF

2011 2010
—E——fF —TFF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES K
Profit before taxation BB A 1,534,488 2,636,467
Adjustments for: FATIER EL A
Depreciation of properties, plant and W BEMREZITE
equipment 780,285 751,938
Release of prepaid lease payments BENHEEFRIAERED 8,375 7,180
Interest expenses and other finance FMERZREMBIEER
charges 93,958 65,245
Net impairment losses recognised on B S M HAEWERRY
trade and other receivables R B BRI FRE 5,882 2,452
Impairment loss on available-for-sale A ERE 2R EEE
investments 1,919 -
(Gain) loss on disposal and write off of HE RIMEEYIE - B K&
properties, plant and equipment etz (las ) lEia (3,632) 1,319
Gain on fair value changes of investment &Y% AT EEH)
properties pdl 6y (9,300) (7,550)
Loss on fair value changes of commodity — Z MRS 49N FE & &)
forward contracts pd it = 33,493
Loss (gain) on disposal of available-for- HERMHEEERE 2 EE
sale investments (Wez%) 503 (173,463)
Interest income FBMA (48,518) (18,230)
Dividend income BB A (19,374) -
Share-based payments LABR AR FE A 30 69,052 -
Share of result of an associate JEE—EEE AT 2 %8 4,668 -
Operating cash flows before movements Rt @EE S E AT 2 K2
in working capital WEME 2,418,306 3,298,851
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERA () 291,619 (437,297)
Increase in trade and other receivables B S5 REMEIKEERR K TaR
and prepayments FRIBIE AN (62,119) (940,179
Increase in bill receivables FEURZE RIS AN (465,932) (400,386)
Decrease (increase) in amounts due from  fEUR R KB A R FIE
fellow subsidiaries T (3En) 74,442 (126,238)
Decrease (increase) in properties held for 3R MER A (3G H0)
development 8,748 (159,189)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K EH b FEBRFIEG AN 417,325 246,545
(Decrease) increase in bills payables =GR ) 18 hn (199,388) 133,069
Net decrease in derivative financial TSR ITERD
instruments SEE (33,493) (11,628)
Increase in amounts due to fellow FE R Z B A RIFRIA
subsidiaries 1840 3,049 7,972
Cash generated from operations REEBRSHRE 2,452,557 1,611,524
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EREEFEH (322) (10,285)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid AR EMEMSH (239,442) (176,300)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING REEBHBRE
ACTIVITIES ki 2,212,793 1,424,939

Annual Report 2011 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
22 FHER BEBRERIZERERAA

59



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 8 IRERER
For the year ended 31 December 2011 # % —F——4#+ - =41—HI F/&F

2011 2010
—E——F —T-%F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
MisE TET THT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEY
Purchase of available-for-sale investments B & r] it HERE (720,088) (667,381)
Purchase of properties, plant and EEME - BEREE
equipment (428,630) (682,162)
Purchase of held-to-maturity investments B E#E 2 2ER A (192,486) -
Deposits paid for acquisition of properties, BEEWE « BE & B1E
plant and equipment FrfdET& (162,139) (110,176)
Consideration paid for acquisition of Yol —Feg g & D R EE AN
additional interest in an associate B RE (50,988) -
Proceeds from disposal of available-for- &R H &R ERE
sale investments A 151,878 534,915
Proceed from disposal of properties, plant  HEYE « BE MR E
and equipment FrissE 123,632 55,966
Interest received BUFIE 36,010 18,230
Dividend income received B B IA 7,936 -
Prepaid lease payments made ENEAEER - (81,913)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of LIK%WEQETEEZ
subsidiaries RemFE 38 = (96,244)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REXKFARS
ACTIVITIES FHE (1,234,875) (928,769)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
New bank borrowings raised FRIRITIEE 2,681,916 1,847,359
Repayment of bank borrowings BRBRITHE (2,147,486) (1,324,323)
Dividends paid on ordinary shares BT RS (840,000) (1,020,000)
Interest and other finance charges paid AR EREMFIEE A (100,052) (72,997)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B {7 3E1 Mgz 2 1% &, (9,148) (10,120)
Consideration paid for acquisition of U BE—FE B A RIZESN
additional interest in a subsidiary BT 2R E = (1,609)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING BMEZEBFTARS
ACTIVITIES FHE (414,770) (681,686)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH B4 RIRELZEEH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BMORLD)FE 563,148 (85,512)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FzREeREE
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR %fEEE 1,982,571 2,039,662
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXEHTE
RATE CHANGES 56,955 28,421
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRzBEERES
AT THE END OF THE YEAR, ZEEH > DRTT
REPRESENTING BANK HEHRRRE
BALANCES AND CASH 2,602,674 1,982,571
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE TSR AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2011 2 —FE——F+ - A =+—HIFFZ

1. GENERAL 1. —gaEp

The Company was incorporated and registered as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the main board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its immediate parent company is Jamplan
(BVI) Ltd., a limited liability company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands and its ultimate holding company
is Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited (“KCHL”), a
company which is an exempted company with limited
liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its shares
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the section
headed “Corporate Information” on pages 2 to 3.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi
(“RMB”) and the consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”), which
the management of the Company considered is more
beneficial for the users of the consolidated financial
statements.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 47.

AARERERESFMERLTERA R
BHREZBRAR  HRONEBHER
SBRAR([BRM)ERLET - ARQ
Az BEEB&AF AJamplan (BVI) Ltd. * %
RAR—FKRRBREZHSTMK LA
FRAR - MARRZEEIERA R AEE
EIEB(T#EBELT])  ZRRAE—FTR
FERSIMKR W ERE 2 BERAR -
HBRMDRB R ER £ o AR B3
BELEZEFMI MU NEEIEIA
BIER—E R -

ARRMNEEESARE(TARE]) -
RAMBHRRAET(TETD 2% &
ARAEEEBRBUILBHES M BRERNE
REEEED -

RRRRRERERAR - EXZWE LA
ZEZEIEHIAMFTAT o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2011 #Z —F——4#+_-A=+—HIFFZF

62

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following

new and revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong

Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

Amendments to HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs
issued in 2010

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) Related party disclosures

Amendments to HKAS 32 Classification of rights
issues

Prepayments of a minimum
funding requirement

Amendments to
HK(FRIC) - INT 14

HK(IFRIC) — INT 19 Extinguishing financial
liabilities with equity
instruments

The application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and positions for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 Bl &SRR MiaE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 # & - F——%F+ - =+—HI - F/Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. FEAHERKBITEEHEH
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING WMEA([EEBMERFAED )
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued) (#&)

The Group has not early applied the following new and AEEVERFERUTEBEMBEBEKE

revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

Amendments to HKFRS Disclosures — Transfers of

7 and HKFRS 9

financial assets'
Disclosures — Offsetting financial

BEFTE B R BB IERRAER -

ERERBERERNE TR RE-BREREE

BRI RBAMBERR
HERIFEO5R 2 B3]

RE-BHEREE

assets and financial liabilities? ke AR
Mandatory effective date of BRI RRAERE
HKFRS 9 and transition FRBEEREDN
disclosures? 58 4 4 A e
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments? BAEVERRERFE ST AS
HKFRS 10 Consolidated financial BRUEHRRERNEI0N SKAMBRE?
statements?
HKFRS 11 Joint arrangements? BEIISARENEIS KRAZH
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other BAEPBRRENE12S BEREHTERN
entities? B2
HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement? BAPBERENE13F LT EH22
Amendments to Presentation of items of other EREHENE1F 2 Hu2mkEEE 2
HKAS 1 comprehensive incomes 15T | 7Rs
Amendments to Deferred tax — Recovery of ERQHENEI2Ry EEHE-KE
HKAS 12 underlying assets? &3] HEEE
HKAS 19 (as revised Employee benefits? BBEGHERFE195 EERFI]

(
in 2011)
HKAS 27 (as revised
)
(

Separate financial statements?

(2B ——FEE7)

BRGHEAER (=T BUBBHRER

in 2011 ——FBIERT)
HKAS 28 (as revised Investments in associates and BBETENE2SHR(ZT REEAFAIK
in 2011) joint ventures? ——FEEE]) BELEIRA?
Amendments to Offsetting financial assets and BB ERIE325 EHEBEER
HKAS 32 financial liabilities® o H FREME

HK(FRIC) - INT 20

Stripping costs in the production
phase of a surface mine2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.

BE(ERPBRRERNZD HRREEERRD

BZEE)-REF20R

w .

AR o

HIBRA A

RSk EH iz Rth 2 FEHRH

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 2 R-T—=F—A— B EERBZFEEHRH

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015. 3 E%‘g;%*ﬁi*ﬁ! — A E R R 2 2 HR

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012. 4 E%‘g;%*:i*ﬁ — A E R R 2 2 HR

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012, 5 E%‘g;%*:itﬁ! — A E R R 2 2 HR

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. 6 E%‘gééfmifﬁl — A E R R 2 2 HR
R e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 B &SRR MiaE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 #ZE - F——%F+ - H=+—HI - F/Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED FERIEREEIT2ERBUKH
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING WMEA([EEBMERFAED )
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued) (4&)
Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures - ERMKARERETHR 25T
Transfers of financial assets E-EHIESHMEE
The amendments to HKFRS 7 increase the disclosure BBV ERRERE TR ASFTIEINS ke d
requirements for transactions involving transfers of REEEZENTINPERT - 2S51E5]
financial assets. These amendments are intended to EERREREERNEEMERAREZ
provide greater transparency around risk exposures when EBE—TRENFBERRAER  Ea®
a financial asset is transferred but the transferor retains SAERIEAE « 2B IMERNZH
some level of continuing exposure in the asset. The AL ENE EEE I E D M EH #
amendments also require disclosures where transfers of & o
financial assets are not evenly distributed throughout the
period.
The Directors anticipate that the application of the EE1EH  EAEBMISHRENFTHE
amendments to HKFRS 7 will affect the Group’s Bl erEREB SRS RHEEE
disclosures regarding transfers of financial assets in the B -
future.
Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting financial EBDEREIR2HR 2155 EH
assets and financial liabilities and amendments THEENRESRABEREEBUKS
to HKFRS 7 Disclosures - Offsetting financial WERSETE BT HE-EHES
assets and financial liabilities MEERECRAE
The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify existing application EB S ERFE I (BB S H BN
issues relating to the offsetting requirements. Specifically, HEMNIRABEARNE - FR-  Z58:]
the amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has A B AT A RRER AT | R R E IR
a legally enforceable right of set-off” and “simultaneous FEE IHRE -
realisation and settlement”.
The amendments to HKFRS 7 require entities to B EERRERE T BT E A
disclose information about rights of offset and related AT EFREEE HEIRETHET
arrangements (such as collateral posting requirements) for Mot T A RE BEEER RE@ELE
financial instruments under an enforceable master netting (KB RRHATE ) MEES -
agreement or similar arrangement.
The amended offsetting disclosures are required for SIEFTHREREREER _Z—=4—A8
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 — A AR FBREE R R &% EFE
and interim periods within those annual periods. The FRA R E AR ER - ATA ] &t e 2R
disclosures should also be provided retrospectively for MERINEEIEE - A Bog:tE
all comparative periods. However, the amendments to B3R 2T N —E—NFE—F—H
HKAS 32 are not effective until annual periods beginning A BB FERRAEY - WEBPE
on or after 1 January 2014, with retrospective application ==
required.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 Bl &SRR MiaE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 # & - F——%F+ - =+—HI - F/Z

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets.
HKFRS 9 amended in 2010 includes the requirements for
the classification and measurement of financial liabilities
and for derecognition.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as follows:

HKFRS 9 requires all recognised financial assets that
are within the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial instruments:
Recognition and measurement” to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically,
debt investments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows,
and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost
at the end of subsequent accounting periods. All other
debt investments and equity investments are measured
at their fair values at the end of subsequent reporting
periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make
an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes
in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held
for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

The most significant effect of HKFRS 9 regarding the
classification and measurement of financial liabilities
relates to the presentation of changes in the fair value of a
financial liability (designated as at fair value through profit
or loss) attributable to changes in the credit risk of that
liability.

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS 9
in future may have significant impact on the amounts
reported in respect of the Group’s financial assets.
The application of HKFRS 9 will affect the classification
and measurement of the Group’s available-for-sale
investments but do not expect the application of HKFRS
9 will have a material effect on the financial liabilities and
other financial assets of the Group.

ERFBEREET 2EBHIEH
HEA(TERHBRFERD )
(#)

ERMBRHREAFSR SEMIA
R-ZTAFREOEAN G HHREAS
ORI ANEHEREAES BRI BN
e R-E-TFEEINBEBREERE
AIFORME T HERMA BN A ERGHEN
REHEIL RO ©

B AV KR RAERIE A £ EAR E a0
T

BHEVBRRENESTRTE  BESFE
AIF3RI M TE : RREHBER
HPTA O R T R EENERIZEH AR
HNFEE - RREME - AEERRLG
ERERMDEFRAFENEBRE - &
BEEMRAXNHREEREZRNAER
MEMVERERVEHRE - —REN
HEMS A RSNEHERAHNE -
A EMEBIRE RRARERREEN
BEPRERBRAFEE - dtHh - R
BERBMERRERFN - BREAELT
AREREE  REMEEKRATZEIE
AERE (WIFHER 5 ) R FENERE
B EERBRAEENERRESR -

EBOTS MR BN SRS EH 5
R BERHOBATED AL REBGET
BATEEBREET8)NATEEBDY
25 MAMATENEBRHAZEE
ol HRRE ML -

BB ARERTBVHHERERE
HAREHARENEREEZRNETHE
BREATE - FREEVHHRENE
FRFEAEEAHOEREND BN
B T TEHRA RN ISR RENFNR
SHAKENEREBEINEMEREER
REAFE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #&
For the year ended 31 December 2011 #ZE - F——%F+ - H=+—HI - F/Z

66

d -

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and revised Standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures
In June 2011, a package of five standards on
consolidation, joint arrangements, associates and
disclosures was issued, including HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11,
HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) and HKAS 28 (as
revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are described
below.

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 “Consolidated
and separate financial statements” that deal with
consolidated financial statements and HK (SIC) — INT 12
“Consolidation — Special purpose entities”. HKFRS 10
includes a new definition of control that contains three
elements: (a) power over an investee, (b) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee, and (c) the ability to use its power over the
investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.
Extensive guidance has been added in HKFRS 10 to deal
with complex scenarios.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 “Interests in joint ventures”
and HK (SIC) — INT 13 “Jointly controlled entities — Non-
monetary contributions by venturers”. HKFRS 11 deals
with how a joint arrangement of which two or more parties
have joint control should be classified. Under HKFRS 11,
joint arrangements are classified as joint operations or
joint ventures, depending on the rights and obligations of
the parties to the arrangements. In contrast, under HKAS
31, there are three types of joint arrangements: jointly
controlled entities, jointly controlled assets and jointly
controlled operations.
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BB ERAR YRE

ERFIEREET 2EBHER
BEA(TERMBRFERD )
(#)

HEZRE BELAARKE
B 48 AR B RT 22 A
—RIBMES  HARH BEDAR
BREOTEENER T~ —FAAH
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and revised Standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures
(continued)

In addition, joint ventures under HKFRS 11 are required to
be accounted for using the equity method of accounting,
whereas jointly controlled entities under HKAS 31 can be
accounted for using the equity method of accounting or
proportionate accounting.

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable
to entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint
arrangements, associates and/or unconsolidated
structured entities. In general, the disclosure requirements
in HKFRS 12 are more extensive than those in the current
standards.

These five standards are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Earlier application
is permitted provided that all of these five standards are
applied early at the same time.

The Directors anticipate that these five standards will be
adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the annual period beginning 1 January 2013. The
application of these five standards may have significant
impact on amounts reported in the consolidated
financial statements. The application of HKFRS 10 may
result in the Group no longer consolidating some of its
investees, and consolidating investees that were not
previously consolidated. However, the Directors have
not yet performed a detailed analysis of the impact of the
application of these Standards and hence have not yet
quantified the extent of the impact.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement

HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for
fair value measurements and disclosures about fair
value measurements. The Standard defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and
requires disclosures about fair value measurements.
The scope of HKFRS 13 is broad; it applies to both
financial instrument items and non-financial instrument
items for which other HKFRSs require or permit fair
value measurements and disclosures about fair value
measurements, except in specified circumstances. In
general, the disclosure requirements in HKFRS 13 are
more extensive than those in the current standards. For
example, quantitative and qualitative disclosures based
on the three-level fair value hierarchy currently required
for financial instruments only under HKFRS 7 “Financial
instruments: Disclosures” will be extended by HKFRS 13
to cover all assets and liabilities within its scope.

HKFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The Directors anticipate that HKFRS 13 will be adopted
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
annual period beginning 1 January 2013 and that the
application of the new Standard may affect the amounts
reported in the consolidated financial statements and
result in more extensive disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of items
of other comprehensive income

The amendments to HKAS 1 retain the option to present
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in either
a single statement or in two separate but consecutive
statements. However, the amendments to HKAS 1
require additional disclosures to be made in the other
comprehensive income section such that items of other
comprehensive income are grouped into two categories:
(a) items that will not be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss; and (b) items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are
met. Income tax on items of other comprehensive income
is required to be allocated on the same basis.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012. The
presentation of items of other comprehensive income
will be modified accordingly when the amendments are
applied in the future accounting periods.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax -
Recovery of underlying assets

The amendments to HKAS 12 provide an exception to
the general principles in HKAS 12 that the measurement
of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities should
reflect the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the entity expects to recover the carrying
amount of an asset. Specifically, under the amendments,
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model in accordance with HKAS 40 “Investment
property” are presumed to be recovered through sale
for the purposes of measuring deferred taxes, unless the
presumption is rebutted in certain circumstances.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax -
Recovery of underlying assets (continued)

The amendments to HKAS 12 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012. In the
opinion of the Directors, the application of HKAS 12
may result in a decrease in the profit for the year and an
increase in the deferred tax liabilities at the end of the
reporting period as a result of additional deferred tax
provisions on land appreciation taxes in relation to the
Group’s investment properties located in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) presuming these investment
properties are to be recovered through sales. However,
the Directors have not yet performed a detailed analysis
of the impact of the application of the amendments and
hence have not yet quantified the extent of the impact.

The Directors anticipate that the application of the
other new and revised standards, amendments or
interpretations will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment
properties and certain financial instruments, which are
measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition and up to
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members of the
Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, incomes and
expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to
non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance (effective from
1 January 2010 onwards).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and
the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i)
derecognises the assets (including any goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the
date when control is lost, (ii) derecognises the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interests in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost (including any
components of other comprehensive income attributable
to them), and (iii) recognises the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest, with any resulting difference being
recognise as a gain or loss in profit or loss attributable to
the Group. When assets of the subsidiary are carried at
revalued amounts or fair values and the related cumulative
gain or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity, the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings
as specified by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39
“Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement”
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or
assets related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 “Income taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee
benefits” respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based
payment” at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-
current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations” are measured in accordance with that
Standard.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss
as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation
may be initially measured either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on
a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value
or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another
Standard.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any, and
is presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the cash-generating units (or groups
of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. IE&HEX®)
(continued)
Goodwill (continued) BmEE)
A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been EESEHNBCREEEENTFRNZ
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more BUERRBEREDRRERETERBE

frequently whenever there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in
a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets
of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwiill
is recognised directly in profit or loss in the consolidated
income statement. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control
over those policies.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, investments in associates are initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associates. When the Group’s share of losses of an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in that associate,
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of an associate
recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss
with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of assets” as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its
carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

Upon disposal of an associate that results in the Group
losing significant influence over that associate, any
retained investment is measured at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition as a financial asset in accordance with HKAS
39. The difference between the previous carrying amount
of the associate attributable to the retained interest and
its fair value is included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on
the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain
or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) when it loses significant influence over that
associate.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts
receivables for goods sold and services provided in the
normal course of business, net of discounts, returns and
sales related taxes.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and title has passed at which time all
the following conditions are satisfied:

° the Group has transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods;

° the Group retains neither continuing managerial

involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods

sold;
° the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
o it is probable that the economic benefits associated

with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of
the transaction can be measured reliably.

Specifically, revenue from sale of properties in the
ordinary course of business is recognised when the
respective properties have been completed and delivered
to the buyers. Deposits and instalments received from
purchasers prior to meeting the above criteria for revenue
recognition are included in the consolidated statement of
financial position under current liabilities.

Service income for drilling services is recognised when
services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the amount of income can be measured
reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEeHBE %)

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Rental income and licence fee income are recognised on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease
and licence agreement.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment properties are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the
year in which the item is derecognised.

Properties held for development
Properties held for development for sale in the future are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costs relating to the development of properties,
comprising prepaid lease payments for land and
development costs, are included in properties held for
development until such time when they are completed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Properties, plant and equipment

Properties, plant and equipment including leasehold land
and buildings held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purpose (other
than properties, plant and equipment under construction
as describe below) are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of properties, plant and equipment (other than
properties, plant and equipment under construction)
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Properties, plant and equipment in the course of
construction for production, supply or administrative
purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such
properties, plant and equipment are classified to the
appropriate categories of properties, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEeiHBE s

(continued)

Properties, plant and equipment (continued)

If an item of properties, plant and equipment becomes
an investment property because its use has changed as
evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of
that item at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in property
revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement
of the asset, the relevant revaluation reserve will be
transferred directly to retained profits.

An item of properties, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of properties, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.

Licenced properties, plant and equipment
Licenced properties, plant and equipment (included in
properties, plant and equipment) held to earn licence
fee income are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Depreciation is recognised as to write off the cost of items
of licenced properties, plant and equipment less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprise direct materials and where
applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads
that have been incurred in bringing the inventory to
their present location and condition. Cost is calculated
using the weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale.

Licenced inventories

Licenced inventories shown as other non-current assets
in the consolidated statement of financial position are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimate costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Impairment losses on assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect
of goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment losses on assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect
of goodwill) (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases and licence fee
income are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease and licence
agreement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
asset are consumed. Benefits received and receivables
as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the
lease term on a straight-line basis. Contingent rentals
arising under operating leases are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically,
the minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values
of the leasehold interests in the land element and building
element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments” in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is amortised over the lease term on a
straight-line basis. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease
and accounted for as properties, plant and equipment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchange prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise, except for exchange differences arising
on a monetary item that forms part of the Company’s
net investment in a foreign operation, in which case,
such exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity and
will be reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal
of the foreign operation. Exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value are included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period.
income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests
as appropriate).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss. In addition, in relation
to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of that operation and
retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of the reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in equity under the heading of translation
reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sales, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. IEEHBE#)
(continued)
Government grants B ER

Government grants are not recognized until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognizes as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognized as a deduction
from the carrying amount of the relevant asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
plans, state-managed retirement benefit schemes and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated income statement because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and an associate, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
be reversed in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 # & - F——%F+ - H=+—HI-F/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. IEEHBE#)
(continued)
Taxation (continued) BIEE)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the current and deferred tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises
from the initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position when
the group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into (i) loans
and receivables, (i) held-to-maturity investments, and
(iii) available-for-sale financial assets. The classification
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instruments. The net gain or loss for
available-for-sale investments excludes any dividend or
interest earned.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables (including trade and other
receivables, bills receivables, amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries, and bank balances and cash) are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any identified impairment losses. (See accounting policy
on impairment of financial assets below).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 Bl &SRR MiaE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 # & - F——%F+ - =+—HI - F/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. IESHHE®)
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SRTHEE)
Financial assets (continued) B EEE)
Held-to-maturity investments HERIHRE

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the Group’s management has the positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity. Subsequent
to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses (see
accounting policy on impairment of financial assets
below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated or not classified as, loans and
receivables or held-to-maturity investments.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period. Changes in fair
value are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in investment revaluation reserve, until
the financial asset is disposed of or is determined to
be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in investment revaluation reserve
is reclassified to profit or loss (See accounting policy on
impairment of financial assets below).

Investments in debt instruments may be reclassified out
of available-for-sale financial assets to held-to-maturity
investments if the entity has the intent and ability to hold
the assets to maturity. The financial assets reclassified
from available-for-sale financial assets should be
reclassified at its fair value at the date of reclassification.
Any gain or loss already recognised in profit or loss
should not be reversed. The fair value of the financial asset
on the date of reclassification becomes its new amortised
cost.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets (continued)

Any previous gain or loss on available-for-sale financial
assets that have been recognised in other comprehensive
income should be amortised to profit or loss over the
remaining life of the investment using the effective interest
method in the case of instruments with a fixed maturity.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably are measured at cost less any
identified impairment losses at the end of the reporting
period (See accounting policy on impairment of financial
assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets
have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of
impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include significant financial difficulty
of the issuer or counterparty; or breach of contract,
such as default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; or it becomes probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or the
disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment
on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment
for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s
past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past
the credit period and observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable
is considered uncollectable, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered
to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss in the period in which the
impairment takes place.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses were
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed through profit or loss. Any increase
in fair value subsequent to impairment loss is recognised
directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in investment revaluation reserve.

For available-for-sale debt investments, impairment losses
are subsequently reversed if an increase in the fair value
of the investment can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the recognition of impairment loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instrument issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds net of direct issue costs.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. IESHHE®)
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SRTHEE)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued) BEERERIAE)
Effective interest method BRI E

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

The Group’s financial liabilities at FVTPL comprise
financial liabilities held for trading. A financial liability is
classified as held for trading if:

o it has been incurred principally for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near future; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value arising on remeasurement
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any interest paid on the financial liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, bills payables, amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries and bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair values at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated
and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the
timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the
nature of the hedge relationship.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are
deemed as financial assets held for trading or financial
liabilities held for trading and are classified as current
assets or current liabilities.

Hedge accounting

The Group uses derivative financial instruments (i.e.
interest rate swap contracts) to hedge its exposure
against changes in interest rate on bank borrowings.
At the inception of the hedging relationship the Group
documents the relationship between the hedging
instrument and hedged item, along with its risk
management objectives and its strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception
of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group
documents whether the hedging instrument that is used
in a hedging relationship is highly effective in offsetting
changes in cash flows of the hedged item.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TE&:HBE 2
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SRTHZ)
Hedge accounting (continued) $ihaEsk (&)
Cash flow hedge B E T

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualified as cash
flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in hedging reserve. The gain
or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as other gain or losses.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity (hedging reserve)
are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when
the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss, in the
same line of the consolidated income statement as the
recognised hedged item.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group
revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it
no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or
loss recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and
is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately
recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction
is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss
accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement and recognises an associated
liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirely, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or expire. The difference between the carrying amount
of financial liabilities derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to directors and employees of the
Group

The fair value of services received determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted at the
grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding increase in the share
option reserve.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss, such that the cumulative expense reflects
the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to
share option reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to accumulated profits.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the Directors are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumption are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying entity’s
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the entity’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in consolidated financial statements.

Legal claim (note 42)

The Group is involved in legal proceeding as disclosed
in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.
Management has evaluated and assessed the claims
made against the Group based on legal advice received
and information presently available and are of the view
that the Group has grounds to successfully contest the
claims. Accordingly, no provision and accrual are made in
the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying entity’s
accounting policies (continued)

Held-to-maturity investments (note 21)

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s held-to-maturity
investments in the light of its capital maintenance and
liquidity requirements and have confirmed the Group’s
positive intention and ability to hold those assets to
maturity. The carrying amount of the held-to-maturity
investments is approximately HK$271,434,000 (2010: nil).
Details of these assets are set out in note 21.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of properties, plant and equipment
(note 18)

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives, residual value and related depreciation
charges for its properties, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the
actual useful lives of properties, plant and equipment of
similar nature and functions. Management will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are expected
to be shorter than previously estimated, or it will write-off
or write-down obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold. Change in these estimations
may have a material impact on the results of the Group.
The Group tests whether properties, plant and equipment
have suffered any impairment in accordance with its
accounting policy whenever there is any indication that
the assets may have been impaired. The recoverable
amounts of properties, plant and equipment have been
determined based on discounted cash flow method.
The Directors consider that the recoverable amount
exceeded the carrying amount of the properties, plant
and equipment and therefore, no impairment was
recognised at 31 December 2011. As at 31 December
2011, the carrying amounts of properties, plant and
equipment are approximately HK$5,212,256,000 (2010:
HK$5,425,825,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated impairment of trade receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss,
the Group takes into consideration the estimation of
future cash flows. The amount of the impairment loss
is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition). Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2011, the
carrying amount of trade receivables is approximately
HK$3,026,009,000 (2010: HK$2,857,375,000), net of
allowance for doubtful debts of HK$178,928,000 (2010:
HK$173,046,000).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of the bank
borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents, and equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, reserves and accumulated profits
as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-
annual basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. In the opinion of the Directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption
of existing debt.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. €®MIT A
6a. Categories of financial instruments 6a. TEMIEEH
2011 2010
—B——fF —T—TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Financial assets MEEE
Loans and receivables (including B &EWEEZ(BFERE &
cash and cash equivalents) HeEEHEE)
— trade and other receivables - B 5 REMBUERR 3,152,371 2,925,530
— bills receivables - R 1,592,009 1,126,077
— amounts due from fellow - W R RKB A RFIE
subsidiaries 381,817 456,259
— bank balances and cash - iR RIRE 2,602,674 1,982,571
7,728,871 6,490,437
Held-to-maturity investments HERRHRE 271,434 -
Available-for-sale investments AHHERE 1,060,507 730,751
Financial liabilities BEasE
FVTPL - Held for trading BEEE B AT EAELR - 33,493
Derivative instruments in HeEEE PR
designated hedge accounting PTETA
relationships - 9,838
Amortised cost BEHAA
— trade and other payables - B 5 RHMPERIRR 1,233,932 977,663
— bills payables - [ER IR 207,168 403,417
— amounts due to fellow - ENRRKBARFIE
subsidiaries 31,061 28,012
— bank borrowings - IRITIEE 4,144,433 3,516,900
5,616,594 4,925,992
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, held-to-maturity
investments, bills receivables, bank balances
and cash, available-for-sale investments, FVTPL-
held for trading, derivative financial instruments
in designated hedge accounting relationships,
amounts due from (to) fellow subsidiaries, trade
and other payables, bills payables and bank
borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market
risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and equity
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency sales and purchases, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. Approximately 17%
(2010: 21%) of the Group’s sales are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entity making the sale,
whilst almost 29% (2010: 39%) of purchases
are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the relevant group entities.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
liabilities at the end of reporting period are
disclosed in respective notes. The management
continuously monitors the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging foreign
currency risk should the need arise.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation
against foreign currencies of United States dollars,
Japanese Yen and Hong Kong dollars. The
following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
10% (2010: 10%) increase and decrease in RMB
against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% (2010:
10%) represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
end of reporting period for a 10% (2010: 10%)
change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes trade and other receivables, bill
receivables, available-for-sale investments, held-
to-maturity investments, bank balances, trade
and other payables, bills payable as well as bank
borrowings. A positive number below indicates an
increase in post-tax profit for the year where RMB
strengthen 10% (2010: 10%) against the relevant
currency. For a 10% (2010: 10%) weakening of
RMB against the relevant currency, there would
be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax
profit for the year.
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2011 2010

—E——F —E-FF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHT

United States dollars £ (136,763) (109,093)
Japanese Yen HIEl 2,281 7,180
Hong Kong dollars BT 232,672 170,248
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate
risk is mainly in relation to variable-rate bank
borrowings (see note 34 for details of these
borrowings). In relation to these variable-rate
borrowings, the Group aims at keeping certain
proportion of its borrowings at fixed rates. In order
to achieve this result, the Group had entered into
interest rate swap contracts to hedge against part
of its exposure to potential variability of cash flows
arising from changes in variable rate (see note
33 for details). The management continuously
monitors interest rate fluctuation and will consider
further hedging interest rate risk should the need
arise.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk
management section of this note. The Group’s
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly related to
the fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR?”) arising from the Group’s bank
borrowings.

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to
cash flow interest rate risk due to the fluctuation
of the prevailing market interest rate on bank
balances. The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk relates primarily to its fixed-
rate short term bank deposits and listed bond
securities with fixed coupon interest. The Directors
consider the Group’s exposure of the short-term
bank deposits to interest rate risk is not significant
as interest bearing bank balances are within short
maturity period and fluctuation of savings interest
rates on bank balance is minimal.
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6.

(\\p«

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for interest
bearing bank balances and bank borrowings as
well as interest rate swap contracts at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2010: 50
basis points) increase or 10 basis points (2010: 10
basis points) decrease are used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonable possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2010: 50
basis points) higher and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s:

o post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2011 would decrease by
HK$18,344,000 and HK$3,729,000 (2010:
decrease by HK$13,969,000 and nil) as a
result of the Group’s exposure to interest
rates on its variable-rate borrowings and
changes in the fair value of available-
for-sale listed bond securities with fixed
coupon interest respectively; and

° the credit side investment revaluation
reserve as at 31 December 2010 would
decrease by HK$25,422,000 (2011: nil)
mainly as a result of the changes in the
fair value of available-for-sale listed bond
securities with fixed coupon interest; and
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

° the debit side hedging reserve for the year
ended 31 December 2010 would decrease
by HK$1,967,000 (2011: nil) mainly as a
result of the changes in the fair value of
interest rate swap contracts.

If interest rate had been 10 basis points (2010:
10 basis points) lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s:

o post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2011 would increase by
HK$3,669,000 and HK$755,000 (2010:
increase by HK$2,794,000 and nil) as
result of the Group’s exposure to interest
rates on its variable-rate borrowings and
changes in the fair value of available-
for-sale listed bond securities with fixed
coupon interest respectively; and

° the credit side investment revaluation
reserve as at 31 December 2010 would
increase by HK$2,631,000 (2011: nil)
mainly as a result of the changes in the
fair value of available-for-sale listed bond
securities with fixed coupon interests; and

o the debit side hedging reserve for the year
ended 31 December 2010 would increase
by HK$393,000 (2011: nil) mainly as a
result of the changes in the fair value of
interest rate swap contracts.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EWMIB#)
6b. Financial risk management objectives 6b. BXEMEEEERKEE)
and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued) TG R (Z)
Equity price risk RAELE B

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its investments in listed equity securities.
The management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risk profiles and the Group has a team to monitor
the price risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the
end of the reporting period.

If the prices of the respective available-for-sale
equity listed securities, which have been impaired
at the end of the reporting period, had been
10% higher, post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2011 would increase by approximately
HK$40,000 (2010: nil) as a result of the change in
fair value of these available-for-sale investments.

There would be an equal and opposite effect
on post-tax profit for the year if the prices of the
respective available-for-sale equity listed securities,
which have been impaired, had been 10% lower.

If the prices of the respective available-for-sale
equity listed securities, which have not been
impaired at the end of the reporting period, had
been 10% higher, the debit side investment
revaluation reserve at 31 December 2011 would
decrease by approximately HK$63,713,000 (2010:
credit side investment revaluation reserve increase
by approximately HK$14,668,000) as a result of
the change in fair value of these available-for-sale
investments.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

There would be an equal and opposite effect on
investment revaluation reserve if the prices of the
respective available-for-sale equity listed securities,
which have not been impaired, had been 10%
lower.

Commodity price risk

The Group was exposed to commodity price
risk from the outstanding commodity forward
contracts at 31 December 2010. The management
considers that the price risks of these derivative
instruments are not significant to the Group.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
the event of the counterparties’ failure to perform
their obligations at the end of the reporting period
in relation to each class of recognised financial
assets is the carrying amount of those assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
Directors have delegated the management to be
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Directors
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk in relation to bank deposits and
bank balances is considered minimal as such
amounts are placed with banks with good credit
ratings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 B &SRR MiaE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 #ZE - F——%F+ - H=+—HI - F/Z

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. E®IAw®

and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has no significant concentration of
credit risk on trade and other receivables, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties
and customers other than group entities. However,
the Group is exposed to the concentration on
geographic and industry segment of the PRC and
laminate industry, respectively. At 31 December
2011, approximately 92% (2010: 92%) of the
Group’s trade and other receivables are arising
from the PRC and all are from the laminates
industry segment.

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries are
concentrated on a few counterparties. However,
the credit risk on amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries is limited because of the strong
financial background of the fellow subsidiaries.

At 31 December 2011, the Group has
concentration risk on its available-for-sale
investments with 43.7% (2010: nil) and 25.6%
(2010: 55.2%) of the total available-for-sale
investments concentrated in one (2010: nil) equity
security listed in Hong Kong and one (2010: three)
listed bond security issued by one (2010: two)
listed issuers in Hong Kong, respectively. The
Group’s available-for-sale listed bond securities
are exposed to credit risk due to the default
of repayment by the bond issuers. However,
the Directors considered that the credit risk on
these investments are limited as the listed bond
securities were secured by certain assets of the
issuers and issued by issuers in Hong Kong with
strong financial background and assigned with
high credit ratings by international credit rating
agencies.

11 O Annual Report 2011 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #&
For the year ended 31 December 2011 # & - F——%F+ - =+—HI - F/Z

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

At 31 December 2011, the Group has
concentration risk on its held-for-maturity
investments with 59.1% (2010: nil) of the total held
for maturity concentrated in a listed bond security
issued by a listed issuer in Hong Kong. The
Group’s held-for-maturity listed bond securities
are exposed to credit risk due to the default of
repayment by the bond issuers. However, the
Directors considered that the credit risk on these
investments are limited as the listed bonds were
secured by certain assets of the issuers and issued
by issuers in Hong Kong with strong financial
background and assigned with high credit ratings
by international credit rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitor and maintain a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a
significant source of liquidity. At 31 December
2011, the Group has available unutilised
bank borrowing facilities of approximately
HK$5,016,160,000 (2010: HK$6,490,508,000).

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates
for other non-derivative financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4

For the year ended 31 December 2011 #ZE - F——%F+ - H=+—HI - F/Z

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EWMITE)
6b. Financial risk management objectives 6b. BXEMEEEERKEE)
and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESERE)
The tables include both interest and principal KERBENNERASESRE ° 4
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are FMERAZE MRS EIRHRE
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived B R E B 2RISR RETE -
from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting
period.
In addition, the following tables detail the Group’s AN s TREAFMAEEGTESRT
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial B REES DN - fmElszkig
instruments. The tables have been drawn up FIikiEE BAFHEAENITES B
based on the undiscounted contractual net cash TAZEFREOREORAN) R
(inflows) and outflows on derivative instruments HFEE - AEBITESRTAZR
that settle on a net basis. The liquidity analysis for FEEOMAEGHNEPAAREE
the Group’s derivative financial instruments are £ BERENESIEEBRAES HDH
prepared based on the contractual maturities as B THRITETABRSREREE
the management considers that the contractual BEE -
maturities are essential for an understanding of the
timing of the cash flows of derivatives.
Liquidity and interest risk tables TEBE L RFIFE R
Weighted Over Over Over
average  Ondemand 3 months 1year 2years Total
effectie  orlessthan butnotmore butnotmore butnotmore undiscounted Carrying
interestrate ~ 3months  than1year than2years than5years  cash flows amount
nETs BERS  ZEANE -EME @ENL i)
ERH= cfifn ETEE-F [ETEAREF ETEERE RERESR REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TR TR TR TER
At 31 December 2011 REZ-—F+Zf=+-8
Non-derivative fnancial fabilties FITEREE
Trade and other payables BAREMERER - 1,233,932 - - - 1233932 1,283,032
Blls payables ERZE - 207,168 - - - w188 207,168
Amounts due to felow subsidiaries ~ [EfTR ZHBATZE - 31,061 - - - 31,061 31,061
Bank borrowings - variable rate BhEE-28 14 43446 630,762 850445 2820728 4345376 4,144,433
1,515,607 630,762 859,445 2,820,723 5,817,537 5,616,594

BB ERAR YRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #r & B iR R Mzt
For the year ended 31 December 2011 #Z —F——4#+_-A=+—HIFFZF

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EMT R
6b. Financial risk management objectives 6b. H¥EMEEEERBEE)
and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESREE
Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued) REE % R FF G2 ()
Weighted QOver Over Over
average On demand 3 months 1 year 2 years Total
effective orlessthan  butnotmore  butnotmore  butnotmore  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate Imonths  thantyear  than2years  thanSyears  cashflows amount

mER BB ZEANE -EAL BB Gt

ERiEx  ZEARN BRERE-F PTEERF ANEERE NERSAE FEf

% HKG000  HKSO00  HKBOOD  HKSO000  HKSO0  HKSO00D
TRT T TAL ThT THT ThT

At 31 December 2010 REZ-FF+A=+-8

Non-aerivative financial labilties FEHREE

Trade and other payables BARAMERER - 977,663 - - - 977,663 977,663
Bl payables [EfZE - 403417 - - - MBAT 403417
Amounts due to felow subsidiaries  EfTRZHBATZE - 2,012 - - - 2,012 2,012
Bank borrowings - variable rate FEE-I8 082 47318 1,216,152 7335 1213387 2810212 2604592

Bark borrowings - variable rate hedged  $17(EE - 25,

by interest rate swap contracts I REHA DS 082 121,080 778,565 - - 899,625 892,308

1,077,470 1,994,717 21336 12183387 5118929 4025992

Derivatives - net settlement f4TA-RE%E
Commoty forward contracts BREHAH - 29429 8,499 - - 37928 33,493
Interest rate swap contracts fixgHay - 1840 8,045 - - 10,085 9,838

31,269 16,744 - - 48,013 43,331
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %24 B F& R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2011 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIF FZE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
6c. Fair value
The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined as follows:

° the fair value of financial assets and
financial liabilities with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid
markets are determined with reference to
quoted market bid prices and ask prices
respectively;

° the fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities (including derivative
instruments) is determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis
and relevant pricing models using prices
or rates from observable current market
transactions and dealer quotes for similar
instruments as input.

° the fair value of available-for-sale listed
bond securities is determined based on
valuation techniques using inputs that can
be observed in the market in addition to
unobservable inputs such as credit rating
assigned to the bond.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts
of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost approximate
their fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 Bl &SRR MiaE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 # & - F——%F+ - =+—HI - F/Z

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.

6¢C.

Fair value (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to
initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels
1 to 8 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable.

o Level 1 fair value measurements are those
derived from quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active market for identical assets or
liabilities.

° Level 2 fair value measurements are those
derived from inputs other than quoted
prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices).

° Level 3 fair value measurements are those
derived from valuation techniques that
include inputs for the assets or liabilities
that are not based on observable market

ERMI A%
6c. 2T EE)

RESHBRRRERZAFE
&
TRERER A HEFEN SRR
AAEBZERMTAZON  BER
Sz R FESBEREBEE=
e

« EW UBIEELAR
EERTISHECRERE)
P ATFENE -

. ECE - BERHROHK
B NEERAEEE
(EPRi4) SRIE (B0 & B
Fi18) AT 3 HIH E
B2 ATENE -

. E=% MAMBERMN - &2
EBRARBIARTIS LB
SNHBE(TAERER)
EEMEEXRE  BHA

data (unobservable inputs). FEEE -
At 31 December 2011
R=B-—£+ZA=1-H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£-5 %28 %28 At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Tén TEn Tén
Available-for-sale financial assets AHER AR
Listed equity securities LREES 637,530 - - 637,530
Listed bond securities IhERES - - 271,635 271,635
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #r & B iRk R HizE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 2 —FE——F+ - A =+—HIFFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. E@MI A%
6c. Fair value (continued) 6c. ATEE)
Fair value measurements recognised in the NEEHBRARER 2 AEE
consolidated statement of financial position HEE)
(continued)
At 31 December 2010
R-Z-BE+-A=1-R
Level 1 Level2 Level 3 Total
£-8 F28 =8 aif
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Fin TR Tin T
Avaiable-for-sale financial assets AHHENTEE
Listed equty securities LRSS 146,677 - - 146,677
Listed bond securities SRS - - 403,191 403,191
Financial liabilties at FVTPL BLTES A ERZHEEE
Derivative financial instruments frEeMIA - 33493 - 33,493

Derivative instruments in designated hedge A& TR &3 EE,
accounting relationships ETE - 9,838 - 9,838

1 1 6 Annual Report 2011 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 Bl &SRR MiaE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 # & - F——%F+ - H=+—HI-F/Z

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.

6¢.

Fair value (continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value

SRMIR#)
6c. LT EE)
FEoHUKEEATEFEZEH

measurement of financial assets BE
Listed bond
securities
ErEHESF
HK$’000
FET
At 1 January 2010 RZZE—ZTF—H—H =
Purchases EE 406,664
Total loss in other HivzmElE 2
comprehensive income EigEa (3,473)
At 31 December 2010 N-E—TF+-_A=+—8H 403,191
Disposal HE (54,600)
Reclassification to held-to-maturity BENOBERBERHIKRE
investments (79,064)
Total gain in other Hib 2wz s
comprehensive income Wtz 2,108
At 31 December 2011 WN_E——F+-_A=+—8H 271,635

Included in other comprehensive income is a gain
of HK$2,108,000 (2010: loss of HK$3,473,000)
relate to listed bond securities held at the end of
the reporting period and is reported as changes of
investment revaluation reserve for the year ended
31 December 2011.

RBEREREAFAZLMESRK
#@ 2,108,000 L (=T —ZFF : Fi8
3,473,000 7T) r EWBEEREE-ZE
——F+ A=+ RALFEZHEMBEZE
Wias WAEIR B EhFEFEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 B &SRR MiaE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 #ZE - F——%F+ - H=+—HI - F/Z

7. REVENUE 7. EXH
Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable BEMIEAEBERAEHINEFHEEER
by the Group from the sales of goods, drilling services IR LIRS MR L F R & (FI5E18)
and licence fee income (note 18) provided to outside T & FEUC & %8 - 370 ~ RS RARR
customers, net of discounts, returns and sales related EBIBERTFEE BREMSTTHT -

taxes. Analysis for each year is as follows:

2011 2010
—g——-F  -F-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Sales of: $HE -
Glass epoxy laminates IR IR BB RN 7,807,483 7,492,013
Paper laminates KB INE R 2,662,383 2,886,769
Upstream materials Rt 1,881,718 2,068,056
Others Hi 853,395 608,367
13,204,979 13,055,205
Sales of laminates includes glass epoxy laminates and BINERNOHERERFEGEPEEEXRN
paper laminates manufactured according to specifications T A0 5 S A48, ¢ T A TED AR RN A4 78 8 D AR A 8B
required by customers. Sales of upstream materials o LHEMEMESREEERE  BE
includes sale of copper foil, epoxy resin, glass fabric and IR - WM EMAEQRER - Hihe
bleached kraft paper. Others comprise drilling service, FEREREFPMHERKEERERELNETL
which involves the drilling of holes into the laminates AR7% - SHERFESIE - Bk g
required by customers and sales of specialty resin and EHAE -

other materials and licence fee income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 # & - F——%F+ - =+—HI - F/Z

OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group’s operating and reportable segment have been
identified on the basis of internal management reports
prepared in accordance with accounting policies conform
to HKFRSs, that are regularly reviewed by the executive
directors of the Company, being the chief operating
decision maker of the Group, in order to allocate
resources to segments and to assess their performances.

The executive directors regularly review revenue and
overall operating result derived from sale of goods and
provision of drilling services on an aggregated basis and
consider them as one single operating segment (see note
7 for revenue analysis for major products and services).

Other segment information

The Group principally operates in the PRC (other than
Hong Kong) (country of domicile) with revenue and
profits derived mainly from its operations in the PRC. A
geographical analysis of non-current assets other than
financial instruments and deferred tax assets are not
presented as they are substantially located in the PRC.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
from external customers by geographical location of the
customers:

RE DK

AEBEREDBRETIRTAE B S
WEAN ST BEREREARFNITE
ENEEZIERERREEH DEIEE
B RFEERE LAENEHNEH
SEANREE/EE -

WITEEUARRAREETNRMEE
Sl REHELRENERBEREEXE
WRZRE—RENE - (BRIETHE
RERMRBEXEIN)

Hitb BPE
AEEFEZEBRUNTE(TBREERE)
(REEZPrfEH) - EXBROENGEE
KETFRIER - AR ANEEARE RS
BEMEESRITANMEENIREE) N
ARE - I 2 B DT

RBINBEFEMRRE D 2 EEE %
AT

2011 2010

—EB——F —E—EF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET FAT

PRC (country of domicile) PR (ZANEE[E 2 P ) 12,232,709 12,189,695
Other foreign countries: EHAHMEBIE -

Other Asian countries H b Tm MBIz 800,083 677,683

Europe BN 111,310 112,266

America EM 60,877 75,561

13,204,979 13,055,205
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 B &SRR MiaE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 #ZE - F——%F+ - H=+—HI - F/Z

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 8. REIWw)
Other segment information (continued) HibpER (2)
Revenue from one of the Group’s customers amounted KEEBHEP " BFPFHNEERAE
to HK$2,026,694,000 (2010: HK$2,591,093,000), which 5 2,026,694,000 8 ot ( = T — T F
individually accounted for over 10% of the Group’s 2,591,093,000/8 ) ' (EEEEMF R %
revenue for the year. FHARIB10% ©
9. OTHER INCOME 9. HftlgA
2011 2010
—E2——F ZT—TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHIT
Other income includes: E A ABIE -
Rental income He A 17,036 13,192
Gain on fair value changes of WEWMENTEES 2 W
investment properties 9,300 7,550
Gain on disposal of properties, HEWE  BEK
plant and equipment it 2 W 3,632 -
Interest income 2 WA 27,773 18,230
Interest income from held-to- FHEEIHIEE 2R BHA
maturity investments 20,745 -
Net exchange gain & H a5 12,521 13,197
Dividend income from available-for- A HERE 7 A% S U A
sale investments 19,374 -

10. IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON AVAILABLE-FOR- 10. A#tHEREZREEE
SALE INVESTMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2011, impairment REBE-_T——F+_A=+—HBLFE
loss on available-for-sale investments of HK$1,919,000 W BR—RETRARENATFEEE
(2010: nil) was recognised as a result of significant or S REERERANE - UEREAA—KLEM
prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost of a listed BEHFEH R T EERREKRE MRS RE
equity investment and impairment loss of a listed bond B8 - Bt S EIRE 2 REEE
security because the fair value of the listed bond security is 1,919,0008 T(ZE—TF : &) ©

below its cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 Bl &SRR MiaE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 #Z —F——4#+_-A=+—HIFFZF

11. FINANCE COSTS 11. REHK
2011 2010
—E——F ZTE—TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Interest on bank borrowings wholly AR AER2EEE Y
repayable within five years RITEEFE 89,952 43,347
Interest paid in relation to the interest F| =g 8iA 4 2 FHEAF| B
rate swap contracts 10,100 29,650
100,052 72,997
Less: Amounts capitalised in the B BAEEARBREERAN
cost of qualifying assets BEF A (6,094) (7,752)
93,958 65,245
The weighted average capitalisation rate on funds EESERMETHERNLERESF
borrowed generally is 2.1% per annum (2010: 2.2% per 21%(ZF—TF : §F2.2%) °
annum).
12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FBFHiMxX
2011 2010
—e-—-F&  -T-%F%
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FAT
The amount comprises: FHIEBE
Hong Kong Profits Tax EBMEH
Underprovision in previous years BEFERETR 322 2,313
PRC Enterprise Income Tax A S FTISRIE
Charge for the year REFZRBEZH 174,422 268,427
Deferred taxation EEBTE
Charge (credit) for the year REEZ W (EE)
(note 25) G2 1,906 (957)
176,650 269,783
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %24 B F& R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2011 #ZE - F——%F+ - H=+—HI - F/Z

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 12.
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2010:
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profit.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC

=y ),
B RS T oIk 5 FE SR A% FI A 16.5%
(ZZ—ZF : 16.5%) ZBIKH -

BIEPBECEMESRBE([REMRERH
EDREEMESFRAERIEN  AEEE
FREIRF R BT R 525% ©

subsidiaries is 25%.

Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before

taxation as follows:

AR 2 BIRER B ADSA Z HERINT -

2011 2010
—B——fF —T2F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Profit before taxation B F BT A 1,534,488 2,636,467
Tax charge at the domestic income ~ LAEH TS T % 25%
tax rate of 25% (2010: 25%) (ZF—FF : 26%)5tH 2
(note a) B (Mta) 383,622 659,117
Tax effect of expenses not HEIEmME TARERZ
deductible for tax purpose BB E 13,648 5,948
Tax effect of income not taxable for  BLAIET S BERMUAZ
tax purpose M E (13,322 (56,014)
Underprovision in previous years BAEFERETR 322 2,313
Tax effect of Tax Holiday (note b) R E 2 B 2 (MiEEb) (12,964) (52,211)
Tax effect of tax losses not RERTIEEEZ
recognised BRGEE 5,527 5,168
Utilisation of tax losses previously B L RIRERIIBEE
not recognised (1,847) (1,720)
Effect of different tax rates of PE A B AR,
subsidiaries operating in WEEENE AT
other jurisdictions/areas TRREZZE (9,203) (20,732)
Effect of tax exempted profit (note ¢) FRETEF 2 FE (HizEc) (189,133) (272,086)
Tax expense for the year REE 2 BHFHS 176,650 269,783
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 # & - F——%F+ - =+—HI - F/Z

12.

13.

BB ERAR Y RE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 12. FiBBiMke)
Notes: P
(@) The domestic income tax rate of 25% (2010: 25%) represents (@) BTSRRI R 5% ( Z B —T4F : 25%) 35
the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of which the Group’s REB RIS EEFTEHE 2 P EATEH
operations are substantially based. *o
(o) Pursuant to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, certain (0) RIEHEERARIER - AARETHEN
subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC are exempted from PRC BAT A B ERFEE (BRI (46
Enterprise Income Tax for two years starting from the first profit- ZREEIE) AT ERNER MR
making year in which profits exceed any carried forward tax FTigf - HE=FMEHEER250% ([ %
losses followed by a 50% reduction in the income tax rate in the HH ) - ZEWBRRZAZEHBBN -F
following three years (“Tax Holiday”). The Tax Holiday enjoyed by ——FsZRifEm °
these subsidiaries will expire on or before 2012.
(c) Profits arising from certain subsidiaries of the Company in area (©) RARNRIFFE L EEME 2 & THBAR
other than PRC and HK are exempted from profits tax. FEA 2 im PR R BN FIS T -
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 13. AREERF
2011 2010
—ZT——F T —TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Profit for the year has been arrived AN &35 |2 4% (5T )
at after charging (crediting): LATIER -
Depreciation of properties, ME - BERRBITE
plant and equipment 780,285 751,938
Release of prepaid lease payments  T81+78 & 215 # 6] 8,375 7,180
788,660 759,118
Net exchange gain b 4 e 58
- included in cost of sales —FF ASBERAR (17,223) (16,501)
— included in other income — s AEMUA (12,521) (13,197)
(29,744) (29,698)
Auditor’s remuneration ZEAN N & 3,000 3,000
Cost of inventories sold BEEGFEZKAE 10,827,865 9,763,071
Net impairment loss recognised B SRR IER 2
on trade receivables REEIEFRE (R HFE29)
(see note 29) 5,882 2,452
Loss on fair value change of AmEPAEOATEZS
commodity forward contracts BB (GTASHER )
(included in cost of sales) - 33,493
(Gain) loss on disposal and write off  H & R Hfiss ¥ -
of properties, plant and equipment &= M &2 () EE (3,632) 1,319
Share-based payments LARS A FiE A5 3R 69,052 -
Total staff costs, other than share- 8 T AR42%8
based payments, including (LARD FE AT ZRBRON)
Directors’ emoluments BRESEMe (RME14)
(see note 14) 486,972 415,044
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 14. =Ek{EEME
EMOLUMENTS
(@) Directors’ emoluments (@) ES=M=2
The emoluments paid or payable were as follows: EEM ST
2011 2010
—g——%  —F-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FIT
Salaries and other benefits e hEMETR 13,621 13,992
Contributions to retirement RURERFHEI LR
benefits scheme 569 583
Performance related incentive TYERIAEREFRIE
payment (Note 3) (PFf&E3) 61,351 68,700
Share-based payments LARR R FE A5 3K 44,191 -
Total emoluments DSk 119,732 83,275

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the
Directors were as follows:

ENRENSEREZMENT

Year ended 31 December 2011
BEZ—-F12A=t-HLEE

Cheung  Cheung  Cheung Lam  Cheung Chan
Kwok ~ Kwok  Kwok Ka Ka Sau Liu
Wa  Keung Ping Po Ho Chi Min
FEE @R AT MxE R3O ORRE M
HKS000  HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000  HK$'000

Zhou
Pei
Feng
ik
HK$000

Lo Chan  Chan Leung Mok Ip

Ka Charmwut Yue Kwong, Tai YiuKeung, Shu Kwan,
Leong  Bemard  Michael Chiu Peter  Stephen  Total
Bxx  REE  R#t REE BB ERE &
HKS000  HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Thn TEr TEr TEn TEr TEn TEn TEr FAn  TEn  TEr T TEm  TEn  TEn
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(Ma1) (Mat2)
Fees e - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Other emoluments: e
Saleries and ofher benefis FERAMER 2476 2101 229 1846 1,385 - 752 m 115 60 188 188 188 01362
Contrioutions to retirement RIETEE
benefts scheme 5 115 % 105 ) 55 - 3 ) 38 - - - - )
Performance related TERBREE
ncentiepament Noted) (23] 16500 12801 12000 12800 4000 550 80 1100 - - - - - T
Shre-based payments IWRBRA R 8631 790 635 6905 605 6905 - - - - - - - -
Total emoluments HeiE 0720 2M 2019 A643 12345 7455 155 185 1,163 60 188 168 188 320 119732
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e IR

F+ A=A

14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 14. EEREEMES»®)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(@) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (@) EE=M2#)
Year ended 31 December 2010
BER-RET-A=T-ALER
Cheung  Cheung  Cheung lam  Cheung Chan Zhou Lo Chan Chan  Leung Mok Ip
Kwok — Kwok Kok Ka Ka Sau L Pel Ka  Chamwut Yue Kiwong, Ta YuKeung, ShuKwan,
Wa  Keung Ping Po Ho Chi Min Feng  Leong  Bemard  Michael Chiu Pefer  Stephen  Totdl
FEE AR REAT MRE RRR RAE Be  REE Bxe RER Rt 2EE 2R EEE o3
HKS000 HKS'000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS00D HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000 HKSO000
TR Thr TEn TR ThAr TEr TR THr  TEn TEr TAr  TEr TR TEr  TEn
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(Hisk1) (Hisk2)
Fees g - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Qther emoluments: EHs
Salaries and other benefits S REMER 2316 2416 2218 2,128 985 802 648 619 1,080 180 180 180 180 - 1392
Contrbutons toretfement ~ E4KER 318
benefts scheme i 107 100 106 4] & 3 29 2 36 - - - - - 583
Performence related TeRRERE
incentive payment (M)
(Note 3) 18000 14000 14000 14000 4,000 2500 1,100 1,100 - - - - - - 68700
Total emoluments ke 2042 16516 16384 16221 5032 3340 1717 1,746 1,116 180 180 180 180 - 825
No directors waived any emoluments during the HE-_Z——F+-A=+—AK
years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010. ZE—TFF+ZA=F+—HLF
B BEEERELCAME -
Notes: W EE
©) Mr. Chan Charnwut Bernard was retired as an M REBAER-_Z——FHA=AR
independent non-executive director of the Company on RERNDRBLIFRITES -
3 May 2011,
©) Mr. Ip Shu Kwan was appointed as an independent ] EHBEEER_T——FAANAB
non-executive director of the Company on 4 May 2011. BRERRATBILIFNITES -
©) The performance related incentive payment is
determined with reference to the operating results, @) THERBEZMRBEDZEMEFE
individual performance and comparable market ZHEEE  MARBRILETS
statistics during both years. HIEHETE -
(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEME

For the years ended 31 December 2011 and
2010, all of the five highest paid employees are
directors.

During both years, no emoluments were received
or receivable by the Directors or the Group’s five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.

E-F——FT-A=T-AR
—E-TEL-AS—ALF

B e2¥nzssicRREORE
=

RREFER  EFHAEERA
REHe A THED Wk REER
e - ERREIRSMBARERR
IR B 2 BB S AE B
Bz mE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 #ZE - F——%F+ - H=+—HI - F/Z

15. DIVIDENDS 15. KRE
2011 2010
— —EFF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Dividends paid: BEIRERRE
Interim dividend for 2011 of HK10 =& ——FhEIfE B
cents (2010: HK16 cents) per G @A 107
ordinary share (ZE—ZF 1 167810) 300,000 480,000
Final dividend for 2010 of HK18 ZE-TFERPKRE
cents (2009: HK18 cents) per G @A 187
ordinary share (ZZEZNF - 18811L) 540,000 540,000
840,000 1,020,000
Dividend proposed: EZERE
Proposed final dividend of HK5 BRI
cents (2010: HK18 cents) per TR EARSEL
ordinary share (ZZ—FF - 1881) 150,000 540,000

The final dividend of HK5 cents per ordinary share in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: final
dividend of HK18 cents per ordinary share in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2010) has been proposed
by the Directors and is subject to the approval by the
shareholders of the Company in the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 # & - F——%F+ - =+—HI - F/Z

16.

EARNINGS PER SHARE 16.

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable
to the owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

ZRAR
R FEE AR S RERRFIET 58
AT -

2011 2010
—B——F —ZE-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR T
Profit for the year attributable to RAEFEB AELGEF
owners of the Company 1,324,958 2,280,380

Number of shares

BRHEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
000 ’000
¥ T

Number of ordinary shares for the — stEFRREREF]Z
purpose of calculating basic AR

earnings per share 3,000,000 3,000,000

The calculation of diluted earnings per share does not
take into account on the effects of share options granted
in 2011 as the exercise price of the outstanding share
options of the Group was higher than the average market
price during the year.

No diluted earnings per share had been presented as the
Company did not have any potential ordinary shares in
2010.

—E A UMRNTREWRAERE
T2 BRBRENTRERREAD
BT -

TE-EFEARAYERABEREUE L
BBk B E 2| SRESE AN o
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17.

128

BB ERAR YRE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. BREWE
HK$’000
FHT
FAIR VALUE ~NEE

At 1 January 2010 RZZE—ZTF—H—H 56,873
Exchange adjustments TE A 1,701

Transfer from properties, HREME
plant and equipment (note 18) s M st (M9FE18) 9,500
Increase in fair value NEE N 7,550
At 31 December 2010 RZZE—ZEF+=-_A=+—H 75,624
Exchange adjustments [ 5, =L 2,726
Increase in fair value NEE NN 9,300
At 31 December 2011 RZZE—F+=A=+—H 87,650

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at
31 December 2011 had been arrived at on the basis of
a valuation carried out on that date by Roma Appraisal
Limited, independent qualified valuers not connected
to the Group. Roma Appraisal Limited are members of
the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors. The valuation was
arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction
prices for similar properties.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at
31 December 2010 had been arrived at on the basis of
a valuation carried out on that day by Memfus Wong
Surveyors Limited independent qualified valuers not
connected to the Group. Memfus Wong Surveyors
Limited are members of the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors. The valuation was arrived at by reference
to market evidence of transaction prices for similar
properties.
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 17. BEWHE»)
The fair value of the properties transferred from properties, HE-_Z-—ZE+-_A=+—HIFE
plant and equipment at the date of transfer during the REREREREYE  BERREBZY
year ended 31 December 2010 had been arrived at EZRNFETVIREREF W EREE 2 BT
on the basis of a valuation carried out on that date by AEBHEMEMERGETER A TR
Memfus Wong Surveyors Limited, independent qualified ZABTTHECEEEZYR -

valuers not connected to the Group.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating REEF AT SR ERLELRIFLE
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes THAEEZFEMERZ BB RAYF
are measured using the fair value model and are classified BEERNGE - WHERIEREYE -

and accounted for as investment properties.

The carrying value of investment properties shown above A EREYEREDERSE :
cComprises:
2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT

Property interests situated in Hong 12 FAIFALINEEZE 2
Kong under: L IE - Zalh
Medium-term lease FREATEAY 25,780 19,650

Property interests situated outside 32 NFIFRLIAEBIAINEE 2

Hong Kong under: MERER ¢

Medium-term lease FRERFR 4 28,070 24174

Long lease REIFEA 33,800 31,800
61,870 55,974
87,650 75,624
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18. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. Y% - BEKRRE

Properties,

plant and

Furniture, equipment

Buildings  Leasehold Plant and Licenced ~ fixtures and Motor under
forownuse improvements  machinery assets  equipment vehicles  construction Total

BE BR-%E iR

BRBT  WRKE HEREE EREE N3G nE BEREE &3
HKSOD  HKSO0  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSOO  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOO0
TRT  TEn T TR TR TR TR TER

08T
At1 January 2010 W-5-%F-f-A 966,026 2557 78021 - 283,804 56,604 281890 9483092
Exchange adustments i3 31,799 8 251,711 - 9133 1873 7,198 301,802
Aocistion of a subsidiary (rote 38) MBS —FIH B A FI(F1£39) - - 249 - - - - 219
Addiions e - - 131927 - 2,942 2639 572,072 730480
Disposals and write off HERME 209 - (14589 - 23.169) (3163) (1808 (174,194)
Transferred to investment properties  BEZHENE

(note 17) (Px17) (4961) - - - - - - (4961)
Transfered to felow subsidiares ~~ EEZRZHEAT] - - - - (66,938) - - (66,98)
Reclassfications EFipL] 61,684 - 18,861 - 38430 - (118979 -
At 31 December 2010 R-5-FF+-F=t-F 105439 2605 8,149,114 - 264,202 57,953 74277 10,269,530
Exchange acjustrments ERAE 46,044 106 369,493 14047 13934 2,658 29413 475,69
Addiions e - - 84,228 - 49589 6,683 294,708 435,208
Disposals and write off It Rl & - - (184004 - (7.260) (3389) 37 (195,022
Reclassfications EEpE - - 513,538 - 103,816 1083 (618437) -
Reclassfed to icenced assets ENNEERERREE (338,281) - (2060405 2428209 - (9529) - -
At 31 December 2011 WZE——F+2f=+-8 1410 2751 687194 2,442,056 424,059 55,465 46614 10,985,411

DEPRECIATION AND IMPARMENT ~ HE R/

At1 January 2010 RZ5-%5-f-H 274,380 2330 3,698,749 - 122,944 44,607 - 4135000
Exchange adjustments i3 7152 16 123,213 - 4591 1410 - 136,382
Provided for the year TEERE 31567 165 660,945 - 53,748 5523 - 751938
Transferred to investment properties  EAZREANE

(note 17) (BizE17) (2,729) - - - - - - (2,729)
Transferred to felow subsidiaries ~~ EAZRZHBLA - - - - (59,987) - - (59,987)
Eliminated on disposals and write ot~ HiEB s &R 8 1) - (95,006) - (19,074) (2.748) - (116,909)
At31 December 2010 RZE-ZF+-A=+-H 310219 2511 4,382,901 - 102,222 45792 - 48705
Exchange adjustments 3t 11,304 9% 105,189 9517 6,069 2010 - 204187
Proviced for the year TEEEE 32,888 142 621,502 50632 70,162 4959 - 780,285
Eliminated on disposals and write off &+ # ki 8 - - (65,129) - (6,753) (3.140) - (75,022)
Reclassffed to icenced assets ENAREREFREAE (122,409 - (1306416 1437889 - (9,070) - -
At 31 December 2011 RoE——E+-B=+-0 232088 2751 388047 1498038 174,700 40551 - 577315
CARRYING VALUE BEE

At 31 December 2011 RoE——E+-B=t-0 51003 - 3043017 944,218 252,559 14,914 614 521225
At31 December 2010 RIE-ZFE+-AZF-H 744000 184 3766213 - 161,980 12,161 2T 5425825
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18. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ¥¥ - BEKRXRE#)

(continued)
Licenced assets comprised of the following: BIEFREERENTEIE
Buildings for Plant and Motor
own use machinery vehicles Total
BRET RE RS RE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TAT FET FTET
cosT WA
Reclassification EE o] 358,281 2,060,405 9,523 2,428,209
Exchange adjustments 03 B 2,152 11,840 55 14,047
At 31 December 2011 RoE——F
+-A=+—H 360,433 2,072,245 9,578 2,442,256
DEPRECIATION AND KELHE
IMPAIRMENT
Provided for the year NEE R 2,374 48117 141 50,632
Reclassification EEiax 122,403 1,306,416 9,070 1,437,889
Exchange adjustments [ EE 844 8,617 56 9,517
At 31 December 2011 RoE——&
+-A=1+—H 125,621 1,368,150 9,267 1,498,038
CARRYING VALUE EEE
At 31 December 2011 R-E——F
+-A=1—H 234,812 709,095 31 944,218
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18.

132

(\\_,,

PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

On 3 August 2011, a subsidiary of Kingboard Copper
Foil Holdings Limited (“KBCF” or the “Licensor”) (KBCF
is a listed subsidiary of the Group), entered into a licence
agreement with Harvest Resource Management Limited
(the “Licencee”), who is an independent third party, to
licence KBCF’s copper foil manufacturing facilities located
at Fogang and Lianzhou to the Licencee for the period
from 1 September 2011 to 31 August 2013 because after
the mandate of interested party transaction could not be
approved by the KBCF’s shareholders at annual general
meeting, KBCF is unable to transact with the Group. To
get steady stream of income, KBCF entered into licence
agreement with the Licencee. Summary of the details are
as follows:

(i) to use the leasehold properties, comprising factory
buildings in Fogang and Lianzhou;

(i) to use, consume and dispose of the inventories
which shall include consumables and stocks in
trade; and

(iii) to use the machinery, together with all other
equipment and facilities as from time to time
located at the properties in Fogang and Lianzhou.

The licenced properties, plant and equipment tabulated
above and the licenced inventories in note 24 were
licenced for licence fee income of HK$10 million per
month payable in advance on the first day of each and
every calendar month, as a short-term measure by KBCF
to generate income from the copper foil manufacturing
facilities. Accordingly, the licenced properties, plant and
equipment have been reclassified as licenced assets
under properties, plant and equipment.
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HOR - KBCFEZER M AG] 7 S A 1
& o ArEEAn T

[0} FRABLYME  BIEA R KE
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18.

PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

The Group conducted a review of the recoverable amount
of its licenced properties, plant and equipment determined
based on their value in use calculated using seven-year
cash flow projections. The key assumptions for the value
in use calculations are in relation to the Group believes
that 1) the interested party transactions mandate would
not be passed by the shareholders of KBCF shortly and
2) the licenced properties, plant and equipment can be
licenced to other parties after the licence agreement is
expired for the further periods over the remaining useful
lives of the licenced properties, plant and equipment at a
licence fee income based on incremental growth rate of
6% per year. The discount rate used in measuring value
in use was 5%. Based on the review, no impairment loss is
recognised.

Management believes that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of licenced properties, plant
and equipment to exceed their aggregate recoverable
amount.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group
changed the use of certain of its properties and rented
them out to independent third parties for rental income.
When there was a change in use, upon the transfer from
properties, plant and equipment to investment properties,
these properties were revalued at fair value with a gain
on revaluation of approximately HK$7,268,000 (2011:
nil), which has been credited to the property revaluation
reserve.

All the Group’s buildings for own use are situated in the
PRC on land held under medium-term leases.

18.

BB ERAR Y RE

¥ - - BMERREZ)

AEERBELFREREBBA T EAER
Bl FHXBEERME - BERREN
AREeHE - EREEFENEIERERR
AEERENDSRNEALTR S EERS
N TS EKBCFEUIR BB M 2) I XA 17
mEmE REERYE  BELRREA
R TRERFHRARERLTER - &
EERBERAZGFRIZO%EE © FTE/E
REERMABNFTRE[E% - RIERHG
R WERRRERSE -

EREIEE - EARSHRNA DTSR
BT RS HREEAYE - B RRRA
REAEBALTRESHE -

BHE_Z-—TE+-_A=+—HILFE -
REBREEETWENRSR  WHZE
MELRTBILIE = ARBBES YA -
WABEE  ERYE  BEREERE
BEREWERS ZSWERATEE
iy » Efhk=E4957,268,0008 L (=F—
TE E)  DETAVESGHEE -

AREE 2 E AEFTHN AR RBLR
BHPRE L -
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18. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ¥¥ - BMERF®E®)
(continued)
The above items of properties, plant and equipment (other LiiwmE - BMELEZEELE (BRERZER
than those under construction) are depreciated on a INIZA T FE LR A FGEEFTIRITE -
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:
Buildings for own use  Over the remaining unexpired BREF IRIBHAAOARRIERRTL
terms of the leases or fifty HFHRR A+ (A
years, whichever is the shorter A A
Leasehold Over the remaining unexpired A mEEE IRRRTH AT gRAR L)
improvements terms of the leases or five to HFEHPRKAETF
ten years, whichever is the (& BE)
shorter
Licenced assets 10-20% RiEHEREE 10—20%
Plant and machinery 10-20% R Mot s 10—20%
Furniture, fixtures and ~ 10-334% B - HEBREE 10—33'56%
equipment
Motor vehicles 20% AE 20%
19. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 19. FE{IHEFIE

All of the Group’s prepaid lease payments are prepaid
for leasehold interest in land outside Hong Kong under
medium-term land use rights.

AEEZ BN EERBEISBFBHRIMR
EPEEOAENBEESR -

2011 2010
—2——F L
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBxT FHT

Analysed for reporting purposes as:  FEIREDHTAT :
Current asset BB E 7,758 7,481
Non-current asset EREEE 396,987 386,701
404,745 394,182
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 # & - F——%F+ - =+—HI - F/Z

20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 20. AHHERE
2011 2010
—E——F —ET-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTiER FAET
Available-for-sale investments comprise: A i H &R & @ 1E:
Listed investments, at fair value: A (R R FESIE):
- equity securities listed in Hong Kong ~ — N &EB 2 lAE 5
(note a) (Kf3xa) 637,530 146,677
Listed bond securities listed in the BB BT ABITRIINE
Singapore Exchange Securities EHRHAARANE
Trading Limited (“SGX”) issued by (MEhRF)) £zt
listed issuers in Hong Kong, at fair BHESH  BRTE
value (note b): (Ff3Eo) :
- with fixed coupon interest at 6% per — R-E—RF+H -+t HHA
annum until 27 October 2015 BEEFB6EZEATEE -
and at 4.885% per annum over RZE-RF+A=Z+/\BE
5 years US Treasury bonds rate ZETF+AZT AR
from 28 October 2015 to 27 BEERFHEBBEERESM
October 2020 and at 5.638% per 488EZETES  HEEF
annum over 3 months London SIESEABRBIBITRERS
Interbank Offered Rate thereafter 05.638[E 2 KA EH
on perpetual basis 271,635 324,127
- with fixed coupon interest at 8% per ~ —EBEESEEFES - WH =
annum and maturity date on T—RF
1 December 2016 +=-A—R3H = 38,694
— with fixed coupon interest at 9.65% —ABEFLI6EZEERE ' I
per annum and maturity date on RZE2—+F
3 August 2017 NA=BZIE = 40,370
Unlisted equity investments, at cost: JEETIRRANIS & (IR AT (E)
- private equity investment inthe PRC ~ — A B 2 FLERR AR A
(note ¢) (FftsEe) = 36,000
- private equity investment in Hong —REBZALERARE
Kong (note d) GED) 151,342 144,883
1,060,507 730,751
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20.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 20.

(continued)
Notes:
() Included in the listed investments as at 31 December 2011 are

HK$463,970,000 from one security listed in Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group purchased
listed bond securities listed in SGX issued by listed issuers in
Hong Kong. These listed bond securities were designated as
available-for-sale investments at the date of acquisition.

At 31 December 2011, the entire amount is from one (2010:
three) listed bond security issued by one (2010: two) Hong Kong
listed company.

At 1 January 2011, the Group changes its intention to hold
certain listed bond securities of approximately HK$79,064,000
to maturity. As a result, these listed bond securities were
reclassified to held-to-maturity investments (note 21).

At 31 December 2010, the unlisted investment represented a
11.34% equity interest in Linkfit Investments Holdings Limited
(“Linkfit”) a private entity established in the Samoa and Linkfit's
Group is engaged in hotel operation. It is measured at cost less
impairment loss at the end of each reporting period because the
range of reasonable fair value estimates was so significant that
the Directors are of the opinion that its fair value could not be
measured reliably.

At 31 December 2011, the Group’s interest in Linkfit increased
to 29.67% through further subscription and acquisition.
Accordingly, Linkfit becomes an associate of the Group and the
Group has reclassified from available-for-sale investments to
investment in an associate (note 26).

The amount represents the 19.09% interest in a private entity
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands which is engaged in
the property development business in Hong Kong. The Investee
together with other investment funds currently holds a number of
properties in a building situated in Hong Kong which is intended
for redevelopment (the “Redevelopment Project”). The Group’s
participation in the Redevelopment Project is 10% and the
amount committed by the Group amounts to US$21,000,000
(approximately HK$163,800,000) and at 31 December 2011,
the Group has contributed approximately HK$6,459,000 (2010:
HK$144,883,000). At 31 December 2011 and 31 December
2010, the investment is measured at cost less impairment
because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so
significant that the Directors are of the opinion that its fair value
cannot be measured reliably.
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BB ERAR YRE

For the year ended 31 December 2011 #ZE - F——%F+ - H=+—HI - F/Z

AHHERE#)

RZZB——F+ZA=+—H LTREERRE
— A L 2 7 #7463,970,000/ 7T

HE_Z-—ZFT_A=+—HLEFER K
SEBERELTRITABRITRAZMETZ
EHERES - ZELTEFEFNKEEA
WIEERAMHERE -

RZE——F+-A=+—8 LHEHFES
2HeBERE—H(ZT—TF : MEHESL
TARETH—R(ZF—ZF : = LHE

NZF——F—A—RB AKEERAFE  #
BET EWESES 479,064,000 TEZ
B At RELTEFELFENORERF
=R IRE (f21) -

NZZE-ZF+-A=+—R " FLHRER
M11.34% 2 BB BE R AR AR ([HE )
RRHE - BB AR EE R 2 FLE RS - B Et
SERFAEZE - NEHREHRERER
MR ATEZARMEREEX - BEEER
RARBER SEATHEARTE - HOEETIRARK
AMBRRER R HE -

RZTB-——F+ZA=+—0 ZEHE
E-SRBREE  BERBEREES
29.67% ° AUt - BB K AAEERE AT
MARER AT HEREEN BN —
ERAE A (HI7E26) ©

ZEFIER R EBE LS MR Z L
EEIB219.00% M0 « ZILEEENE B
FEMEBRER - ZALEBREREAMRERS
WA — RN EEZ KEZEEET -
ZABEHTEER((E2HE ) - AE@2 T I
BT 8] 2 10% 3 ¥ € 58 /21,000,000 3% 7T
(#9163,800,00087T) - R=ZE——F+=A
=+—H - NEEHE46,459,0008 T (=%
—ZF 144,883,000/ L) c R=T——F
+=ZA=+—RAEKkR=F—ZF+=-A=1+—
H - BRATFEZABRGERERA  BUEE
ERARENSAEENTE - BRI EIRK
ABRAERH -
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20.

21.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 20.

(continued)
Included in available-for-sale investments are the following

BB ERAR Y RE

AHHERE#)

AHEERERETINEEERER

amounts denominated in a currency other than the e G AINEBEHE 2 58 ¢
functional currency of the group entities to which they
relate:
2011 2010
—B——F —E-TF
Amount Amount
ot Gk
’000 000
= T+
United States dollars ET 54,228 70,265
HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS 21. BEZEIHKRE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Listed bond securities listed in SGX  +FHAGIEITREIHM LT
issued by listed companies EHESFES 271,434 -

Included in the amount as at 31 December 2011 is
HK$160,288,000 from a listed bond security issued by a
listed company in Hong Kong.

Included in the above held-to-maturity investments are
fixed coupon bonds which carry coupon rate ranging
from 7.0% to 11.1% and the effective interest rate ranging
from 10.9% to 21.0%. The investments will be matured
from 29 April 2014 to 3 August 2018. None of these assets
has been past due or impaired at the end of the reporting
period. All held-to-maturity investments are issued by
corporations that are listed in Hong Kong.

R-EBE——F+-"A=+—0H %556
B—BEBLIMBETABRTZ—ELME
#7555160,288,000/8 7T ©

LB EERRRERENEZENT7.0
EENMAERERFENF109EZE21.0
EMNETERES - ZFHREINHPANT
ZE-NERAZFTABREZZE-NEN
A=H RBEHHERED  ZS8E
WEaHSORE - MERBEZEIEIRER
BB LTARET -
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PAREERR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2011 #Z —F——4#+_-A=+—HIFFZF

21.

22,

HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS
(continued)

At 1 January 2011, the Group has reclassified certain
bonds from available-for-sale investments to held-to-
maturity investments because the management changes
their intention and holds these bonds to maturity. The
total fair value of these bonds as at date of reclassification
amounting to HK$79,064,000 becomes their new
amortised costs.

Included in held-to-maturity investments are the following
amounts denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the group entities to which they

21. BEZEIHKRE S

—T——F—-fA—HB AREEEERA
o WRKBAZEFELFEINH  BAEEE
MABETES  AHLERENRAR
BERIHMKE - REFHBRBEH - ZE5E
%2 NEEEE 279,064,000 7T - 1ETY
ZE BT RN o

FEZIMREBR TN EEERAM
ZREEBIASNEEEHEZ R

relate:
2011 2010
—B——F —ZE-FF
Amount Amount
+8 o)
’000 000
T T
United States dollar =TT 34,205 -

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

22, FEBRRYHE

2011 2010
—F——F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FIT
AT COST BRRARE
Carrying amount of properties held ~ fFEEY Z BREE
for development 248,486 244,985

1 38 Annual Report 2011 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited

TR —FF BERERERERAT




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2011 # & - F——%F+ - =+—HI - F/Z

22.

23.

24,

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT
(continued)

In 2010, the Group acquired pieces of land in the
PRC with medium-term leases for purpose of future
development for sale. Properties held for development
for sale are expected to be realised in 2012 when the
construction is completed and ready for sale. As a result,
it is classified as current assets in 2011.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group
received the government grants of HK$21,833,000 for
the property development project in PRC. The amount
received has been deducted from the carrying amount of
properties held for development.

NON-CURRENT DEPOSITS

Non-current deposits represent deposits paid for the
acquisition of plant and equipment and properties, and
in the opinion of the Directors, the deposits will not
be realised within twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. Accordingly, the amounts were included
in the non-current assets.

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

This represents inventory licenced to the Licencee
(see note 18) for the period from 1 September 2011 to
31 August 2013. Under the licencing agreement, the
Licencee may use, consume and dispose of the licenced
inventories which include consumables and stocks in
trade. However, the Licencee is required to replace
and return the licenced inventories used, consumed or
disposed during the licence period to the Group at the
end of the licence period.

=)
ma

22.

23.

24,

BB ERAR Y RE

FREWXE 2

ZE-ZF . AEBE U EBEN S A ES
B T R ERRBEREERE
FFHEZFRRMEBIN _T—=F
BRTRATHERER - Bt R-F——
FRRERRBEE -

HE-_Z——F+_-_A=+—HUL=EE "
AEEGFEMEHREERERBNEY
21,833,000 7t - EWESBERFTEED
EREmEPOR -

FREET &
FRBRIHEIBERE LREBEMED
X2 ® c BEERA - RFITAERE
HEAARE AR 1288 A TR -
It ZEFEFAFRBEE

HitFRBEE
HPHR-E-——FNA-AE-T—=F
NAZ+— EREERRAERNEE(R
MEE18) < RIBERIE R ik - BIREALE
A RARNEREERES  EPef
FRAREHEE R - REREERH
ERE EREAAAREEEERRE
BEM - MK SN EREE AT -
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25.

140

DEFERRED TAXATION 25.

The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised and movements thereon during the current
and prior reporting periods:

IEFER IR
TRANREHMRANRE HEAC R
RZEBEERALE(RE)URESRZ

=

Revaluation
of properties Others Total
MIHEEM Hity &5t
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
At 1 January 2010 RZZE—TF—H—H (1,816) 5,964 4,148
(Credit) charge for the year REE (L)X H (750) 1,707 957
At 31 December 2010 R —TF
+=—A=+—8H (2,566) 7,671 5,105
Credit for the year RFE B (800) (1,106) (1,906)
At 31 December 2011 RZE—F
+—-—A=+—~H (3,366) 6,565 3,199

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances
for financial reporting purposes:

VAT #5143 81 75 4R35 T i B 2 RSB IR A8
RO

2011 2010

— —FFF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHBxT FET

Deferred tax assets TREFIIRE BE 6,565 7,671
Deferred tax liabilities FERIEE F (3,366) (2,566)
3,199 5,105

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of HK$101,967,000 (2010: HK$87,247,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. All tax losses can be carried forward
indefinitely.
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25.

26.

BB ERAR Y RE

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 25, EEBIEE)
As at 31 December 2010, the Group also had R-ZE—ZFE+-A=+—H  BHHRFK
unrecognised deferred tax asset HK$1,623,000 (2011: AR RITEA - AR EF BRI
nil) in relation to loss on cash flow hedge recognised in BHERAZRS T2 PEEEEZ ~E
hedging reserve due to the unpredictability of future profit RIEIERIH & E 1,623,000 (=& ——
streams. Fm) o
Under the EIT Law the PRC, a withholding tax is imposed FRECEMSHTERE B T N\F—
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned A—Ri - pEFEAZERFTBEHE A
by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. BT BB A 1 20k 2 B B IR FE RN » AR
Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the NENL R BB AR R HEF 2 B
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary ZEEA2,217,066,0008 L ( ZE—FF -
difference attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC 1,610,557,000/8 70 ) * AEBEIWRFZE
subsidiaries amounting to HK$2,217,066,000 (2010: RIERGESBRRIELEE  BEREN
HK$1,610,557,000) as the Group is able to control the EEEIT RO EE KR BEH
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is R =R n e e ] B gk m -
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 26. A—EBE QAT ZER
2011 2010
—B——-F —TFF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
At cost R
Reclassified from available-for-sale  HAMEEERESHH A
investments (note 20(c)) (Fi47E20(c)) 36,000 -
Additions NE 50,988 -
At 31 December 2011 WZZE—F+=-F=+—H 86,988 -
Share of post-acquisition loss and ~ FE{HUEREE KX
other comprehensive loss Hit 2 EEE (4,674) -
82,314 -
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26. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 26. R—BEBEQAT 2R =)
Details of the Group’s associate at 31 December 2011 is RZEBE——F+-A=+—8  K&EEK
as follows: BRRIZFFBET

Proportion of ownership
Country of interest and voting Attributable interest
Name of associate Form of entity incorporation  power held by the Group equity of the Group  Principal activities
ASEFEHRERLER
BennzR L1578 ERRIER REELH FREELRE IEER
2011 2010 2011 2010
—2--f "33 - _F-%f
% % % %
Linkt Unlisted private entity Samoa 29.67 - 19.16 - Investment holding
ey EImiEER EED RERR

The principal activities of Linkfit’s principal subsidiaries are
hotel operation and property development.

On 21 June 2011, the Group subscribed the shares in
Linkfit for a total cash consideration of HK$30,000,000. As
a result, the Group’s interest in Linkfit was increased from
11.84% to 21.57% and Linkfit became an associate of
the Group. Accordingly, the Group’s investment in Linkfit
had been reclassified from available-for-sale investments
to investment in an associate.

Subsequent to the subscription of Linkfit’s shares, the
Group acquired further interest in Linkfit for a total cash
consideration HK$20,988,000. As a result, the Group’s
interest in the associate was increased from 21.57% to
29.67%.
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I £ 830,000,000 T REBEE B AL 15 -
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2£21.57% - MEEKAREERBE AT
Fit - AEEREENIRERAHDER
BEHHEAR—EBE AR ZIRE -

ERBEERNDE  AEENBESRE
20,988,000/ TT it — R RE B =5 o
U REE R AR BR21.57%IENE
29.67% °
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26. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 26. R—EBE AR ZER @)
The summarised financial information in respect of the NEEBENT ZHBERBEEHN T -

Group’s associate is set out below:

2011
=25
HK$’000
FHET
(note)
(FH=E)
Total assets BEMAE 861,649
Total liabilities BfEME (584,217)
Net assets BEFE 277,432
Group’s share of net assets of an associate & B fE(E — BB LA N 7 2 BEFE 82,314
Revenue Was 44,019
Loss for the period HARE 18 (16,510)
Group’s share of loss of an associate for NEBEEL—EEE AR ERERE
the period (4,668)
Other comprehensive loss for the period N HE M2 EEE (36)
Group’s share of comprehensive loss of an  REBEfE(E —RIE A QRN E (2 HEE R
associate for the period (6)
Note:  The amounts included the revenue, loss and other Mz : ZEeHEBEABERAMEATZAHE
comprehensive income for the period the date of Linkfit became T——F+ZA=+—HIEHEZ K - BB

to be an associate to 31 December 2011. REMEEE -
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27.

144

(\\—04

t \—"‘

BB ERAR PYRE

GOODWILL e
HK$’000
T
CARRYING VALUE AREE
At 1 January 2010, 31 December 2010 and N_ZE—FTF—HF—H
31 December 2011 “E-TF+_A=+—H8K
—E——F+=ZRA=+—H 238

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill
arising from acquisition of a subsidiary disclosed as
follows:

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to the cash generating unit (“CGU”) of specialty
resins business unit. The carrying amount of goodwill
allocated to the CGU of specialty resins business unit is
approximately HK$238,000 (2010: HK$238,000).

The recoverable amount of the specialty resins CGU has
been determined from value-in-use calculation. Goodwiill
is expected to generate cash flow for indefinite period.
To calculate this, cash flow projections are based on
five year periods financial budgets approved by senior
management. The key assumptions for the value-in-use
calculations are the budgeted gross margin at a discount
rate of 12% (2010: 12%) and growth rate of 5% (2010:
5%), which are determined based on the unit’'s past
performance and management’s expectations for the
market development. Since the recoverable amount of
the CGU is higher than its carrying amount, the Directors
consider that the carrying value of goodwill at the end of
the reporting period is not significantly impaired.
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BREARTE - BBE SR TRESE
EBoBrEeELEN([REELE
fr]) e PETHEMBESITZ2HSE
A Bz R RTAEEL £238,000/%8 0 (=
T—Z4F : 238,000/87C) °

FrER eI & EE B 2 ATk E S EIRE
BEBFELET - BHREKERTE
EHREHRE - ATHEREE  Rek=
TR LAAE & AR B IR B ATt 2 AL HABA IR
TBEREE - FHEBENEZZEE®BE
BEEENERZIBREREBRES R A
12%(ZF—TF : 12%) R5%(ZE—F
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fzz AR ElSER N EREE  WESR
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28.

INVENTORIES 28. ®E
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Raw materials R 754,798 1,747,243
Work in progress &M 379,879 407,599
Finished goods BURK R 256,061 131,195
1,390,738 2,286,037

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the
Group changed the use of certain of its inventories of
approximately HK$712,707,000 and licenced them to
the Licencee (see note 18) for licence fee income. Under
the licence agreement, the Licencee may use, consume
and dispose of the licenced inventories which include
consumables and stocks in trade. However, the Licencee
is required to replace and return the licenced inventories
used, consumed or disposed during the licence period to
the Group at the end of the licence period. Accordingly,
the licenced inventories are reclassified to other non-
current assets (note 24).

BE-_Z—F+-_A=t+—HIFE "
REBREEETH712,707,0008 L7 E
WAL BREREACHAZSEEE U
BEUREBIRA (E18) - RIFFEF A
Wk BREACR  FARLEEES
REFE  ETeiEsREaRkESFEE - A
i REEERARERE  BREAZER
AEEEERRECHFR  HANEER
BREERTFE - Al RECREFESEHN
DR AEAMIETREE E (FI7E24) -
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29. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 29. E 5 RE{EWIES R A0S

PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

REWEE

2011 2010

—B——fF —T2F

HK$’000 HK$000

TR FHT

Trade receivables E 5 RUERK 3,026,009 2,857,375
Advance to suppliers T g R 2 FRIE 264,441 249,573
Dividend income receivables FEURR B UL A 11,438 -
Interest income receivables JFEUH] B U A 19,377 6,753
Prepayments and deposit TENFIERIES 107,936 97,534
Value-added tax (“VAT”) recoverable FJR[EIEERL([1GEFL]) 313,373 319,157
Other receivables Ho AR R 95,547 61,974
3,838,121 3,592,366

The Group allows credit periods of up to 120 days,

AEERTESEFPZEERN&RER120
B REFEEERME - RIMEHAMEA
REH BHEREKERZERENRERA

depending on the products sold to its trade customers.
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables

based on invoice date at the end of the reporting period: HoMaT -
2011 2010
—B——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
0-90 days 0£90H 2,036,420 2,023,205
91-180 days 91£E180H 942,227 804,839
Over 180 days 180H A E 47,362 29,331
3,026,009 2,857,375

Bills receivables of the Group are aged within 90 days
(2010: 90 days) at the end of the reporting period.

AEBERER 2 RERY BRERE G
B RMEANOR(ZE—Z4F 902K -
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29.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(continued)

Before accepting any new customers, the Group has
an internal credit grading system to assess the potential
customers’ credit quality and the Directors has delegated
the management to be responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals for any customers. Limits
and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed every
year. 82% (2010: 83%) of the trade receivables that were
neither past due nor impaired have the best credit scoring
attributable under the credit grading system used by the
Group.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$576,637,000 (2010: HK$492,786,000) which are
past due at the end of the reporting period for which the
Group has not provided for impairment loss as the Group
consider that these debtors are financially stable and the
management has taken action to recover the outstanding
balance. The Directors are confident that these amounts
are still recoverable. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances. The average age of these
receivables is 148 days (2010: 134 days).

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired are as follows:

29.

BB ERAR Y RE

ESREMERERERRAMNRE
FEWERE )

EEWNERFEPA - AEBNI{EAT
SHEGTHBEREFP 2 ERER &S
EEAGEREAERENEF,PEEREE
REREEMZ BEPZRERTISESF
R c 82% (=T —TF : 83%) EAHisk
BEZE S EBEREFEAEBIRAZE
RERHIE s Z=ERTD °

REEE S EUERRESFERBERER
EERTE A A576,637,0008 L (—F—F
£ 492,786,000/ 7T )  FA S BAfE 45
EHELBH  AEEYERZEFRIAE
LR EEIERE  REAREERA %
LEBAMEER  BEEECHEBKE
REBEMRDNITE - EFIEE - ZFRE
ERE] FURIE] o ZANER M5k ez S oA RE 0 15
BEMIKIRG o %5 EWIRR 2 T9RE
A148H(ZZ—Z4F : 134H) -

o

BHEERELEZRUSIRRZRERNT

2011 2010

—ET——F —ET—TF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHT

91-120 days 91&120H 92,159 173,078
121-150 days 121E150H 278,476 241,716
151-180 days 151%180H 158,640 48,661
Over 180 days 180BH A £ 47,362 29,331
576,637 492,786

Annual Report 2011 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited 1 47

TR —FF EERERERERAE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #&
For the year ended 31 December 2011 #Z - F——%F+ - H=+—HI-F/Z

29.

148

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(continued)

The Group has provided fully for all receivables that
are past due beyond 240 days because historical
experience is such that these receivables are generally
not recoverable. Allowance on trade receivables aged
between 120 and 240 days are made based on estimated
irrecoverable amounts by reference to past default
experience and objective evidences of impairment
determined by the difference between the carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate.

In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables,
the Group monitors any change in the credit quality of the
trade receivables since the credit was granted and up to
the end of the reporting period. The Directors considered
that the Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk of trade and other receivables, with exposure spread
over a number of counterparties and customers.

29.

BB ERAR PYRE

ESREMERBRERRAMNRE
FEWERE )

BEEHBEREE2408 A £ IR —
BAESEE - MASEEZERKERD
HIELBME - BRERN T120=240B 28 5
MR 2 B - D2ERERRESR
e AU el & 58 AR EE AR B B
FEEETARESRERAEMZEE
AENEREBRREENRESE -

HETEZREIER 2 TIRE LR - BF
FRAREEEREREDHEAERERD - K
SEERESREERERERZEMNE
B-EERR ARELESEETZE
HEEMEREREERR - ERHZE
RGAREPHE

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts RIEEECEE

2011 2010

—E——F —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Balance at beginning of the year FHEEH 173,046 170,594
Net impairment losses recognised St & 5 EUARFHER

on trade receivables ZREEEFEE 5,882 2,452

Balance at end of the year FREERR 178,928 173,046

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are
individually impaired trade receivables with an aggregate
balance of HK$178,928,000 (2010: HK$173,046,000)
which have either been placed under liquidation or in
severe financial difficulties. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.
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29.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(continued)

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
(continued)

Included in trade and other receivables and prepayments
are the following amounts denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the group entities to
which they relate:

]
mae

29.

PATEERRMAE

ESREMEWRMRREBENRIE
REWEE =)

RIREHEZEE (2
B 5 R MR R TR N FOR B 4 T 5

NEBERBRBR e EEAINERTE
AR

2011 2010
—ZT——F —T-TF
Amount Amount
x| ©F
’000 ‘000
=F 3
United States dollars ETT 66,266 94,694
Japanese Yen H 2,290 -
Hong Kong dollars HBIT 690,131 655,509
30. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) GROUP 30. W) EB A RRIE
COMPANIES
2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT
Amounts due from fellow MEVEEIE T RERE RN S
subsidiaries under current assets PNCIE
— trade nature B8 381,817 456,259

The Group allows credit period normally up to 120 days
for sales to its fellow subsidiaries. The amounts due are
non-interest bearing, unsecured and aged within 90 days
at the end of the reporting period.

REBRHEELTERRWBARZEE
H—M&RB120R - ZFRWFIBEARE
REER  HRRHARSHBERER
HERI0RZA -
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30.

31.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) GROUP 30.

PAREERR AT

Bl EBQARRIE#)

COMPANIES (continued)
2011 2010
—B——-F —T2F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FBT
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries  REIBEIE T ER R RSB

under current liabilities NGBS

— trade nature —-B5HE 31,061 28,012

The Group’s non-interest bearing amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries have repayment terms of less than 30 days.
The amounts due are non-interest bearing, unsecured
and aged within 90 days at the end of the reporting
period.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the
Group. At 31 December 2011, the Group’s bank balances
carry interest at the prevailing market interest rates which
range from 0.01% to 1.31% (2010: 0.01% to 1.17%) per
annum.

At 31 December 2011, the Group had bank balances and
cash that were not freely convertible or were subject to
exchange controls in the PRC amounting to approximately
HK$1,503.4 million (2010: HK$1,525.7 million).
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AEER B RN R RNBARFHIAZER
HAM30R - ZERNFEARRELER
;- HRERY SRS HEARE BEN0
HZA -

IRITHBREAS
RITHEBERCREAEEZEE RS -
N-ZT——F+-A=+—8  RBI7&%
BRBITHSERNENF0.01EE131E(Z
T—FF  001EE1A7E)FTE -

R-ZE——F+-A=+—8  A&EEF
Al B RSB P BISMNE E $IFTHRR 2
RITHERR RIR & 5 B4 A1,508,400,0007%
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31. BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued) 31. SRITEBRRES#)
Included in bank balances and cash are the following RITHEBR LIRS BE NIASEERIEH
amounts denominated in a currency other than the ZINEe e AYNE MR EHE 2 F05E
functional currency of the group entities to which they
relate:
2011 2010
—B——F —ZE-FF
Amount Amount
Ex ] ]
’000 ’000
i ¥
United States dollars ET 62,530 61,377
Hong Kong dollars BT 350,903 271,015

32. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 32. EEKEMENERRARENRE
BILLS PAYABLES

2011 2010

—B——fF —FTF

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FET FET

Trade payables B I ENIRR 966,122 562,517

Accrued expenses EREMA 176,298 193,326
Payables for acquisition of BEWXE  BEREREZ

properties, plant and equipment FETBRAR 37,877 150,271

Receipts in advance TR 101,223 42,091

Other tax payables H e AHIIE 146,323 108,428

VAT payables EEBER R 114,794 81,748

Other payables HAtb ERTAR TR 53,635 105,588

1,596,272 1,243,969
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32. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 32. BERHEMENEZIRENEZE

BILLS PAYABLES (continued) (#)
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables at the ESREMNEFNHRENHELERE B 2RER
end of the reporting period: DHTEAT -
2011 2010
—E——F TETE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAET
0-90 days 0£90H 767,426 495,735
91-180 days 912180H 157,324 37,759
Over 180 days 180H A £ 41,372 29,023
966,122 562,517
Bills payables of the Group are aged within 90 days (2010: REEENERZERO AR S HRELER
90 days) at the end of the reporting period. EHEMIAZA(ZE—FF 1 90R) ©
Included in trade and other payables and bills payables 5 REMENERRENZERETT
are the following amounts denominated in a currency NEEERAE BB AINEEE
other than the functional currency of the group entities to 2 TRER
which they relate:
2011 2010
—ZT——F —T-TF
Amount Amount
+8 x|
’000 000
T +
United States dollars =T 13,609 53,236
Japanese Yen = 288,623 888,743
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33.

BB ERAR Y RE

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 33. fT&£E€mT A
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
Commodity forward contracts EmEREEH - 33,493
Interest rate swap contracts Tl RS 4D - 9,838
- 43,331

Cash flow hedges REREEH

During both years, the Group used interest rate swap
contracts (net quarterly settlement) to minimise its
exposure to certain cash flow changes of its variable
rate bank borrowings by swapping a proportion of the
variable rate borrowings from variable rate to fixed rate.
The terms of these interest rate swap contracts were
negotiated to match with those of the hedged bank
borrowings (i.e. same notional amount of the derivatives
match with principal amounts of bank borrowings, same
currency and same interest rate index). The Directors
consider that the interest rate swap contracts are highly
effective hedging instruments and have designated them
as hedging instruments for hedge accounting purposes.

REZMEFE  ARBEBEDFEE
ERISERTER  MANEEHEHN(F
BHEFR)RERTEFAEZRITEESR
TREREZB AR - ZENERHE
2 R T RECA BRIRTTREE 2 165K
AEEHEMERTETAZ BREERS
RITIEEZAZ SR - HREKRIRAERF
RER) - BEFZRR - NEXRHPEOLKEBE
MEEHR T A - WHENREHEOLH
hgEt RSN TA -

Annual Report 2011 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited 1 53

TR —FF ERRERERERAE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #&
For the year ended 31 December 2011 #ZE - F——%F+ - H=+—HI - F/Z

33.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

At 31 December 2010, included in the Group’s bank
borrowings as disclosed in note 34 were bank loans of
HK$892,308,000 (2011: nil) which were under cash flow
hedges at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

33.

BB ERAR YRE

TTEEmIA®)

RZE—ZF+_A=+—8 - K34
WEZAESEBITEERERITER
892,308,000/8 L( —T——1F : #) » IR

HHEERER ZTERARREREY
JRIE TN Z BRI ¢
Notional Receive
Outstanding contracts as at amount Maturity floating Pay fixed
RUTEHEAREHZEH HE Z|EA A FRrBUE B FfES
HK$’000
FHET
At 31 December 2010 892,308 Within 1 year HIBOR 2.39% to 3.88%
—E-EF+-HA=+—H —ER BARITAZEFE  2.39E£3.88F

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the hedge
of the Group was 89% to 101% effective in hedging
the accumulated cash flow exposure to interest rate
movements. At 31 December 2010, fair value losses
recognised in the Group of HK$9,838,000 had been
deferred in hedging reserve and were expected to be
reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged interest
expense was charged to profit or loss quarterly.

At 31 December 2011, no interest rate swap contract is
outstanding or has been entered by the Group.
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33.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 33.

(continued)

Other derivatives (not under hedge accounting)

In 2010, the Group entered into commodity forward

contracts to hedge against part of the Group’s exposure

in copper price fluctuations. At the respective maturity

dates, the contracts are settled net in cash with the issuer.

The major terms of the outstanding contract at the end of

the reporting period are as follows:

At 31 December 2010

Contract amount

TTEEmIA®)

HtpTE TR

(3 3E A & FHESIAR)
R-ZF—FF AEEFTYARENS
# o EAEPAEENR D RERBR
%o NEEHA - BFTANRSEETS
HFER - RIMEMEARER - ZHAKRE
HZ A TEEHMT

K=B—-BE+=A=+-8

ERER
Currency Quantity Maturity Forward price
B gE ZIE A REE
us$ Copper 200 metric tonnes 1 February 2011 Sell at US$8,350/metric tonne
ET 2002 MBS —T——%ZRF—H  R8350%kT/ AMEL
us$ Copper 200 metric tonnes 1 February 2011 Sell at US$8,320/metric tonne
ET 200 AME 4 “T——FZRA—H  M8320%kT/ AMEL
us$ Copper 200 metric tonnes 1 February 2011 Sell at US$8,335/metric tonne
ET 2002 MBS —T——F-RF—H  M833BFEIT AMEH
us$ Copper 200 metric tonnes 1 February 2011 Sell at US$8,380/metric tonne
xET 200 AWE$f —T——%ZRF—H  R8380%kT/ AMEH
us$ Copper 200 metric tonnes 1 February 2011 Sell at US$8,365/metric tonne
X7 200 AWE4f —T——FZRA—H  1M8365%kT AMEL
us$ Copper 1,000 metric tonnes 1 February 2011 Sell at US$8,420/metric tonne
ET 1,000 AW 5 —T——F-R—H #8420k AMEH
us$ Copper 1,000 metric tonnes 1 March 2011 Sell at US$8,900/metric tonne
xE7T 1,000 ANE SR —T——%=F—H  R8900%T,/ AME
uss$ Copper 1,000 metric tonnes 1 April 2011 Sell at US$8,800/metric tonne
xE7T 1,000 A —T——FMmA—H 18800k, AME L
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33.

34.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 33.

(continued)

Other derivatives (not under hedge accounting)
(continued)

The above derivatives are measured at fair value at by
reference to valuation provided by counterparty financial
institutions for these instruments which are determined
in accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis and forward
pricing models using prices or rates from observable
current market transactions and dealer quotes for similar
instruments.

All of the Group’s forward contracts were expired during
the current year and at 31 December 2011, the Group
has no outstanding forward contract.

BB ERAR YRE

For the year ended 31 December 2011 #ZE - F——%F+ - H=+—HI - F/Z

TTETMIAm

HifTHETHA

(I AP EEHETIRR) (2)
FRTTETANKR2EEBR S ¢ rk
BREAREEEXIZINARESREDT
MEHEREXEREREMISER ZERAN
BHEERIAE  UMBUTENRSHE
WMEMETNGEE  BAFETE -

AEEE PR ORATEER 0
T——Et- =10 - AEELEH
REZRIAK) -

BANK BORROWINGS 34. RITEE
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Unsecured: S
Bank loans RITER 4,101,140 3,322,109
Trust receipt loans EFEUURE R 43,293 194,791
4,144,433 3,516,900
Carrying amount repayable: AR TN IEE(EE 2 BREE ¢
Within one year —FR 665,261 2,147,486
More than one year, but not —F A BT BBRE
exceeding two years 812,506 269,148
More than two years but not more M LA HET BB =4
than three years 833,333 433,601
More than three years but not more =4 LA _H{B BN E
than four years 1,833,333 444 444
More than four years but not more PO LA HEB BB A E
than five years - 222,221
3,479,172 1,369,414
Total A&t 4,144,433 3,516,900
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34. BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 34. WMITEE®
Most of bank borrowings at 31 December 2011 are RZE——F+_A=+—H ' KZEHIR
variable-rate borrowings which carry interest ranging from TERERIEZEE  FHNENFEFBER
HIBOR + 0.54% to HIBOR + 1.8% (2010: HIBOR + 0.5% TRIZEFBEINOSAEEZE M BETE(ZF
to HIBOR + 2.0%) per annum. —ZTF  AARITAZFREMOSEEM
2.0F) °
The range of effective interest rates (which are also REBERTEEZ B (FERETLHF)
equal to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank KVBENTEFEROIEELLHE(—_T—
borrowings is 0.9% to 6.56% (2010: 1% to 3.8%) per T F AEESSE)TE -
annum.
2011 2010
—B——%F —E-TF
Amount Amount
-} Gk
’000 ’000
¥ T
United States dollars ETT 5,550 17,295
Hong Kong dollars BT 3,669,414 3,323,241
35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. B
THE COMPANY ¥ NG|
Authorised Issued and fully paid
EE ERTRAZ
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
BEE Xl BRHEE ot
’000 HK$'000 000 HK$’000
T FAT T FHT
Ordinary shares of FREEC.10E T
HK$0.10 each: ZEEAR
At 1 January 2010, 31 R-_ZT—ZFE—FH
December 2010 and 31 —B .=
December 2011 +—A=+—HEF
—T—%t+=A
=+ —H 20,000,000 2,000,000 3,000,000 300,000
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36.

37.

158

SPECIAL RESERVE

Special reserve of the Group represents (i) the difference
between the net asset value of the acquired subsidiaries
and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued
for the acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation
in 2006 and (i) the reduction in the registered capital of a
wholly-owned subsidiary established in the PRC.

SHARE OPTIONS

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders of the Company and
the shareholders of KCHL on 18 May 2007 and 25 June
2007, respectively. The Scheme has taken effect after
obtaining the approval from the Listing Committee of the
Stock Exchange on 6 July 2007.

The Scheme would be valid for a period of ten years. The
Board may, at its discretion, grant options to subscribe
for shares in the Company to eligible participants who
contribute to the long-term growth and profitability of
the Company and include (i) any employee or proposed
employee (whether full-time or part-time and including any
executive director), consultants or advisers of or to the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested
Entity”) in which the Group holds an equity interest;
(i) any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors), any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier of goods or services to
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any
customer of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any
person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any
Invested Entity; and (vi) any shareholder of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity.

Annual Report 2011 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
T —FFH BEEERERERAR

) et

36.

37.

Y

AR R MR

15 Bl 1t
AEEZHRIEERIVRKEHBRRZE
EFERER-TTAFETEEEMENA
KBTI 2 AR RRNEERE 2R
28 R() RN ERIOZE B A
AR A -

BrRBRE
ARTREREECIZRESFIRN =
TELFRATNAR-EELFAA
= AR A A T2 B S AR A
(TZst8) - ZABR-_FELELAN
AREHIFMETREBRIER  REE
%5( °

ZETEAMMATF - EFEANERA
BERSEATREATRBARBRMN ZE
EEEE - S ERSEALTRYARAR
BRERBNAEERMZAL  BEOAR
A EEAME QRS EMAEERSAR
E2ER([HREER ) ZEMES i
EREE(TREBERE - BeFEEaHn
TESE)  ARERZER ¢ ()EAERT
EX(BREBUFNTESR) ARFHEM
M@ ARSI E B - (i)E R4
SEEAKE RRA AR E B RREH
B RE 2 R ¢ (VARESTRRE
BREBBTAEF  (VEMRAKER
ERRREERREHRTE  REXEMK
MR AL HER + R(vi)REB AL
B AR SEMBIRE B Z EMBRREA
SEERKE R R HEIPIRE B REATE
TERESZHEA -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #&
For the year ended 31 December 2011 # & - F——%F+ - H=+—HI-F/Z

37.

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

The subscription price of the Company’s share in respect
of any option granted under the Scheme must be at
least the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of
the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price
of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
option; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of the
Company.

The option may be accepted by a participant within
28 days from the date of the offer for the grant of the
option upon the payment of a consideration of HK$1.
An option may be exercised at any time during a period
to be determined and notified by the Directors to each
grantee, and in the absence of such determination, from
the date upon which the offer for the grant of the option
is accepted but shall end in any event not later than 10
years from the date of grant of the option subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof. The Directors
may, at their absolute discretion, fix any minimum period
for which an option must be held, any performance
targets that must be achieved and any other conditions
that must be fulfilled before the options can be exercised
upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The total number of shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Scheme (excluding, for this purpose, options
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme) is
300,000,000 shares being 10% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval
of the Scheme.

)

\
S B R
37. ELEREE)

ERMREZ IR 2@ BRAEMS &
ARBN 2 RBELATEER AT R
BER (AR BRMIEELBERER DR
HBBERLEER) ZMXMERBRERM
HKHE - (AR RBRONRERELBER
RO ARSI AESER 2B e H R
ERABKTEZFIE k(i) N2 FR
2 mEfE °

EATTNEREREBEBREZR
HE28RA BB REVETTEAES
BRE - BLEREIREFTET AN
EEBRAZEEARERTTE  MEBTE
FAHIRE - R B SR AR L R A
Z BR% - WMERIER T NERMESLR
R BMES THFEZAR/L - HEEAR
ZET B ZIRFRILGEXFAR - EE 2%
BEM2EA LI ETEMRLEZEBLE
IRiER L/EREE 2 RAGHIR - (EATE
Pz RE B R R AR E MR TR 2 IR -

RIEZAT SR T 2 A B Se R (Rt it
ETBRERBZIE BRI B Rz BE
BERR A ) AT A T T2 AR AR 42
£§/3300,000,000/% /% 17 + BIZR R &R &
ZETEE AR BITIRIDEEZ10% °
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37.

BB ERAR YRE

SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 37. BERBERE®
The maximum number of shares of the Company which TR IE 5% 5T 8 o AN N BT {a] H A 48 4 B8 A e
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options HEFEREMEARTEREFITEZE
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and SCEBIR AT RS A] TR IT 2 AR A B
any other share option scheme of the Company must not HE  RETEHRBRQRTE BT
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company A& AN30% o
from time to time.
The total number of shares of the Company issued and to PER+—E A EE RIS 2EALTRE 2
be issued upon exercise of the options granted (including EARERE(BREEITERRTEZELE
both exercised and outstanding options) to each fei ) BT EmME BT RE TEITZARA
participant in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% Rpsag - TEBAARAARERFEEITR
of the share capital of the Company then in issue unless KZ1% * BRIFEARR MEE T ZRE
approved by the shareholders of the Company and KCHL AIRE A S HE A RIVERI ©
in general meetings.
Balance at Exercise
Balance at Cancelled/ 31 December price  Exercisable
Date of grant 1 January 2011 Granted Exercised lapsed 201 per share period
R-%--F
R-%--£-A-8 +=A=1-A
RiAS 2Bt BRI BT BEE/&H 268 BRIEE &8
21 March 2011 - 100,000,000 - - 100,000,000 HKS6.54 21 March 2011
ZE——£=f-1-H BT t017May2017
(note)
-k
=A-t+-H
ECE4F
TAT+H
(Rt
Exercisable at the end of the year
RERTF11E 25,000,000
Note:  The share options under the Scheme were granted on 21 March MizE: RETEETELABREN-ZT——F=A

2011 at an exercise price of HK$6.54 per share. 25% of the
total share options are vested immediately at the date of grant.
The remaining 75% will be splited evenly into three lots and will
be vested on 21 March 2012, 2013 and 2014 respectively. The
closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the
date of grant was HK$6.3.
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37.

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the share
options were granted on 21 March 2011 and the estimate
fair values of the share options were approximately
HK$114,945,000.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number
of shares available for issue under the Scheme is
100,000,000 shares, representing approximately 3.33%
of the issued share capital.

The fair values of the options granted are calculated using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The inputs into
the model were as follows:

)

\
Sy S B R
37. BELBEREE)

BE-Z—H+-_A=+—HILEFE "
EBEBRER T ——F=A=+—8%
i ZEELBERENGETATENE
114,945,000/ 7T °

HEAFHRAY  BEBREAZITAT
EITHI AL 19 #8202 100,000,0004% » FHE %
BETTIA493.33% °

EREELBERENFEREM DR -
MHTARE E ERENGE - ZEANHE A
B

2011

—E2——F

Weighted average share price on A B B2 T RE HK$6.46
the date of grant 6.4678 7T
Exercise price (B HK$6.54
6.5478 T

Expected volatility TEHERR 1R 34.42%
34.42%

Expected life TEHAFHA 4.1 to 5.1 years
41E515F

Risk-free rate MR AR

Expected divided yield TEEAR B &

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous
one year. The expected life used in the model has been
adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the
effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioral considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of approximately
HK$69,052,000 (2010: nil) for the year ended 31
December 2011 in relation to share options granted by
the Company.

The Black-Scholes option pricing model has been used
to estimate the fair value of the option. The variables and
assumptions used in computing the fair value of the share
options are based on the Directors’ best estimate. The
value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions.

1.49% - 1.81%
1.49E £1.81E
5.66% —6.18%
5.66/Z £6.18Z

BEHRREARBEFRENBERIRE
E o R FTAERFRREREH A
HEE  TERVIMIAEERRNTE
R B IEMEHEH T

BE-_Z—F+-_A=+—801FE -
ANE B AR B A8 TR A R 5
¥ 42%869,052,0008 L ( ZE—FF ) -

1605 — & BT M R AR U DA 2
IR TE - ST EBEWREATE
P P 0 S 0 R 35T B R
o B R BEEERTET EMBRL
TRSHME -
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38. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES 38. WEEHIE A T]

(a) On 27 March 2010, the Group acquired 100% (@) RZE—ZTF=A=++tH F&
equity interest in a company which principally to Em—ZEREBENEEGE 2 E T
be engaged in the property development business EZTRE—RETEREYEERE
from an independent third party not related to the EBATHNEHRE  BeRER
Group for a cash consideration of approximately 4985,800,000/8 7T - RIKIEE B -
HK$85,800,000. At the date of acquisition, WU EE S s U B R B — 3+ i
the acquiree had no other activity other than a VEFERAN - WimEES) o St IE
prepayment made for an acquisition of a piece U BE LA BE & E T R TS B 67
of land in the PRC, therefore the acquisition had B o ITBURBEI A AR -
been accounted for as acquisition of asset rather
than business combination. No goodwill arised as
a result of the acquisition.

The net asset acquired at the date of acquisition RIWEER  BAZEEZEWN
was as follows: T
HK$’000
FET
Net asset acquired: BABEFE -
Prepayments for acquisition of Ui + b 5P AR R 2 TR RIR
land use rights 85,800
Total consideration satisfied by cash LIRSz R (E 85,800
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: U BgEE A 2 B & HFEE (85,800)

Subsequent to the acquisition, the Group
had further paid an amount of approximately
HK$159,185,000 for acquisition of the land
use rights and classified as property held for
development in the statement of financial position
at 31 December 2010, and no other activity
was carried out by the subsidiary for the period
between the date of acquisition and 31 December
2010.
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38. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES 38. WEBHEBATZ)

(continued)

(b) On 10 June 2010, the Group acquired 100% (o) MRZE—ZTFXA+H  KEEMA
equity interest in a company principally engaged in —ZEAREBTERMBEZEIE
manufacture of raw materials from an independent =TRE-HEIERERERY
third party not related to the Group at a cash ZATZEEEE ReRER
consideration of HK$10,526,000. At the date of 10,526,000 7T - RIEEE B -
acquisition, the acquiree had ceased its operations WRESEEEEEREERFFMN
and primarily held a piece of land in the PRC which Rz i Z T EEER
was intended for redevelopment, therefore the ® o BULIBEE A EE M T2
acquisition had been accounted for as acquisition HIRAGFIEE o W IBINEEN A A
of asset rather than business combination. No HE
goodwill arised as a result of the acquisition.

The fair value of the net assets acquired at the RREEE  BAZBEEFEZA
date of acquisition were as follows: FEWMT
HK$’ 000
FET
Net assets acquired: BABEFE -
Properties, plant and equipment W - BB R 249
Prepaid lease payments TEfSIEERIE 5,943
Other receivables HAbfEUER R 4,252
Bank balances and cash RITRABREIRE® 82
Total consideration BR(E 10,526
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: W E A 2 B & HFEE
Cash consideration paid BERERE (10,526)
Bank balances and cash acquired BARITHESB LA S 82
(10,444)
The subsidiary had no revenue and incurred loss B ATRIERHREEE—
of approximately HK$3,000 to the Group’s profit T—FTFE+-A=+—HItFEIL

BB ERAR Y RE

for the year for the period between the date of
acquisition and 31 December 2010.

R ERA - WARNEERFEE
B35 I 4 893,000 7T 2 E5 18 ©
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39.

40.

164

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 39. EREE
2011 2010
—E——F —E—FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Capital expenditure contracted EETAMB R R G B3R
for but not provided in the {EH B 2 BARY -
consolidated financial statements
for:
— acquisition of properties, plant —BEWE - BEREE
and equipment 87,399 492,540
— capital injection in an unlisted —FAF EIRAKRE
equity investment 12,458 18,917
Capital expenditure in respect of EREERITHREEY
acquisition of property, plant and BEME B ERFAE
equipment authorised but not
contract for 2,319 -
OPERATING LEASES 40. KEMHED
2011 2010
—E——F —E—TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
The Group as lessee: REBEREMEA
Minimum lease payments charged — ERRES IR NBR
to the consolidated income 2 RIRMAR
statement during the year 3,270 2,795

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by
the Group for certain of its office properties and all lease

payments are fixed and predetermined.

ENERETE -
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40. OPERATING LEASES (continued) 40.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s future

lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases

are payable as follows:

REHEN 2

RBEHHEERE R - AEEREBETAH
2 BN BRI 2 AN AR
THIERR AT

2011 2010
—E——F —E—FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Within one year —FR 986 776
After one year but not later than —FRERAEFRN
five years 2,005 1,865
After five years HF#E 17,298 17,262
20,289 19,903
The Group as lessor/licensor: REBEALTEABEA
2011 2010
—B2——F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Rental income credited to the FRNFFALZA R
consolidated income statement ZHES WA
during the year 17,036 13,192
Licence fee income credited to the  FREFALZEWZTRZ
consolidated income statement REEAEBERA
during the year 40,000 -
57,036 13,192
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40.

166

OPERATING LEASES (continued)

The Group’s investment properties are rented to
outside parties for periods up to seven years at fixed
predetermined amounts.

40.

BB ER AR FYRE

For the year ended 31 December 2011 # & - F——%#+ - H=+—HI-F/Z

RERN @
RAEEZ REMEYRBETET 2 CAE
SMFIAAL  BRKRALEF -

2011 2010

—B——-F —ETF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FH&T

Within one year —F R 102,789 10,179
After one year but not later than —FHRERAFA

five years 18,926 12,792

After five years AFi& = 265

121,715 23,236

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contracted with tenants to receive the following future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases.

Included in the amount within one year was the future
minimum licence fee payment of HK$90,000,000 arising
on the licence agreement. The Group licences its licenced
assets and committed the Licencee for the licence
agreement as followings:

o Within the first twelve months of the licence,
either the Group or the Licencee may terminate
the licence agreement at its sole discretion, by
serving on the other party not less than one month
prior notice in writing and paying the other party
HK$1,000,000 or such other amount as may be
mutually agreed in writing between both parties.

° After the first twelve months of the licence, the
Group may terminate the licence agreement at
its sole discretion, by serving on the Licencee not
less than one month prior notice in writing.
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41.

42.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group
sold certain of its properties, plant and equipment of
carrying amount of HK$6,951,000 (2011: nil) to its fellow
subsidiaries. The amounts were settled through current
accounts with the fellow subsidiaries.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group
acquired additional equity interest in a private entity in the
PRC (which is included in available-for-sale investments
as disclosed in note 21) for a total consideration of
HK$16,200,000 (2011: nil). The amount was settled
through current account with this entity.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group and
KBCF have been named as defendants in the Supreme
Court of Bermuda in respect of an allegation of the affairs
of KBCF have been and or are being conducted in a
manner which is oppressive or unfairly prejudicial to the
minority interests of KBCF. The petitioner is seeking an
order to the Group to purchase all of the KBCF’s shares
held by petitioner at the price to be fixed by a valuer or
Supreme Court of Bermuda. As at 31 December 2011,
the Supreme Court of Bermuda has not strike out the
claims and the lawyer has advised the Group and KBCF
to wait for an amended petition before taking actions to
contest the allegation. Management and the Group’s
lawyer are of the view that there is no evidential basis for
these claims which in their view is speculative in nature
and is at a very early stage. Accordingly, no provision for
liability has been made in connection with this claim.
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43.

(\«

L o \\"""‘

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group participates in both a defined contribution
scheme which was registered under the Occupational
Retirement Scheme Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”)
and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme which was
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Ordinance in December 2000 (the “MPF Scheme”). The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of
the Group and are invested in funds under the control of
independent trustees. Employees who were members of
the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF
Scheme are members of both the ORSO Scheme and
the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees joining the
Group on or after December 2000 are required to join the
MPF Scheme.

Employees of subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the
state-sponsored pension schemes operated by the PRC
government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll to the pension schemes
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the pension schemes is to make the required
contributions.

Payments to the ORSO Scheme, the MPF Scheme and
the state-sponsored pension schemes of approximately
HK$17,359,000 (2010: HK$12,930,000) had been
charged to profit or loss.
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 4. BEALIXRS
The Group entered into the following significant AEBEHBBEBATEFAETZEARS
transactions with related parties during the year: mr
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHET

(i) Sales of goods and drilling services () MmRRWEBRQR

provided to fellow subsidiaries HEEm &R
AR 2,026,694 2,591,093
(ii) Purchase of goods from fellow iy MRRWEAR
subsidiaries RKESR 728,941 504,457
(iii) Rental expenses paid to fellow (i) 1R BB A A
subsidiaries ERNEEEA b - 4,050
(iv) Sales of laminates and copper to (iv) RE ALK
a shareholder and its subsidiaries NElZRERE
of and with significant influence )ESYNSIE I
over ultimate holding company ERATAER
BT IHEEN
R &% 5 838,256 170,242

(v) Purchase of drill bits and machineries  (v)  [A1& ARELIER AR

from a shareholder and its IR RENBA

subsidiaries of and with significant AR/ A

influence over ultimate holding AIEEAFEN)

company PRASHENE o i 22 170,792 20,557
In 2010, other than above, the Group also disposed ZE-TF BREAZZI - AEETA
of certain properties, plant and equipment to its fellow H[F R A 7 H SRR EE6,951,00078 7T
subsidiaries with carrying value of HK$6,951,000 (2011: (ZE——FRE)2GTHME - BERK
nil) at a consideration of HK$6,951,000 (2011: nil). % - R1E/56,951,0008 L( = ——F8

) -
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44.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Included in trade and other receivables and prepayments
at 31 December 2011 were amounts due from a
shareholder and its subsidiaries of ultimate holding
company of approximately HK$250,473,000 (2010:
HK$19,008,000) which was in trade nature. The Group
allowed credit periods of up to 120 days, depending on
the product sold to its related parties.

Included in trade and other payables at 31 December
2011 were amounts due to a shareholder and its
subsidiaries of ultimate holding company of approximately
HK$51,452,000 (2010: HK$27,930,000) which was in
trade nature. The related party offers credit periods of up
to 120 days to the Group.

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of the Directors and other members of
key management during the year is as follows:

44.

BB ERAR YRE

BEALXRZ @)

WZZE——F+=_A=+—H BHRHE
MERERRBEMNFEREBNE ZIEE
2K —EREERARBREREKB R
A IA#)250,473,0008 T (ZF—FT4F ¢
19,008,000/ 7T) © A= E MEdE A T
ZIEEHRREA1208  BTREEZER

g °

R_E——F+-_A=+—H0 EHKkH
MEMERBEBRE SIS 2 B —H
BEERARRENE AT RERIAL
51,452,000/ T( —Z & —Z4F : 27,930,000
BIT) c BRAEATRASEEE L ZEEH
&EA1208 -

FEEBAEME
FR EEREMETEZERABZHS W
™

2011 2010

—E——F —T—TF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHET FAET

Short-term benefits HEEF 81,285 86,100
Post-employment benefits BINERF 731 676
Share-based payments LARD 3R 44,191 -
126,207 86,776

The remuneration of the Directors and key executives
is determined with reference to the performance of
individuals and market trends.
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45.

46.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period on 9 March
2012, the Group made an offer to third party to acquire
the interest in a company engaged in the holding and
development of properties in Hong Kong. The Group had
at the same time entered into a confidentiality agreement
with the vendor with obligation against disclosure of the
particular of this acquisition. The Group had been notified
by the vendor on 19 March 2012 that the Group’s offer in
relation to the proposed acquisition was not accepted.

Transaction details are disclosed in the joint voluntary
announcement dated 19 March 2012.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE
COMPANY

The financial information of the Company as at 31
December 2011 and 31 December 2010 is as follows:

45, WEHEEEH
TEREWRERE - R —F=AN
B AEERE=HEHRE—REES
REBEREREME Y RAIZHER - A&
W F R ST R R RAIRES
HYENER - —E——F=A+hB
EFSMAEE  HTEANEERZE
BUIEY B -
XSHENARA-E——F=/+NA
KB A AT

46. AERTFZHMBEER

ARARRZE——FF+ZA=+—RHAK=
E-TF+ A=+ BZPBERNT ¢

2011 2010
—B——F —TFF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Total assets BEBE
Investment in a subsidiary RHTBARZIRE 5,711,740 5,711,740
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUHI B A TR IA 9,252,172 8,006,875
Other receivables and HoAh R BR A N FBAS 5B
prepayments 18,003 27,103
Bank balances and cash IRITEHBR LIRS 205,664 28,123
15,187,579 13,773,841
Total liabilities BfE4es
Other payables HAbFERBRK 58,526 77,126
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERM B AR FRIE 3,647,257 3,394,189
Bank borrowings RITIEE 3,455,555 2,823,077
Derivative financial instruments PTHEeRT A = 8,067
7,161,338 6,302,459
Net assets BEFE 8,026,241 7,471,382
Capital and reserves IR R G
Share capital % 300,000 300,000
Reserves (note) et (P EE) 7,726,241 7,171,382
Total equity S4B ER 8,026,241 7,471,382
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46.

172

FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 46.

AKNTRZHBER &)

COMPANY (continued)
Note: PsE -
Share
Share options Hedging Special Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
BEE
R EE RHERE Fapat= 1] RBIRE REHEH s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TET FET FET TET
(note 36()
(FfiF36())
At 1 January 2010 R=E-Z5—-A—H 1,097,104 - (24,795) 5,427,130 643,998 7,143,437
Loss on cash flow hedging BenerTAEE
instruments - - (5,570) - - (5,570)
Transferred to profit or loss on RREMELIMEBRZER
cash flow hedges - - 22,298 - - 22,298
Profit for the year REFHR - - - - 1,031,217 1,031,217
Total comprehensive income AEERHNELRE
for the year - - 16,728 - 1,031,217 1,047,945
Final dividend paid for the year BENEE-ZTAET=A
ended 31 December 2009 =t-RAIEFEZRERE - - - - (540,000) (540,000)
Interim dividend paid for the BNEE-Z-ZF+=R
year ended 31 December 2010  =+—HItFEZHERE - . - . (480,000) (480,000)
- - - - (1,020,000)  (1,020,000)
At 31 December 2010 RZZ-ZF+=A=+—H 1,097,104 - (8,067) 5,427,130 656,215 7,171,382
Gain on cash flow hedging RenShTAKE
instruments - - 8,067 - - 8,067
Profit for the year REZHEH - - - - 1,317,740 1,317,740
Total comprehensive income AEERAKGRE
for the year - - 8,067 - 1,317,740 1,325,807
Recognition of equity-settled R AR
share-based payments - 69,052 - - - 69,052
Final dividend paid for the year BREZ-Z-TF1+=A
ended 31 December 2010 SH—BIFEZRERE - - - - (540,000  (540,000)
Interim dividend paid for the year ENEZE-Z——4%+=A
ended 31 December 2011 =t-AEFEZRHRE - - - - (300,000) (300,000)
- 69,052 - - (840,000) (770,948)
At 31 December 2011 R-Z——%+-A=+—H 1,097,104 69,052 - 5,427,130 1,132,955 7,726,241
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47.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 47.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2010 and 2011 are as follows:

RRABREENBAT ZFE

B ARBEEMBRRZFBENT

Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully Proportion of the
registration and paid share capital/  ownership interest held
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital by the Group Principal activities
AL/ BERTRAR r&ERR
WEAR AR BRREEnY Bx/ZRER BRERRLA TEER
2011 2010
—2--§ —T-TF%
% %
Excel First Investments Limited British Virgin Islands? ~ US$1 100 100 Investment holding
EEREERAR B apeid ol 1ET REEK
KBCF Bermuda# US$72,250,000 64.57 64.57  Investment holding
BRE 72,250,000% T REEK
Kingboard (Fogang) Insulated PRC! US$7,615,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Material Company Limited AR 7,615,000%7C distribution of bleached
BB REMEERAR kraft paper
BER D HREARA
Kingboard (Fogang) Laminates PRC! US$29,466,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Co. Limited AR 29,466,000% 7T distribution of laminates
BEGEEBRERAR HERD HERER
Kingboard (Fogang) Paper PRC! US$17,936,546 100 100 Manufacture and
Laminates Co. Ltd. eif 17,936,546 7T distribution of laminates
BRI ERARERA R ER D HERWER
Kingboard Electronic Raw Material - PRC' US$30,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
(Jiang Yin) Co., Ltd. R 30,000,000% 7T distribution of laminates

REETHHIRBRAR

BER D HERAER
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47.

174

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 47.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

APRFEMB LRI ZFEE 2

(continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully Proportion of the
registration and paid share capital/  ownership interest held
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital by the Group Principal activities
Rt ERTRAR KEEBfiRE
WEARER BEREEHH Bx/ERER EERERELA TEEH
2011 2010
“E—-§ C—T-%ZF%
% %
Kingboard Laminates (Jiangmen) ~ PRC! HK$242,800,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Co., Ltd. R 242,800,000/ T distribution of laminates
IFRERERERAT HER A RERER
Kingboard (Jiangsu) Chemical PRC US$28,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Co., Ltd. el 28,000,000%7T distribution of chemicals
BEIHCIERAA HERD BRI IER
Kingboard Laminates (Kunshan) ~ PRC! US$32,010,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Co., Ltd. AR 32,010,000 7T distribution of laminates
BEREREIL)BRAR HER S HEAER
Kingboard (Lian Zhou) Fibre Glass ~ PRC? US$13,700,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Co. Limited AR 13,700,000 T distribution of glass
BEREMNEBEEER A fabric
HER D REEET
Kingboard (Panyu Nansha) PRC! RMB250,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Petrochemical Company Limited 1! AR #250,000,0007T distribution of chemicals
BEEEEMAIERLR WERA B TER
# These are investment holding companies which have no specific # IEARTREZEBRAR  UBSEEREE

principal place of operations.

1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of

Wholly Foreign-owned Enterprises.

f
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47.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the year.

47.

APRFEMB LRI ZFEE 2

ERIAEERRIBREAEEES
REEZARRMBAR - EERRIIL
HitB AR ZFHBERRITE °

BB ARNFERBEFTEAERZE
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Financial Summary

LUpiE 2

RESULTS E4
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—-HLEE
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
“ETHF ZZT)N\F —TTNEFE —T-TF ZE——§
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$°000
FET FHEIT FET FET T
Revenue S 10,426,783 10,127,764 9,070,983 13,055,205 13,204,979
Profit before taxation BRI AT 2054,835 1,321,136 1,793,940 2,636,467 1,534,488
Income tax expense FTSHiR X (129,226) (70,466)  (128,117)  (269,783)  (176,650)
Profit for the year REZGF 1,925609 1,250,670 1,665,823 2,366,684 1,357,838
Attributable to: JEE1hEE
Owners of the Company PA/NSIESYSUN 1,813,269 1,203,804 1,648,031 2,280,380 1,324,958
Non-controliing interests FEmR 112,340 46,866 17,792 86,304 32,880
1,925,609 1,250,670 1,665,823 2,366,684 1,357,838
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERES
At 31 December
R+=B=+—8H
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
“ETHF —ZTT)N\F —TTNEFE —T-TF ZBE——§
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHT FET FAT T
Total assets BEHE 12,531,209 12,804,358 13,699,718 16,439,825 18,061,463
Total liabilities BERER (4,936,803) (4,646,213) (4,487,190) (5,586,438) (6,270,811)
Net assets BEFE 7,594,406 8,158,145  9212,528 10,853,387 11,790,652
Equity attributable to owners "N ARIEAE A
of the Company e R 6,739,745 7,268,942 8,327,709 9,869,990 10,744,986
Non-controlling interests iR 854,661 889,203 884,819 983,397 1,045,666
Total equity BARYEEE 7,594,406 8,158,145 9,212,528 10,853,387 11,790,652
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